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PURPOSE OF THE PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION DOCUMENT 

 
 The developing member country (DMC) is wholly responsible for implementing the program 

supported by results-based lending (RBL). The Asian Development Bank (ADB) staff support the RBL 
program design and implementation.  

 
The program implementation document (PID) consolidates the essential program implementation 
information. It is a management tool that supports effective program implementation, monitoring, and 
reporting. It is developed throughout the program processing and should be discussed with the DMC 
at Loan Negotiations. It is a living document that should be refined and kept up-to-date during program 
implementation.  

 



 
 

 
 

ABBREVIATIONS 
 

ADB = Asian Development Bank 
APFS = audited program financial statements 
AWP&B = annual work plan and budget 
C&AG = Comptroller and Auditor General of India 
COVID-19 = coronavirus disease 
CPD  continuous professional development 
DLI = disbursement-linked indicator 
DOSE&L = Department of School Education and Literacy 
EMP = environmental management plan 
FY = fiscal year 
GeM = Government e-Marketplace 
GFR = General Financial Rules 
ICT = information and communication technology 
LEP = learning enhancement program 
M&E = monitoring and evaluation 
MIS = management information system 
MOE = Ministry of Education 
PAP = program action plan 
PFMS = public financial management system 
PSSA = program safeguard system assessment 
QPR = quarterly progress reports 
RBL = results-based lending 
SIS = State Implementing Society 
STEAM = science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics 
TA = technical assistance 
   



 
 

 
 

 

I. PROGRAM DESCRIPTION 
 
1. The Government of India launched a new flagship program in 2018, Samagra Shiksha, to 
provide holistic, integrated support for the state education from preschool to senior secondary 
levels with a unified implementation structure. While India has achieved significant progress in 
school enrollment, learning outcomes have been consistently low at all levels of schooling. 
Samagra Shiksha shifts the focus to ensuring the quality of education, particularly inclusive and 
equitable learning outcomes. School closures during the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) 
pandemic have resulted in a significant learning loss for primary students—loss in forgetting what 
was learned earlier and not learning new things—which exacerbate the already weak foundational 
skills. 1 The learning loss is likely to be greater for students in government schools than in private 
schools, as government schools are less equipped with digital infrastructure and their students 
are more likely to be from lower socioeconomic status.2 The Accelerating State Education 
Program to Improve Results (results-based lending [RBL] program) will assist the government in 
implementing Samagra Shiksha to improve education outcomes, particularly foundational 
learning at the primary level and reduced dropout rates at the secondary level, in five selected 
states.  
 
2. The RBL program will assist the states of Assam, Gujarat, Jharkhand, Tamil Nadu, and 
Uttarakhand. The five states were selected according to the Ministry of Education (MOE)’s 
Performance Grading Index 2017–2018, by considering a mix of states from different levels, 
population sizes, and geographic dispersion. Aligned with the National Education Policy (NEP) 
2020 and the MOE’s new exemplar school initiative, the program will help the states (i) transform 
a set of government schools into exemplar schools with essential learning resources; (ii) scale up 
effective student-centered interventions to boost learning; and (iii) strengthen the core elements 
of state education for overall system improvements. The program also aims to mitigate the impact 
from the COVID-19 pandemic on students’ learning and mainstream digital learning-teaching 
capabilities across schools. The RBL program is expected to directly benefit approximately 5 
million students, 500,000 teachers, and 15,800 schools across the five states. 

 
3. The program boundary and scope in comparison to Samagra Shiksha is summarized in 
Table 1.  
 

Table 1: Program Scope 
Item Broader Government Program Results-Based Lending Program 
Outcome Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education 

from preschool to senior secondary stage 
Education outcomes in primary and 
secondary schools improved in the five 
participating states 

Key outputs (i) Universal access to quality early childhood 
care and education; 

(ii) ensure universal access, equity, and 
inclusion at all levels of school education; 

(iii) improve access to quality government 
schools through efficient resourcing and 
through school complexes or clusters; 

(i) Quality government schools 
increased with equitable access; 

(ii) quality and relevance of learning 
improved; 

(iii) capacity of teachers and school 
leaders enhanced; 

(iv) management of school education 
system strengthened; and 

 
 
1 Findings from a recent survey show that about 45%–65% of primary students lost language abilities (e.g., reading, 

writing, comprehension) and 25%–45% lost math abilities (e.g., identifying numbers, subtraction, basic math for 
problem-solving). Azim Premji University. 2021. Loss of Learning during the Pandemic. Bengaluru, Karnataka. 

2 E. Vegas, A. Ganimian, and B. Fowler. 2021. Use of Education Technology during the COVID-19 School Closures 
in India: The Case of Chennai, Tamil Nadu. Washington, DC: Brookings Institute. 
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Item Broader Government Program Results-Based Lending Program 
(iv) attain universal foundational literacy and 

numeracy in all primary schools; 
(v) provide quality education and enhance 

learning outcomes by improving curriculum 
design and strengthening assessments; 

(vi) strengthen professional development of 
teachers and school leaders; 

(vii) strengthen school governance and 
management;  

(viii) standard-setting and accreditation for school 
education; and 

(ix) support states in implementing the Right of 
Children to Free and Compulsory Education 
Act, 2009. 

(v) national guidelines on quality state 
education strengthened. 

Expenditure size $38.8 billion $1.89 billion 
Main financiers and 
their respective total 
amounts 

Government: $37.8 billion (central $24.2 billion 
and states $13.6 billion)  
ADB: $500.0 million  
World Bank: $500.0 million 

Government:1.39 billion 
(central $844.40 million and 
states $541.20 million) 
ADB: $500.00 million 

Geographic coverage Nationwide Five states: Assam, Gujarat, Jharkhand, 
Tamil Nadu, and Uttarakhand  

Implementation period  FY2023–FY2027 (5 years) FY2023–FY2027 (5 years) 
ADB = Asian Development Bank, FY = fiscal year. 
Sources: Ministry of Education and Asian Development Bank estimates. 

 
II. RESULTS AND DISBURSEMENT 

 
A. The Results-Based Lending Program’s Overall Results 
 
4. The RBL program’s impact will be high-quality education provided to all for India’s 
equitable and vibrant knowledge economy.3 The outcome will be education outcomes in primary 
and secondary schools improved in the five participating states. The outcome will be measured 
by improved proficiency in language and mathematics among grade 3 students (disbursement-
linked indicator [DLI] 1) and reduced dropout rate at secondary level (from grade 9 to 10) (DLI 2) 
across the program states.4 The program’s intermediate results (outputs) are important and 
necessary conditions to achieve the outcomes. Transformation of a set of government schools 
into exemplar schools with improved learning facilities and required teachers (output 1), 
implementation of learning interventions at primary and secondary levels (output 2), capacity 
building of teachers and principals (output 3), and rigorous monitoring of school performance 
(output 4) are all essential for enhancing the quality and relevance of teaching-learning at 
government schools, which would lead to the program’s outcomes. In addition, the MOE will 
provide national guidelines to ensure quality education at the state level (output 5). The program 
is expected to benefit about 5 million students, 500,000 teachers, and 15,800 schools across the 
five states. 
 
5. Output 1: Quality government schools with equitable access increased. This output 
will support transforming a set of government schools in each of the five states into exemplar 
schools (both primary and secondary) to deliver quality education, including to girls; those from 

 
 
3 Government of India, MOE. 2020. National Education Policy 2020. New Delhi. 
4 The design and monitoring framework is in Appendix 1. 

https://www.education.gov.in/sites/upload_files/mhrd/files/NEP_Final_English_0.pdf
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scheduled tribes, scheduled castes, and other backward classes; and children with special needs 
(DLI 3). Approximately 1,800 exemplar schools will be established in the five states; these schools 
will be spread geographically within each state to maximize equitable access, covering areas 
where socially disadvantaged groups are concentrated and including some girls-only residential 
schools.5 The schools will have upgraded learning facilities (e.g., science laboratories, libraries, 
and Building as Learning Aid components), sex-segregated sanitation facilities, digital 
infrastructure (e.g., smart classrooms, information and communication technology [ICT] 
laboratories, and tablets for students), and learning resources (e.g., books and digital content 
materials). The exemplar schools will be equipped with core subject teachers and their own 
principals or headmasters (DLI 4). All learning interventions (output 2) will be implemented in the 
exemplar schools to demonstrate innovative teaching and learning solutions, such as interactive 
and activity-based learning, or personalized adaptive learning practices. 
 
6. Output 2: Quality and relevance of learning improved. The output will support 
designing new (or refining existing) learning enhancement programs (LEPs),6 along with 
curricular materials and rigorous tracking of LEP results. It will also strengthen assessments—
both formative and summative—and the use of adaptive learning tools to promote the 
individualized-learning approach. For elementary grades (1–8), student-centered LEPs will be 
expanded to improve foundational literacy and numeracy (DLI 5). For secondary grades (9–12), 
LEPs will strengthen math and science proficiency through activity-based science, technology, 
engineering, arts, and mathematics (STEAM) learning (DLI 6), and introduce 21st century skills 
(e.g., critical thinking, communication, collaboration, and creativity) and vocational education to 
make education more relevant, and to nurture employable skills.7 All LEPs also aim to address 
the impact of learning loss due to COVID-19 and incorporate counseling and socio-emotional 
support for students. Given national priorities on foundational learning and 21st century skills, 
LEPs for these two areas will not only be implemented in exemplar schools but also scaled up to 
a larger set of village-level cluster schools in each state.8 The curation and dissemination of digital 
learning contents will be scaled up with local language translations for their mainstreamed use. 
All learning materials will incorporate gender- and socially inclusive contents, and aim to enhance 
climate and disaster literacy for students. 
 
7. Output 3: Capacity of teachers and school leaders enhanced. This output will 

 
 
5 The states will use the selection criteria for exemplar schools according to the MOE guidance on the new exemplar 

school initiative, which will encompass the following: (i) high enrollment schools; (ii) schools with existing basic 
infrastructure; (iii) girls-only schools, schools with significant tribal populations, and those in remote areas; (iv) 
integrated schools with grades 1–12 (or grades 1–10), or the potential to become an integrated school and an anchor 
for a cluster of small primary and secondary schools that can be absorbed or with which resources can be shared; 
and (v) schools located in an environmentally-safe zone away from climate and disaster risks. The number of 
exemplar schools will be around 200–500 in each state for a total of 1,800 across the five states; these schools will 
consist of some integrated primary and secondary schools, as well as separate primary or secondary schools. 

6 LEPs refer to various interactive, student-centered learning practices that have been adopted across the states, 
especially to boost foundational learning in elementary schools or to bridge the learning gap. The most common 
approach is activity-based learning that allows students to learn at their own pace, and often involves grouping 
students according to their learning level rather than by their grade. Various activity-based learning approaches have 
been tried in India since the 1990s, most notably in Karnataka and Tamil Nadu under the Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan. 

7 STEAM LEPs will incorporate learning materials on the impacts of climate and disaster risks to educate students on 
how to mitigate and adapt to climate change. It will also build the capacity of teachers on the subject. 

8 Each state is expected to select about 2,000–3,000 cluster schools under the RBL program for a total of about 14,000 
schools in the five states to ensure the widespread benefit of essential learning interventions. Cluster schools will 
represent about one school per cluster of villages (gram panchayat, an administrative unit at the village level) that is 
spread across each state. Key learning interventions, once implemented in cluster schools, will also be replicated in 
other village-level schools. 
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strengthen the capacity of teachers and principals by setting up systematic, continuous 
professional development (CPD) plans as stressed by the National Education Policy 2020. 
Statewide CPD plans will be built on a blended learning modality (both offline and online) to 
enhance teachers’ interactive and student-centered pedagogic skills, application of digital 
contents and effective delivery of LEPs, and gender- and socially inclusive education (DLI 7). The 
CPD promotes peer learning, including formation of mentor teachers. It will also support principals 
or headmasters in building their leadership and managerial capabilities to foster instructional 
leadership and improve school performance (DLI 7). In addition, the output will strengthen the 
institutional capacity of the state councils of educational research and training and district 
institutes of education and training, through organizational strengthening and staff training, to 
support effective teaching-learning with proper materials, assessments, and training content for 
teachers. The output will prioritize teachers and principals of both exemplar and cluster schools 
(hereafter program schools), while CPD plans and capacity building for state institutes will bring 
statewide benefits for school education. 
 
8. Output 4: Management of school education system strengthened. The output 
supports the program states to develop outcome-oriented planning and budgeting through the 
preparation of the state’s 5-year perspective plan and a detailed results framework for the RBL 
program. It also strengthens the states’ monitoring capacity by setting up an integrated 
management information system (MIS) that enables real-time, accurate data collection on 
students, schools, teachers, and staff for effective school management, all incorporating specific 
demographic information (e.g., gender and social category) (DLI 8). Some states have already 
incorporated students’ learning and assessment data (e.g., Tamil Nadu), some have an 
automated human resource management system (e.g., Gujarat), and others are in the process of 
developing similar advanced modules. The states will enhance the reliability and use of the MIS 
to monitor learning processes, strengthen accountability, and promote evidence-based planning. 
The output will also provide training to strengthen the capacity of district and block officers on 
classroom observations, monitoring of LEPs, mentoring of teachers and school management, and 
promotion of community engagement. Support activities under the output will bring statewide 
benefits for overall system strengthening.  
 
9. Output 5: National guidelines on quality state education strengthened. This output 
will support the MOE to establish national guidelines to ensure quality education at the state level 
(DLI 9). It will specifically support the development of national and state curricula frameworks for 
STEAM and vocational education, and updated standards for learning assessments by the new 
national assessment center, Performance Assessment, Review, and Analysis of Knowledge for 
Holistic Development, or PARAKH. This output will also help the MOE to promote cross-learning 
across the states on good practices and innovative solutions based on quality interventions being 
implemented under the RBL program. 
 
10. Program results framework. The program’s overall results areas are presented in the 
results framework (Table 2), which represent core elements of quality education to be pursued by 
program states, while allowing flexibility for each state to be innovative or scale up proven 
initiatives in the state. The program results framework reflects the aggregate, common results 
areas agreed among the five program states; each state has developed its own state-level results 
framework to facilitate the state-level annual planning for implementation activities.  
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Table 2: Results-Based Lending Program Results Framework 
(as of November 2021) 

Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

Outcome: Education outcomes in primary and secondary schools improved in the five participating states 
1. Improved proficiency in 
language and math 
among primary students 
(grade 3)  
 
 

Yes 
(DLI 1) 

 

No 
competency-
based learning 
results 
available for 
the program 
schools; 9 
baseline for 
the program 
schools to be 
established by 
2023 or 2024 
using NAS 
framework.10  
 
For NAS 
scheduled for 
November 
2021, 
statewide 
baseline to be 
established in 
five states.11   

 Statewide 
baselines 
established in 
five states for 
grade 3 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
language and 
math based on 
NAS in 
November 
2021.  

 (i) NAS 
baselines 
established 
for program 
schools in five 
states to track 
progress.   
 
(ii) Program 
schools show 
at least 2 
percentage 
points 
increase on 
average for 
grade 3 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
NAS 
language or 
math against 
statewide 
baselines in 
year 1.  

 Program 
schools show 
at least 4 
percentage 
points 
increase on 
average for 
grade 3 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
NAS language 
or math 
against 
statewide 
baselines in 
year 1; or 2 
percentage 
points 
increase 
against the 
baselines for 
program 
schools in year 
3. 

2. Reduced dropout rate 
at secondary level (from 
grade 9 to 10) 
 

Yes 
(DLI 2) 

Statewide 
dropout rates 
available only 
for grades 9–

 
 

State plans on 
prevention of 
post-COVID-
19 dropouts 

Post-COVID-
19 baseline 
for dropout 
rate 

  Dropout rates 
decreased at 
least by 5% 
over the post-

Dropout rates 
decreased at 
least by 8% 
over the post-

 
 
9 Program schools refer to both exemplar schools and cluster schools selected for the RBL program.  
10 The timing of baseline surveys will be determined according to the NAS schedule for grade 3, which may fall in 2023 or 2024. For year 5, if NAS schedules change 

and are not possible for DLI 1 achievement, NAS equivalent learning assessments will be considered with necessary modifications. 
11 As the list of program schools is not finalized as of November 2021, NAS scheduled for November 2021 will not be able to incorporate specific sampling methods 

for program schools.  
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

 
 

10 combined; 
the program-
specific grade 
9 to 10 dropout 
rate to be 
established 
across 
secondary 
exemplar 
schools upon 
school opening 
following 
COVID-19 
school closure. 

and specific 
incentive 
mechanisms 
for different 
gender and 
social groups 
approved. 
 

established 
for academic 
year 2022–
2023 in 
secondary 
exemplar 
schools 
across five 
states.12  

COVID-19 
baseline for 
dropout rates 
in secondary 
exemplar 
schools 
across five 
states. 
 

COVID-19 
baseline for 
dropout rates 
in secondary 
exemplar 
schools across 
five states. 

3. Improved competencies 
in language, science, and 
mathematics among 
secondary students 
(grade 10)  
 

No 
 

No 
competency-
based learning 
results 
available for 
program 
schools; 
baseline to be 
established for 
the program by 
2023 using the 
NAS 
framework.  

 Statewide 
baselines 
established in 
five states for 
grade 10 
students in 
language, 
science, and 
math using 
2021 NAS.  

 (i) NAS 
baselines 
established 
for grade 10 
students in 
program 
schools in five 
states to track 
progress.   
 
(ii) Program 
schools show 
at least 2 
percentage 
points 
increase on 
average for 
grade 10 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 

 Program 
schools show 
at least 4 
percentage 
points 
increase on 
average for 
grade 10 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
language, 
science, and 
math against 
the statewide 
baseline in 
year 1; or 2 
percentage 
points 
increase 
against the 

 
 
12 Post-COVID-19 baseline for dropout rate will be established for academic session 2022/23 (subject to the COVID-19 situation), for which the data will be available 

in 2022–2023. 
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

NAS 
language, 
science, and 
math against 
the statewide 
baselines in 
year 1.   

baseline for 
program 
schools in year 
3.   

Output 1: Quality government schools with equitable access increased    
4. Exemplar schools 
established with improved 
learning environments for 
quality education 
 
(cumulative targets over 
time) 

 
 
 

  

Yes  
(DLI 3) 

States planned 
to establish 
exemplar (or 
leader) 
schools, but 
these have not 
been 
operationalized 
with concrete 
concepts as of 
2020. 

The criteria 
for exemplar 
and cluster 
schools 
developed 
and the list of 
exemplar 
schools for 
the RBL 
program 
finalized 
(girls’ only 
schools are 
included in 
the list of 
exemplar 
schools in 
each state). 

At least 820 
exemplar 
schools 
complete gap 
assessments 
for school 
quality 
improvement 
plans across 
five states (or 
its equivalent 
per each state 
requirement), 
inclusive of 
sex-
segregated 
sanitation 
facilities and 
facilities for 
children with 
special needs.  

(i) At least 
1,400 
exemplar 
schools 
complete gap 
assessments 
for school 
quality 
improvement 
plans across 
five states. 
 
(ii) At least 
160 exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities (e.g., 
ICT labs, sex-
segregated 
sanitation 
facilities, and 
barrier-free 
accessibility). 

At least 500 
exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities 
across five 
states. 

At least 1,000 
exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities 
across five 
states.  

At least 1,400 
exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities 
across five 
states. 
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

5. Improved provision of 
secondary subject 
teachers for quality 
education  
  
(cumulative targets over 
time)   

Yes  
(DLI 4) 

The program 
states have 
about 5%–35% 
teacher 
vacancy 
against 
sanctioned 
posts; no 
school-specific 
subject teacher 
vacancy data 
available per 
state norms as 
of 2020.13  
  

Needs 
assessment 
for subject 
teachers in 
secondary 
exemplar 
schools 
undertaken 
per each 
state norm to 
develop 
subject 
teacher 
deployment 
plans.  

At least 110 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

At least 230 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

At least 420 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 
 

At least 635 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

At least 900 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

Output 2: Quality and relevance of learning improved 
6. Foundational learning 
in elementary education 
strengthened through 
learning enhancement 
programs (LEPs)14 
 
(cumulative targets over 
time)   

Yes  
(DLI 5) 

States have 
ongoing pilot- 
based LEPs 
for elementary 
grades but not 
implemented 
at scale. 

 LEPs selected, 
curriculum 
finalized, and 
implementation 
schedules 
approved in 
five states 
(incorporating 
gender and 
socially 
inclusive 
learning 
contents). 

At least 1,150 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs in five 
states (e.g., 
reading/math 
or remediation 
program, and 
school 
readiness/pre-
primary 
interventions). 

At least 2,800 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs in five 
states. 

At least 4,500 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs in five 
states. 

At least 10,000 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs. 

7. Science and math 
learning strengthened for 

Yes  
(DLI 6) 

States lack 
specific LEPs 

 State-specific 
STEAM 

Teaching-
learning 

At least 190 
exemplar/ 

At least 360 
exemplar/ 

At least 750 
exemplar/ 

 
 
13 Right to Education norms for teacher availability apply to all states up to grade 8 only. For grades 9–12, there is no central standardized norm and each state has 

different norms.   
14 LEPs refer to various interactive, student-centered learning practices that have been adopted across the states, especially to boost foundational learning in 

elementary grades or bridge the learning gap. The most common approach is activity-based learning that allows students to learn at their own pace and often 
involves grouping students according to their learning level rather than by their grade. LEPs for secondary levels would refer to project-based learning, personalized 
adoptive learning practices with EdTech programs, or other types with strong student-centered learning orientations.  
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

secondary education 
(grades 9–12) through 
STEAM LEPs 
 
(cumulative targets over 
time) 
 

related to 
STEAM 
education.  
 
 

education 
intervention 
LEPs 
approved in 
five states.  

resources 
developed 
and teachers 
trained for 
STEAM LEPs 
(including 
personalized 
adaptive 
learning; 
incorporating 
gender and 
socially 
inclusive 
learning 
contents).  

cluster 
schools 
provide 
selected 
STEAM LEPs  
in five states.  

cluster 
schools 
implemented 
the STEAM 
LEPs 

cluster schools 
implemented 
the STEAM 
LEPs. 
 

8. Secondary schools 
(grades 9–12) incorporate 
LEPs to enhance 
employability skills (e.g., 
pre- and vocational 
education, digital skills, 
and 21st century skills)   

No Limited 
interventions 
for vocational 
orientation and 
21st century 
skills across 
states; only 
traditional 
vocational 
trades covered 
in a small set 
of schools. 

 Specific 
programs for 
implementation 
approved and 
curriculum 
design initiated 
across five 
states. 

Curriculum, 
and teaching-
learning 
resources 
developed 
(incorporating 
digital 
resources/ 
EdTech 
programs). 
 

At least 190 
exemplar 
schools 
implemented 
selected 
LEPs. 
 

At least 360 
exemplar 
schools 
implemented 
selected 
LEPs. 

At least 750 
exemplar 
schools 
implemented 
the 
program(s).  
 
 

9. State-level learning 
assessment system 
strengthened to monitor 
progress in learning 
outcomes 
 
 

No No strong 
competency-
based learning 
assessment 
system exists 
in the states to 
monitor 
students’ 
learning 
outcomes.  

 (i) Review and 
development 
of 
competency-
based learning 
standards for 
grades 3, 5, 
and 8 
language and 
mathematics 
completed in 
each state. 

(i) 
Assessment 
cell 
constituted in 
at least three 
states 
(including 
SCERT and 
DIET 
members and 
relevant state 
and district 
resource 
groups). 

(i) Detailed 
report of 
SLAS (1) 
drafted and 
communicate
d with all 
program 
schools and 
teachers.  
 
(ii) All 
program 
schools 
develop 

(i) Capacity 
building of 
64,000 
teachers of 
program 
schools 
completed on 
effective 
formative 
assessments. 
 
(ii) SLAS (2) 
conducted 
with a 

(i) State 
assessment 
cell fully 
functional: 
detailed report 
of SLAS (2) 
drafted and 
communicated 
with all 
program 
schools and 
teachers by 
the 
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

 
(ii) SLAS (1) 
conducted 
with a 
competency-
based 
assessment 
tool and 
required 
administration 
process. 

action plans 
to improve 
classroom 
interactions 
based on 
SLAS (1) 
results. 

competency-
based 
assessment 
tool and 
required 
administration 
process. 
 

assessment 
cell. 
 
(ii) All program 
schools 
develop action 
plans to 
improve 
classroom 
interactions 
based on 
SLAS (2) 
results. 

Output 3: Capacity of teachers and school leaders enhanced   
10. Statewide continuous 
development of teachers 
and school leaders 
enhanced to improve 
interactive teaching 
practices (including the 
use of digital contents) 
and effective school 
management, with state-
specific gender targets  

Yes  
(DLI 7) 

Current 
teacher 
training 
programs are 
not based on 
individual 
teacher needs, 
offer only fixed 
days of in-
service training 
(20 days/year), 
and do not 
track the 
effectiveness 
of training.  
 
Systematic 
school leader 
training 
programs do 
not exist in 
states and 
large gaps 
exist for school 
leaders in 
providing 
academic and 

 Capacity 
development 
modules for 
teachers and 
school leaders 
approved and 
training 
contents 
finalized in 
each state, 
including 
blended 
learning 
modality with 
pre- and post-
tests 
incorporated. 

At least 
40,000 
teachers in 
program 
schools from 
five states 
complete 
training on 
core modules 
(online/offline) 
per the state 
specific plan, 
including 
foundational 
learning, 
interactive 
pedagogic 
practice, 
digital skills, 
and 
gender/sociall
y inclusive 
education. 

At least 
11,760 school 
leaders in 
program 
schools 
complete 
training on 
core modules 
(online/ 
offline) on 
instructional 
and 
organizational 
leadership as 
per the state 
specific plan. 
 
 

At least 1,400 
exemplar/ 
cluster 
schools have 
school 
improvement 
plans 
prepared and 
in place 
across the 
states based 
on 
organizational 
leadership 
training.  
 

At least 72,000 
teachers in 
program 
schools of five 
states 
complete 
trainings on 
core modules 
(online/offline) 
per the state 
specific plan, 
including 
foundational 
learning, 
interactive 
pedagogic 
practice, digital 
skills, and 
gender and 
socially 
inclusive 
education.   
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

organizational 
leadership. 

11. Statewide continuous 
capacity building of 
teachers and school 
leaders implemented, 
including opportunities for 
peer-to-peer learning  

No No defined 
minimum 
number or 
hours of 
training for all 
teachers and 
school leaders 
in states (NEP 
requires 
minimum 50 
hours of 
training), and 
no systematic 
efforts for peer 
learning have 
been 
implemented. 

  (i) At least 
60% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
exemplar 
schools, and 
50% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
cluster 
schools for all 
states 
complete at 
least 50 hours 
of training 
(online/offline) 
per the state 
specific plan. 
 

(i) At least 
60% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
exemplar 
schools and 
50% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
cluster 
schools 
participate in 
at least two 
cluster level 
workshops for 
peer-to-peer 
learning and 
sharing of 
best 
practices. 

(i) At least 
75% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
exemplar 
schools and 
60% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
cluster 
schools for all 
states 
complete at 
least 50 hours 
of training 
(online/offline) 
per the state 
specific plan. 
 

(i) At least 
75% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
exemplar 
schools and 
60% teachers 
and school 
leaders in 
cluster schools 
participate in 
at least two 
cluster level 
workshops for 
peer-to-peer 
learning and 
sharing of best 
practices.       

12. Institutional capacity 
of SCERT and DIETs 
strengthened 
  

No Limited 
functional 
capacity and 
staff availability 
at SCERT and 
DIETs across 
Program 
States.  

 (i) SCERT and 
DIETs’ 
organization 
structure with 
clear roles in 
place across 
program 
states. 
 
(ii) 
Recruitment/ 
deputation 
process 
initiated to 
ensure 
availability of 
essential staff 
within SCERT 
and DIETs.  

(i) All 
essential staff 
in place at 
SCERT and 
DIETs (via 
recruitment or 
deputation). 
 
(ii) Capacity 
building plan 
prepared and 
approved for 
core areas 
(assessment, 
curriculum, 
trainings, etc.) 
in each state. 

At least 60% 
SCERT staff 
and relevant 
DIET faculty/ 
SRGs/DRGs 
trained in 
core areas 
prioritized in 
each state. 

Curricular 
resources for 
LEPs 
(foundational 
LEPs and 
secondary 
education 
LEPs) 
developed by 
the SCERT 
team with 
support from 
expert 
groups. 

SCERTs 
recommendati
ons are in 
place for 
foundational 
and STEAM 
LEPs, along 
with capacity 
building plans 
based on 
assessment 
reports.  
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

Output 4: Management of school education system strengthened 
13. Statewide capacity 
building for district and 
block officers, 
BRCs/CRCs/other staff 
undertaken to support 
effective school 
management and 
monitoring of learning 
enhancement efforts 
 
(cumulative targets over 
time)   

No Limited 
capacity of 
field staff for 
monitoring and 
supporting 
school 
development 
activities; large 
vacancies 
across states. 

  (i) Roles and 
responsibilitie
s of field staff 
clearly defined 
in five states. 
 
(ii) Capacity 
building plan 
prepared and 
approved for 
core areas 
(academic 
mentoring and 
monitoring, 
data-based 
reviews and 
planning, 
etc.).   

(i) At least 
40% of target 
field staff 
trained in 
core areas 
prioritized in 
each state. 
 
(ii) 
BRCs/CRCs 
undertake 
onsite 
mentoring 
and 
monitoring of 
schools, and 
all information 
uploaded 
through 
online (e.g., 
MIS). 

At least 60% 
of target field 
staff trained in 
core areas 
prioritized in 
each state.   

At least 70% 
of target field 
staff trained in 
core areas 
prioritized in 
each state. 

14. State capacity for 
outcome-based planning 
and monitoring 
mechanisms strengthened   

Yes  
(DLI 8) 

(i) States do 
not have 
outcome-
based 
planning; only 
annual work 
plans are 
prepared for 
Samagra 
Shiksha. 
 

(i) Program 
states 
develop the 
state’s 
perspective 
plan and 
finalize state-
level results 
framework for 
RBL program. 
 

 Statewide MIS 
enhanced with 
separate 
modules for 
schools, 
students, and 
teachers, 
aligned with 
U-DISE 
requirement. 
15 

Enhanced 
MIS modules 
operational 
for at least 
820 exemplar 
schools to 
enter required 
data by sex 
and other 
social 

Each program 
state has 
digitized its 
school visit 
monitoring 
system and 
integrated it 
with state’s 
MIS.  
  

MIS module 
on student 
learning data 
are operational 
and at least 
1,100 
exemplar 
schools use 
the module.  
 
 

 
 
15 U-DISE is a central database of schools in India and collects data across 11 areas: (i) school profile; (ii) physical facilities and equipment; (iii) teaching and non-

teaching staff; (iv) new admissions, enrollment and repeaters; (v) incentives and facilities provided to children; (vi) annual examination result at elementary level; 
(vii) board examination results; (viii) receipts and expenditure: (ix) vocational education; (x) PGI and other indicators; (xi) school safety. Currently, not all the states 
have state-level MIS to provide all the required information for U-DISE. 

 

https://udiseplus.gov.in/udise-home/#/Download.UDISE
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

(ii) State MIS 
systems exist 
for monitoring, 
but data 
accuracy and 
available 
modules vary 
by state; data 
not analyzed to 
guide planning 
or teaching-
learning 
interventions, 
HR processes, 
etc. 

(ii) State-
specific scope 
of work or 
TOR for MIS 
enhancement 
developed in 
five states, 
including RBL 
program 
monitoring 
system.  
 

  background 
information. 
 
 

Output 5: National guidelines on quality state education strengthened 

15. National guidelines on 
curriculum and 
assessments 
strengthened for quality 
state education 
 
 

Yes  
(DLI 9) 

(i) NCF 2005 
provides 
overall 
guidance for 
science and 
math 
education, but 
updated 
guidelines are 
required for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education and 
to prepare full 
revision of 
NCF and SCF.   
 
(ii) No national 
standards exist 
on 
assessments 
at various 
levels (e.g., 
state and 
school). 

(i) TORs for 
central 
committees to 
support SCF 
and NCF 
preparation 
on STEAM 
and 
vocational 
education 
finalized. 
 
(ii) Templates 
or guidance 
notes 
developed for 
state-level 
consultations. 

The 
committees 
convene state-
level 
workshops to 
guide states on 
developing 
SCFs for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education. 
 
 
 
 

(i) 
International 
or national 
partnerships 
established 
for a national 
assessment 
center 
(PARAKH) to 
develop 
assessment 
standards for 
grades 3, 5, 
and 8 and 
state board 
exams. 
 
(ii) National 
workshops 
convened to 
develop NCF 
for STEAM 
and vocational 
education with 
recommended 

(i) Training 
modules on 
assessment 
standards for 
state capacity 
building 
developed by 
PARAKH.  
 
(ii) At least 
two cross-
learning 
workshops 
completed to 
share 
innovative 
practices from 
the program 
states.  

(i) SCFs 
prepared for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education by 
all five ADB 
program 
states. 
 
(ii) At least 
two 
workshops 
completed on 
cross-learning 
from quality 
interventions 
across the 
program 
states. 

(i) NCFs for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
finalized.  
 
(ii) Training 
modules on 
assessment 
standards 
implemented 
in all five 
states.  
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Result Indicators  

DLI 
(Yes/ 
No) 

Baseline 
Value and 

Year 

Target Values and Results Indicators 
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

teacher 
training 
modules. 
 

ADB = Asian Development Bank; BRC = block resource center; COVID-19 = coronavirus disease; CRC = cluster resource center; DIET = district institutes of 
education and training; DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; DRG = district resource group; EdTech = education technology; HR = human resources; ICT = 
information communication and technology, LEP = learning enhancement programs, MIS = management information system, NAS = National Achievement Survey, 
NCF = national curriculum framework; RBL = results-based lending; SCERT = state council of educational research and training; SCF = state curriculum framework; 
SLAS= State Level Achievement Survey; SRG = state resource group; STEAM = science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics; TOR = terms of reference; 
U-DISE = Unified District Information System for Education. 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
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B. Disbursement-Linked Indicators  
 
11. The DLIs represent a subset of overall program results, prioritized, and sequenced to 
contribute to the program’s progress in outcome achievement. Achievement of annual DLI targets 
will trigger loan disbursement in pre-agreed amounts. Those that are important for outcome 
achievement but difficult to link to disbursement are included in the program action plan (PAP).16 
A summary of disbursement-linked indicators is in Table 3. The full DLI matrix and verification 
protocols are in Appendix 2 (Tables A2.1 and A2.2).  
 

Table 3: Summary of Disbursement-Linked Indicators   

Indicators 

Disbursement 
Allocation 
($ million) 

Share of Total 
ADB 

Financing (%) 
Outcome: Education outcomes in primary and secondary schools 
improved in the five participating states   

DLI 1: Improved proficiency in language and math among primary students 
(grade 3) 

45 
 

 9.0 
 

DLI 2: Reduced dropout rate at secondary level (from grade 9 to 10) 30  6.0 
Output 1: Quality government schools with equitable access increased    
DLI 3: Exemplar schools established with improved learning environments for 
quality education 

95 
 

 19.0 
 

DLI 4: Improved provision of secondary subject teachers for quality education  42  8.4 
Output 2: Quality and relevance of learning improved   
DLI 5: Foundational learning in elementary education strengthened through 
LEPs 

        115 
 

 23.0 
 

DLI 6: Science and math learning strengthened for secondary education 
(grades 9–12) through STEAM LEPs 

54 
 

 10.8 
 

Output 3: Capacity of teachers and school leaders enhanced   
DLI 7: Statewide continuous development of teachers and school leaders 
enhanced to improve interactive teaching practices and effective school 
management with state-specific gender targets 

52 
 

 10.4 
 

Output 4: Management of school education system strengthened   
DLI 8: State capacity for outcome-based planning and monitoring mechanisms 
strengthened 

42 
 

 8.4 
 

Output 5: National guidelines on quality state education strengthened   
DLI 9: National guidelines on curriculum and assessments strengthened for 
quality state education 25  5.0 

Total 500  100.0 
ADB = Asian Development Bank; DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; LEP = learning enhancement program; STEAM 
= science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics. 
Source: Asian Development Bank estimates. 

 
C. Disbursement-Linked Indicator Verification Protocols 
 
12. The DLI verification protocol is in Appendix 2 (Table A2.2). A rigorous verification protocol, 
including independent, third-party validation, has been established. For each DLI, program states 
will submit the required data and reports following the verification protocol, which will be reviewed 
and consolidated by MOE. An independent verification agency (IVA) will be engaged by the MOE 
in consultation with the Asian Development Bank (ADB) to verify and confirm the achievement of 
DLI targets as per the verification protocol. The IVA is required to have experience and 
competency relevant to the RBL program. The indicative terms of reference for the IVA is in 
Appendix 4. Key prerequisites for effective implementation of the RBL program are identified as 

 
 
16 PAP also includes actions to improve state systems in financial management, procurement, safeguards, monitoring 

and evaluation (M&E), and gender and social equity areas.  
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prior results; these will be verified by independent technical experts engaged through an ADB 
technical assistance (TA).17 
 
D. Disbursement Allocation and Status 
 
13. The loan proceeds will be disbursed following ADB’s Loan Disbursement Handbook 
(2017, as amended from time to time)18 and detailed arrangements agreed between the 
government and ADB.  
 
14. Disbursement of loan proceeds will be made to the central government’s consolidated 
fund. ADB disburses directly to the central government’s account at the Reserve Bank of India 
based on the verification of achievement of DLIs for which disbursement is requested. The funds 
from the consolidated fund are released to the state governments (Treasury account) in 
accordance with government procedures. The states will transfer loan proceeds (received as 
central share) to the State Implementation Society (SIS) along with its state share, to a separate 
bank account established within the SIS for ADB loan. The MOE will account for expenditures 
through state audited financial reports. 
 
15. The loan will be disbursed over the next 5 years, subject to the achievement of DLIs and 
subsequent verification of DLIs in accordance with the DLI verification protocols. Where 
achievement is partial, partial disbursement may be made from ADB to MOE, as laid out in the 
verification protocol. The initial disbursement up to $75 million, linked to prior results, will be 
disbursed after loan effectiveness and upon verification of achievement of prior results. Prior 
results are expected to be completed within 12 months prior to signing of the loan agreement. In 
addition, up to 25% of the loan can be made available for advance financing upon loan 
effectiveness. The combined outstanding balance of advance financing and the amount for 
financing prior results should not exceed 30% of total ADB financing or their respective ceilings 
of 25% for advance financing and 20% for financing for prior results. When MOE submits a 
withdrawal application for the achieved DLIs, any outstanding advances must be liquidated before 
any disbursements are made. The government must refund any unliquidated advances within 2 
months after the winding-up period.   
 
16. The prior results include:    
 

(i)  finalization of the criteria for exemplar and cluster schools and the list of exemplar 
schools for the RBL program by the five states;  

(ii)  finalization of needs assessment for subject teachers in secondary exemplar 
schools per the state norms (or guidelines) to develop teacher deployment plans;  

(iii)  each state’s perspective plan and state-level results framework finalized for the 
RBL program; 

(iv)  state-specific scope of work or terms of reference for MIS enhancement plans 
developed in five states; 

(v)  terms of reference for central committees to support national- and state curriculum 
framework on STEAM and vocational education finalized; and  

(vi)  templates and/or guidance notes developed for state-level stakeholder 
consultations for new curriculum developments.  

  

 
 
17 ADB. 2019. Technical Assistance to India for Supporting Education and Skills Development Facility. Manila. 
18 ADB. 2017. Loan Disbursement Handbook. Manila. 

https://www.adb.org/projects/53277-001/main
https://www.adb.org/documents/loan-disbursement-handbook
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17. The prior results are in the varying stages of completion (e.g., [iii] has been completed and 
[i] is being finalized). The prior results will be verified by independent experts engaged under ADB 
TA. The subsequent disbursements will be made annually, or any time agreed between MOE and 
ADB, after annual DLIs are met and verified by IVA. 
 
18. The program states will submit the DLI status reports annually, as specified by MOE, with 
relevant data and documents following the requirements in the verification protocols. The MOE 
will review and consolidate the states’ reports into an overall DLI achievement status report. The 
report along with relevant data and details will be submitted for IVA verification. IVA will review 
the reports and conduct verification following the verification protocol and applying appropriate 
methods (e.g., sample-based checks, spot checks, etc.). Once IVA verifies and completes a 
verification report, MOE will submit withdrawal applications together with the DLI achievement 
report and the verification report to ADB. Any amount not disbursed for unmet DLIs will be 
disbursed once the DLIs are achieved. 
 
19. ADB will monitor the cumulative sum of eligible expenditure during the program period to 
confirm that the government’s eligible expenditures exceed the amount disbursed by ADB upon 
program completion, using audited financial statements, supplemented by certification from the 
Department of School Education and Literacy (DOSE&L) of MOE once they become available 
every year (the statement of audit needs in Appendix 5). 
 
20. All DLIs must be achieved on or before the RBL program’s completion date. If a DLI is not 
achieved or not fully achieved by the RBL program completion date, the amount allocated to the 
portion of the DLI not achieved or not fully achieved will be cancelled. Evidence of achievement 
of DLIs must be submitted with the withdrawal application. The borrower will have a winding-up 
period, which ends 4 months after the RBL program's completion date, for submitting withdrawal 
applications to ADB. If the amount of ADB financing disbursed exceeds the total amount of the 
government-owned program’s expenditures (excluding expenditure pertaining to procurement 
from nonmember countries, unless universal procurement has been approved) after the winding-
up period and final disbursement has been made, the government should refund the difference 
to ADB within 6 months after the RBL program completion date. 
 
21. Before the submission of the first withdrawal application, the borrower will submit to ADB 
the evidence of the authority of the person(s) who will sign the withdrawal applications on behalf 
of the borrower, together with the authenticated specimen signatures of each authorized person. 
Using ADB’s Client Portal for Disbursements system is encouraged for submitting withdrawal 
applications to ADB. 19  
 
22. The expected annual disbursement schedules are in Table 4 and the disbursement status 
is in Table 5.  
 

 
 
19 The portal facilitates the online submission of withdrawal applications to ADB, resulting in faster disbursement. The 

forms the borrower needs to complete are available in ADB. Guide to the Client Portal for Disbursements. 

https://www.adb.org/documents/client-portal-disbursements-guide
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Table 4: Disbursement Schedule 
($ million) 

 
DLI  

 
Total ADB 
Financing 
Allocation 

Share of 
Total ADB 
Financing 

(%) 

Prior 
Results 
(2021–
2022) 

FY2023 
(Year 1) 

FY2024 
(Year 2) 

FY2025 
(Year 3) 

FY2026 
(Year 4) 

FY2027 
(Year 5) 

Outcome         
DLI 1. Improved proficiency in language and math 
among primary students (grade 3)  

45 9.0  10  20  15 

DLI 2. Reduced dropout rate at secondary level 
(from grade 9 to 10)   

30 6.0   5   5  10 10 

Outputs         

DLI 3. Exemplar schools established with improved 
learning environments for quality education  

95 19.0 25 15 15 15 15 10 

DLI 4. Improved provision of secondary subject 
teachers for quality education    

42 8.4 20  5  5  4   4  4 

DLI 5. Foundational learning in elementary 
education strengthened through LEPs  

       115 23.0  20 25 25 25 20 

DLI 6. Science and math learning strengthened for 
secondary education (grades 9–12) through 
STEAM LEPs   

54 10.8  10 12 12 10 10 

DLI 7. Statewide continuous development of 
teachers and school leaders enhanced to improve 
interactive teaching practices and effective school 
management with state-specific gender targets   

52 10.4  10 10 12 10 10 

DLI 8. State capacity for outcome-based planning 
and monitoring mechanisms strengthened   

42 8.4 25   5  4  4  4 

DLI 9. National guidelines on curriculum and 
assessments strengthened for quality state 
education  

25 5.0  5  4  4  4  4  4 

Total        500 100.0 75 79 81 96 82 87 
ADB = Asian Development Bank; DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; FY = fiscal year; LEP = learning enhancement program; MOE = Ministry of Education; STEAM 
= science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics.  
Source: Asian Development Bank.   
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Table 5: Disbursement Status 
(as of November 2021 to be updated periodically during program implementation) 

DLIs 

ADB 
Financing 
Allocation 
($ million) 

Share of 
Total ADB 
Financing 

(%) 

Expected 
Disbursement by 
{month and year} 

($ million) 

Actual 
Disbursement by 
{month and year} 

($ million) 

Share of Total 
ADB Financing 

Disbursed 
(%) 

   Not applicable at this stage 
Total    

 
100.0 

ADB = Asian Development Bank, DLIs = disbursement-linked indicators. 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
 

III. EXPENDITURE FRAMEWORK AND FINANCING 
 
A. Expenditure Framework 
 

1. Expected Expenditure Framework 

23. The program expenditures are estimated to be $1,885.6 million from fiscal year (FY) 2023 
to FY2027 and are summarized in Table 6. The budget estimate includes both ongoing 
expenditures and the incremental budget required for additional RBL program interventions. A 
significant share will come from the select components of Samagra Shiksha aligned with the 
program outputs. Most expenditures (70%) are recurring in nature; these include quality 
interventions to enhance learning outcomes, capacity building of teachers and professionals, 
strengthening of governance capacity, and hiring of contract teachers. Capital expenses will 
account for about 30% of the total for improvements in learning environments (e.g., labs, libraries, 
digital infrastructure, and ICT-enabled classrooms), sex-segregated sanitation facilities, barrier-
free facilities in leader and selected cluster schools, and the MIS. 
 

Table 6: Summary of Program Expenditure Framework, FY2023–FY2027 
(in 2020 prices)  

Item 
  Amount 

  ($ million) 
Share of Total 

(%) 
Recurrent 1,327.9 70.0 
Capital 557.7 30.0 
 Total 1,885.6 100.0 

Source: Asian Development Bank 
 
B. Program Financing  
 

1. Expected Financing Plan 
 
24. The program expenditures are estimated to be $1,885.6 million from FY2023 to FY2027, 
of which the government has requested a loan of $500 million from ADB’s ordinary capital 
resources to help finance the program. Climate adaptation is estimated at $2 million and ADB will 
finance 100% of adaptation costs. The loan terms and conditions are in the loan agreement. The 
financing plan for the program is summarized in Table 7.  
 

Table 7: Program Financing Plan, FY2023–FY2027 
(as of November 2021) 

Source 
        Amount Share of Total 
      ($ million) (%) 

Central government 844.4 44.8 
State government 541.2 28.7 
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Source 
        Amount Share of Total 
      ($ million) (%) 

Asian Development Bank   
   Ordinary capital resources (regular loan) 500.0 26.5 

Total 1,885.6 100.0 
Source: Asian Development Bank 
 

2. Financing Status 

Table 8: Status of Program Financing Plan 
(as of November 2021, to be updated periodically during program implementation) 

Source 

Financing 
in 

{Previous 
Year} 

($ million) 

Share of Total 
Financing in 

{Previous 
Year} 
(%) 

Cumulative 
Amount of 

Financing to Date 
(Year–Year) 

($ million) 

Share of Total 
Cumulative 

Financing to 
Date 
(%) 

Central Government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
State Government 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Asian Development Bank 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
 Ordinary capital resources (regular loan) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Total 0.0 100.0 0.0 100.0 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
 

IV. PROGRAM SYSTEMS AND IMPLEMENTATION ARRANGEMENTS 
 
25. The MOE is the executing agency and its DOSE&L will be the main implementing agency. 
In the five participating states, the SIS—which is responsible for Samagra Shiksha—will be the 
state’s implementing agency headed by the state project director. Within the SIS, a separate nodal 
officer will be appointed to manage, monitor, and report on the program in each state. The states 
will implement the program according to the state’s results framework developed specifically for 
the RBL program and prepare progress reports in meeting DLIs and PAPs. MOE will consolidate 
state-level reports and submit periodic progress reports on DLI achievements, PAPs, and other 
key performance indicators. MOE will set up a project management unit (PMU) to guide and 
monitor the states’ activities, along with an IVA. For the RBL program, MOE will engage the IVA 
in consultation with ADB, and recruit supporting technical agencies, consultants, and/or experts 
for the central PMU. They will be engaged under the national component (output 5).  
 
A. Monitoring and Evaluation System 
 
26. The monitoring and evaluation (M&E) system assessment found that the planning and 
monitoring mechanisms established under Samagra Shiksha across states are solid for tracking 
the program’s outputs and outcome.20 However, necessary enhancements to the state MIS and 
monitoring systems are needed. Key areas for improvement are related to ensuring adequate 
availability of data for tracking and reporting against DLIs targets, for which MIS enhancement is 
part of DLIs and prior results. Specific areas for improvement include: (i) improving the availability 
and quality of data in the MIS, including the expansion of technology-based monitoring and 
assessment of schools; (ii) ensuring the availability of on quality parameters such as learning 
outcomes and LEP implementation; (iii) capacity development of field staff to ensure accurate 
monitoring and reporting; and (iv) increasing staffing levels across MIS team and field staff. Along 

 
 
20 Program Monitoring and Evaluation System Assessment (accessible from the list of linked documents in Appendix 2 

of the Report and Recommendation of the President). 
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with the state-level efforts for MIS enhancements, the program’s M&E system will be 
supplemented by a dedicated state program implementation unit with M&E expertise, along with 
MOE’s central support on periodic reviews and monitoring and ADB’s TA support.  
 
27. The five participating states will provide quarterly progress reports (QPRs) covering the 
progress in implementation of each of the results areas, and progress toward DLIs and PAPs. 
MOE will prepare a consolidated QPR based on the state reports, which will be shared with ADB 
for regular monitoring on a quarterly basis.  
 
28. At least twice a year, ADB and MOE will undertake joint review missions, focusing on 
overall progress of planned implementation activities towards results (both DLIs and non-DLIs), 
progress in timely achievement of DLIs, workings of implementation arrangements including 
financial and procurement arrangements, etc. The review missions will also discuss annual work 
plans and budgets and address any implementation challenges identified in QPRs. A midterm 
review will be conducted jointly with MOE and ADB towards the end of the second year of 
implementation for any midcourse adjustments, as necessary. ADB will also participate in joint 
review/discussion meetings with the World Bank, as coordinated by MOE, which will share the 
progress in each of the programs and address common implementation challenges, as needed. 
Within 12 months of loan closing of the program, MOE will prepare a program completion report 
that will be shared with ADB.  
 
B. Fiduciary Systems 
 

1. Financial Management System 

29. Financial management systems used for Samagra Shiksha will be used for the RBL 
program. The program financial management assessment indicates a substantial pre-mitigation 
financial management risk.21 The areas for improvement include: (i) the Samagra Shiksha 
financial management framework is not consistently applied by the program states; (ii) states 
have varying capacity with different fund flow models, accounting systems and processes; and 
(iii) recurring control issues and audit observations are not addressed timely. ADB will support the 
states to address the issues and enhance their capacity. Mitigation measures include: (i) MOE 
will conduct assessments of practices and gaps in accounting, staffing, reporting, management 
and flow of funds, and tracking of audit observations; (ii) capacity building in financial 
management, and (iii) MOE will submit six monthly consolidated financial management reports 
as part of QPRs, including information on actions taken to address audit observations  
 
30. Institutional arrangements. The RBL program will use the existing financial 
management systems, which have been in place for Samagra Shiksha since 2018.22 At the 
central level, the program will be implemented by the MOE and DOSE&L, and at the state level it 
will be implemented by the respective SIS under the state Department of School Education. 
DOSE&L has developed a comprehensive Manual on Financial Management and Procurement 
(the Manual) which was issued in August 2018.23 The Manual covers aspects related to planning, 

 
 
21 Program Fiduciary Systems Assessment (accessible form list of linked documents in Appendix 2 of the report and 

recommendation of the President).  
22 Samagra Shiksha was launched in 2018, by merging earlier central schemes, Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan (for primary 

education) that was in place since 2002 and Rashtriya Madhyamik Shiksha Abhiyan (for secondary education) since 
2009. Accordingly, SIS represents the merged implementation structure of the previous two schemes. 

23 Government of India, DOSE&L. 2018. Manual of Financial Management & Procurement (FMP) for Scheme of 
Samagra Shiksha. New Delhi.  

https://dsel.education.gov.in/sites/default/files/2019-05/FMP.pdf
https://dsel.education.gov.in/sites/default/files/2019-05/FMP.pdf
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budgeting, accounting, funds flow, reporting, internal control, external audit, procurement, 
financial procedures, and staffing. The Manual is mandatory for all activities under the scheme 
across all levels of implementation. No deviation from the Manual is permitted by the central 
government. While the provisions outlined in the Manual are mandatory, SIS needs to formulate 
well-defined financial rules and regulations, including the delegation of financial powers for 
effective implementation of the program. Further, the Manual mentions that it strictly follows the 
General Financial Rules (GFR) 2017,24 and in case there is any contradiction between the Manual 
and GFR, the GFR 2017 shall prevail. 
 
31. All the states have a SIS registered under the Societies Registration Act, 1860 and the 
respective State Societies’ Act. The SIS is responsible for (i) consolidating the annual 
implementation plans received from the districts, blocks, and schools into the Annual Work Plan 
and Budget (AWP&B) document; (ii) preparing the detailed program budget; (iii) overseeing 
implementation progress at districts, blocks, and schools; and (iv) consolidating financial reports 
to submit to MOE. Each SIS has about 10 finance and accounts professionals, headed by the 
Director (Finance) who is generally deputed from the State Finance Department for smoother 
coordination. S/he is assisted by finance staff with adequate qualifications. 

 
32. Budget. The program budget for Samagra Shiksha-related activities is approved on an 
annual basis as part of the AWP&B document.25 The budgets are prepared at the state level and 
after discussion with MOE, they are approved in the Project Approval Board meetings chaired by 
the Secretary, DOSE&L, MOE. States can place supplementary grants during the year for 
additional activities or reallocations. The annual budget calendar is clear and definite timelines 
are in place, which is generally adhered to and provides sufficient time for budget preparation. 
The fund sharing pattern between center and states is in the ratio of 60:40 for all states except 
for North-Eastern and Hilly States where it is 90:10.26 The proposed RBL program will continue 
to use the existing systems and any new codes for implementation of the ADB program will be 
introduced in AWP&B and the public financial management system (PFMS) before the start of 
implementation of the program.  

 
33. Funds flow. Funds flow from the government’s consolidated fund to the state treasury to 
the SIS. The state share is also transferred from the state treasury to the SIS. The SIS transfers 
funds to the District Project Office as per their workplan and requirement of funds. The District 
Project Office transfers funds to Block Resource Centre, Cluster Resource Centre, and School 
Management Committee as per their workplan and requirement of funds. All fund transfers are 
undertaken through PFMS to the school level.27 The conditions for release of funds from central 
government to the states as per MOE include: (i) all guidelines issued by MOE regarding utilization 
of funds under the scheme needs to be followed; (ii) the state transfers central share to SIS within 
15 days of its receipt in the state treasury; (iii) the state share is transferred to the SIS within 30 
days of the release of the central share; and (iv) all central transfers are subject to fulfillment of 
GFR provisions (footnote 24) by the state and all procurement needs to adhere to the Manual and 

 
 
24 Government of India, Department of Expenditure. General Financial Rules.  
25 The AWP&Bs are uploaded on the website of MOE and respective state government websites. 
26 Out of the five states in the project, Assam and Uttarakhand qualify for 90:10 fund sharing ratio, while the other three 

(i.e., Gujarat, Tamil Nadu, and Jharkhand) will have a fund sharing ratio of 60:40. 
27 The exception is in Uttarakhand where PFMS has been implemented in about 50% of the schools and work is ongoing 

to link the balance schools in PFMS. Presently funds are not being transferred to the schools through PFMS, they 
are being transferred through e-transfer. 

https://doe.gov.in/order-circular-archives/GENERAL%20FINANCIAL%20RULES
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should be routed through the Government e-Marketplace (GeM) portal.28  
 
34. An ad hoc amount of installment is released to the eligible states during April to May, which 
is up to 25% of the expenditure incurred under the scheme against recurring activities of the 
previous year but after adjusting for unspent balance of recurring grant of the previous year. The 
states may utilize the unspent balance from the previous year for recurring activities approved for 
the current year. As per clause 3.4.2 of the Manual, there would be two installments each year 
and the ad hoc release would be considered as part of the first installment. The first installment 
would cater to the expenditure from April to September and the second installment for expenditure 
from October to March. As per clause 3.4.3 of the Manual, the first installment for recurring grant 
would constitute up to 75% of the total amount sanctioned for the year. There are certain 
conditions for release of the second installment, which include (i) audit report of Samagra Shiksha 
for the previous year; (ii) final utilization certification (capital and general heads separately and on 
separate pages) for the previous year for elementary education, secondary education, and 
teachers’ training components; and (iii) latest annual report. Detailed conditions are included in 
the state assessment reports. 
 
35. The figure below shows the fund flow under the RBL program based on the fund flow 
arrangements among the center, state, and SIS. 

 
 
28 The GeM facilitates online procurement of common use goods and services required by various government 

departments/organisations/Public Sector Undertakings. It aims to enhance transparency, efficiency, and speed in 
public procurement.  

Figure 1: Fund Flow for the Proposed Program 
 

 
 
A/Cs = Accounts, ADB = Asian Development Bank, DLI = disbursement-linked indicator, MOE = Ministry of 
Education, WA = withdrawal application,  
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

https://gem.gov.in/
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36. Accounting and financial reporting. Accounting is undertaken as per the Manual issued 
in August 2018 and developed by the MOE (footnote 23). The Manual includes a system to track, 
analyze, and summarize the financial transactions. Accounting and financial reporting is required 
to include the maintenance of complete set of accounts in respect of the monetary transactions 
of the SIS in the headquarters as well as in the subordinate offices as per “Double Entry Method 
Based on Mercantile System” of accounting. These records and receipts/invoices are available 
for inspection by the auditors, SIS, state government, and Government of India. However, 
accounts in most of the states are prepared based on double entry cash basis of accounting and 
not on mercantile system. Accounting is undertaken in tally accounting system at the state and 
district levels. In almost all states, the tally accounting system has been customized to have a 
standardized chart of accounts aligning with the activity codes as per the approved AWP&B. The 
important books of accounts maintained are cash book, ledgers, and various other registers. The 
quality of accounts and financial reporting differs across the states due to varied capacities of 
accounts and finance personnel at the state, district, and block levels.29  
 
37. Internal controls and internal audit. The Manual adequately covers the aspect of 
internal control. The objective for internal control as per the Manual (clause 5.1.3) is obtaining 
reasonable assurance, per scheme, of the (i) effectiveness and efficiency of operations, (ii) 
reliability of financial and operational reporting, and (iii) compliance with the provisions of the 
scheme framework and other orders issued from time to time. Internal audit and monitoring and 
supervision of the implementation of the schemes are the main controls exercised. While 
Samagra Shiksha has a well-designed system for internal audit, implementation is weak in the 
states. The states appoint Firms of Chartered Accountants, empaneled with the Comptroller & 
Auditor General of India (C&AG), to audit the program. The internal auditors visit the districts, 
blocks, and schools on a rolling basis to cover all schools or majority of them in a financial year. 
Some states may have their own internal audit department (e.g., Uttarakhand) where they 
themselves internally audit various implementation units involved in program implementation. 
Internal audit is generally undertaken on a quarterly basis, but in some states it is done on a half-
yearly basis (e.g., Gujarat). The State Finance Department and District Revenue Collector’s office 
also have authority to inspect the transactions under Samagra Shiksha either under their audit or 
monitoring plan, or as a response to an incident or complaint. It is noted that a stricter enforcement 
and follow-up of the resolution of audit observations is required, as indicated by several long-
outstanding and repetitive audit observations in most state internal audit reports. As for the RBL 
program, MOE will monitor resolution of internal audit observations biannually and a summary of 
recurrent issues and actions will be reported in the financial management report to be submitted 
biannually to ADB 60 days after end of each period.  
 
38. Program financial reporting and external audit. Audit for the program is undertaken by 
Chartered Accountant Firm(s). The firm(s) are empaneled with the C&AG. Appointment of 
Chartered Accountant Firm(s) are undertaken on an annual basis through competitive 
procurement process by the SIS. The process of appointment of Chartered Accountant Firm(s) 
generally starts after the financial year has ended. Audit opinions are issued in accordance with 
Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India which are 
compatible with international standards of Audit. The SIS is also subject to audit by the State 
Auditor General which also audits the state level, district level and sub-district level. Compliance 
with previous year’s audit observations is prepared by the State and provided to the statutory 
auditors and State Auditor General. The state prepares point wise compliance of the points raised 

 
 
29 Details of state-specific issues and mitigation measures are described in the state assessment reports, which are 

available upon request.  
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with details of action taken. 
 
39. For the RBL program, each SIS will send their annual audited program financial 
statements (APFS) to MOE for collation and submission to ADB. The APFS will follow government 
rules supplemented by the terms outlined in the statement of audit needs.30 The RBL APFS will 
be submitted to ADB within 9 months after the end of the fiscal year (i.e., 31 December). ADB will 
disclose on its website the RBL program financial statements and the auditors’ opinions within 14 
days of their acceptance, following ADB’s Access to Information Policy.31 The state will also 
prepare an expenditure statement for the overall RBL program. MOE will submit to ADB annually 
a certificate of compliance, confirming that eligible expenditure incurred during the fiscal year and 
cumulative from commencement of the program to date exceed total disbursements from ADB. 
MOE will monitor resolution of statutory audit observations annually and a summary of recurrent 
issues and actions will be reported in the financial management report to be submitted biannually 
to ADB 60 days after end of each period. 
 
40. The APFSs and the management letters informing the control issues identified during the 
audit will be submitted in the English language to ADB within 9 months after the close of the fiscal 
year. ADB reserves the right to require a change in the auditor (in a manner consistent with the 
laws and regulations of the government) or require additional support to be provided to the auditor, 
if the audits are not conducted in a manner satisfactory to ADB or if the audits are substantially 
delayed. 
 

2. Procurement System 

41. The overall procurement risk is moderate following mitigation measures. Central 
government as well as the state governments have well-established and robust procurement 
systems with the availability of the Manual and e-Procurement being the default method of 
procurement for all tenders.   
 
42. Procurement for the RBL program will be undertaken following the Country Procurement 
Systems as defined in the Manual, developed by MOE, Government of India. The Manual 
substantially follows the GFR 2017 issued by the Ministry of Finance, Government of India. The 
provisions of the Manual are mandatory and must be adopted by the states/union territories and 
implementing agencies for the implementation of the Samagra Shiksha Program and no 
deviations from the Manual are permitted. Some states have passed State Financial Rules, 
Procurement Law, and/or Procurement Policy—all of which are circumscribed by the GFR 2017.  
 
43. The Manual provides the entire procurement process from preparation of procurement 
plan to award of contract and has also defined conflict of interest, fraud and corruption, and 
complaints handling mechanism. The Manual has provided guidance and uniformity in respect to 
the procurement procedures to be used in the Samagra Shisha Program and has streamlined 
procurement procedures and ensure accountability. The procurement process has become more 
transparent by making electronic procurement mandatory. The contract award procedures are 

 
 
30 A statement of audit needs for the external (statutory) audit has been agreed on between ADB and MOE on the part 

of government, as part of the loan negotiations (included as an appendix to the Program Implementation Document) 
which outlines the form, content, and timing of submission for RBL program-audited financial statements. The 
statement of audit needs includes specific details about the financial reporting and external audit requirements; 
preparation of financial statements in line with Indian Government Accounting Standards; and conducting of audit in 
accordance with standards on auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  

31 ADB. 2018. Access to Information Policy. Manila. 

https://www.adb.org/documents/access-information-policy
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transparent with broad advertising both in print and electronic media. The government’s Samagra 
Shisha Program is already being implemented from year 2018 and implementing agencies of 
selected states have gained experience in implementing the program and have sufficient capacity 
for meeting the procurement requirements under the program. 
 
44. The selected states have well-established implementation structures and procurement 
procedures. The staff in the implementing agencies is aware of the provisions of the e-
Procurement process and well versed in uploading, opening of bids, and other procurement 
processes required as per the e-procurement portal. The implementing agencies of State have 
sufficient experience in domestic procurement and follow the procurement regulations as 
indicated in the Manual. 

 
45. The government has established the e-Procurement portal, GeM, for common use goods 
and services to be used by the government buyers for direct or competitive online purchases from 
registered suppliers. As per the Manual, all purchases should be preferably made on GeM and if 
anything is not available on GeM, e-procurement method should be adopted. While Assam, 
Jharkhand, Tamil Nadu, and Uttarakhand use National Informatics Centre32-based e-
Procurement portal, Gujarat uses the portal of e-Procurement Technologies Limited (Certified 
eProcurement Company) for its e-Procurement. All the state e-Procurement portals are required 
to get audited periodically for system and information security. The central government has 
promulgated the Information Technology Act, 2000 and e-Procurement systems of various 
government entities must comply with its provisions also. 
 
46. Considering its scope, the RBL program is expected to meet ADB’s current eligibility 
criteria regarding high-value contracts for results-based lending. The procurement of goods and 
renovation works as well as consultant recruitment will be done using national competitive bidding 
procedures. Considering the increase in scale of procurement due to ADB’s assistance, a greater 
number of trained procurement staff are needed in the procuring entities of the implementing 
agencies. There is a need for procurement capacity development or a professionalization program 
to strengthen the capacity of implementing agencies in procurement planning, budgeting, contract 
administration, and monitoring. For transparency, the procurement information for each package 
should be readily available on the implementing agency’s websites. Further, detailed instructions 
regarding procurement as described in the Manual must be effectively implemented and 
monitored. 
 
47. The procurement capacity and practices across the program states and the MOE were 
assessed. The overall procurement risk is moderate. The areas for improvement include: (i) 
provision of periodic capacity building for procurement staff, (ii) procurement planning and 
monitoring to avoid delays, and (iii) timely disclosure of procurement information in the relevant 
website for transparency.   
 

3. Anticorruption System 
 
48. Transparency International has ranked India 86th out of 180 countries on its Corruption 
Perception Index in 2020. India, with a score of 40/100 is ranked much higher than its neighbors 
in South Asia and several countries in Southeast Asia. The central and state governments have 
well-established and robust systems for anticorruption. At the national level, the Central Vigilance 

 
 
32 Unit of the Government of India established under the aegis of the Ministry of Electronics and Information Technology 

to support the delivery of government information technology services. 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ministry_of_Electronics_and_Information_Technology
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Commission oversees government projects, while state governments have Anti-Corruption 
Departments to control the corruption. The Central Vigilance Commission is an autonomous body, 
free of control from any executive authority and plays a key role in advising various authorities in 
the central government ministries and agencies in planning, executing, reviewing and reforming 
their vigilance work. The State’s Anti-Corruption Department enforces the prevention of corruption 
in the state departments. In addition, the scope of statuary audits conducted by C&AG includes 
prevention and detection of fraud and corruption. The Right to Information Act, 2005 has also 
brought transparency in the system and reduced corruption. 
 
49. Program governance and accountability framework. The Manual issued by MOE for 
Samagra Shiksha requires implementing agencies, bidders, contractors, suppliers, etc. to 
observe the highest standards of ethics during the procurement and execution of government 
contracts and has strict provisions for any fraud and corruption. The Manual includes systems for 
monitoring and audit; and accountability mechanisms, involving community monitoring structures. 
ADB’s Anticorruption Policy33 has been communicated to MOE. This includes blacklisting of 
corrupt service providers and program monitoring by ADB’s Office of Anticorruption and Integrity. 
ADB’s guidelines on fraud, corruption, and other prohibited activities for RBL programs are in 
Appendix 6. 
 
50. Probity in procurement. All employees of central and state government are required to 
commit to the Conduct, Discipline and Appeal Rules at the time of joining. The rules include a 
commitment to the statement of ethics. The Manual also clearly define the situations of conflict of 
interest. The government has an elaborate institutional framework, inter alia, for checking probity 
in public procurement. Apart from the C&AG, Central Vigilance Commission, and Central Bureau 
of Investigation, the Competition Commission of India also examine the anticompetitive elements 
and can impose a penalty if it finds evidence for involvement in anticompetitive activities. Apart 
from the institutional mechanism, the state governments have put in place procedures for 
blacklisting of bidders and details are uploaded by the state governments on their e-Procurement 
portal. In addition to these institutional mechanisms, the state governments have procedures for 
blacklisting of bidders and details are uploaded by the state governments on their e-Procurement 
portal. The procurement process commencement in the state procuring entities is subject to the 
approval of the budget by the state government board. The Department of Administrative Reforms 
& Public Grievances of the Government of India has issued Record Retention Schedule in 
Respect of Records Common to All Ministries/Departments 2012 to ensure that there is uniformity 
in retention schedule of records of common nature and to ensure that files are neither prematurely 
destroyed nor kept for period longer than necessary. Accordingly, files, papers, and documents 
relating to contracts, agreements, etc., have to be retained for 5 years after the 
contract/agreement is fulfilled or terminated unless audit objection or otherwise.34 All decisions 
related to procurement and other financial transactions are subject to statutory audit by the state’s 
Accountant General. The procurement decisions are also subject to audit by C&AG in case central 
government funds have been used by the RBL program.   
 
51. Key risks and mitigation measures. The procurement under the RBL program does not 
cover any high-value contracts but mostly procurement routinely undertaken under Samagra 
Shiksha. The MOE’s Samagra Shiksha and its preceding schemes (Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan and 
Rashtriya Madhyamik Shiksha Abhiyan) have been implementing larger scope of activities and 

 
 
33 ADB. 1998. Anticorruption Policy. Manila.  
34 Appendix 13 of ‘Destruction of Office Records Connected with Accounts’ of Record Retention Schedule in Respect 

of Records Common to All Ministries/ Departments  

https://www.adb.org/documents/anticorruption-policy
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no major issues related to fraud and corruption have been observed. The use of PFMS for tracking 
of fund disbursement and provisions of internal and statutory audit by independent chartered 
accountants have made financial transaction transparent. In view of the scope of RBL program 
and MOE’s experience with central scheme implementation across the states, the corruption risk 
is assessed low. Nevertheless, the RBL program will further strengthen the implementation of 
anticorruption mechanisms by: (i) monitoring the issues in the C&AG audit reports related to 
implementing anticorruption and transparency requirements in the Manual of Samagra Shiksha, 
and (ii) ensuring that complaints handling mechanisms are in place across the program states for 
the RBL program.  
 
C. Eligible Expenditures and Satisfying Procurement Member Country Eligibility 

Restrictions 
  

52. As per ADB’s policy on RBL (as amended from time to time as per the RBL policy and the 
staff guidance note), procurement involving high-value contracts, where the value is equivalent to 
or greater than the specified amounts per contract,35 will be excluded from the program scope 
and eligible expenditure sum. The program will also exclude procurement from any non-ADB 
member country.36  
 
53. Following the Guidelines to Prevent or Mitigate Fraud, Corruption, and Other Prohibited 
Activities in Results-Based Lending for Programs (Appendix 6), state-level program management 
units need to request access to be given user identification and passwords to ADB’s 
Anticorruption Sanction List in order to ensure that they do not award any contract to the 
sanctioned entities.  
 
54. ADB funds under the program will not be applied to the activities described in the ADB 
prohibited investment activities list set forth in Appendix 4 of the Safeguard Policy Statement 
(SPS).37 The government will ensure that their investments are in compliance with applicable 
national laws and regulations and will apply the prohibited investment activities list to activities in 
the program supported by ADB funds.  
 
55. Any civil work activity that triggers involuntary resettlement issues will be deemed as 
ineligible expenditure for ADB financing; therefore, deducted from the total eligible expenditures.  
 
56. Based on the audited financial statements from the states, the DOSE&L under MOE will 
certify that the total RBL program expenditures minus the following ineligible items are equal or 
more than ADB financing: 
 

(i) high-value contracts as per the RBL policy (footnote 35); 
(ii) contracts procured from non-ADB member countries;  

 
 
35 The current amounts that define high-value contracts (as amended from time to time as per the RBL policy and the 

staff guidance note) are $50 million for works, turnkey and supply, and installation contracts; $30 million for goods; 
$20 million for information technology systems and non-consulting services; and $15 million for consulting services. 

36 See para. 17 in ADB. Staff Guidance for Piloting Results-Based Lending for Programs. Manila; and ADB. 2018. 
Supplementary Staff Guidance. Manila. 

37 See Appendix 5 in ADB. 2009. Safeguard Policy Statement. Manila.  

https://lnadbg6.adb.org/spd0026p.nsf/pdfjs/web/viewer.html?open&url=https://lnadbg6.adb.org/spd0026p.nsf/0/7ea65a011f573ae14825835f000c9a3d/$file/staff%20guidance%20%20for%20piloting%20rbl%20for%20programs_5%20december%202018_final.pdf?openelement
https://lnadbg6.adb.org/spd0026p.nsf/pdfjs/web/viewer.html?open&url=https://lnadbg6.adb.org/spd0026p.nsf/0/7ea65a011f573ae14825835f000c9a3d/$file/supplementary%20rbl%20guidance_14%20december%202018_final_.pdf?openelement
https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/32056/safeguard-policy-statement-june2009.pdf


29 
 

 
 

(iii) any contract that is awarded under the small and medium enterprise preference 
scheme of the Government of India;38 

(iv) any contract that is awarded to ADB-sanctioned entities; 
(v) any activity described in the prohibited investment activities as per ADB’s SPS; 

and  
(vi) any civil work activity that triggers involuntary resettlement issues as per ADB’s 

SPS.   
 
57. The DOSE&L certification can be based on its assessment of eligible expenditures at least 
equal to or exceeding ADB financing based on the review of the audited financial statements from 
states covered by the program. DOSE&L’s certification will be on annual basis, at the time of audit 
report submission.  
 
D. Safeguard Systems 
 
58. The program’s safeguard system was assessed by reviewing national- and state-level 
policies and regulations and the institutional capacity for addressing the safeguard risks. The RBL 
program is categorized B for environment, C for involuntary resettlement, and B for indigenous 
peoples according to ADB’s Safeguard Policy Statement (2009). The program will support 
upgrading works for learning (e.g., classrooms and libraries) and sanitation facilities of the existing 
schools that are being designated as exemplar schools. The works will take place at the existing 
school premises; hence, there will be no land acquisition, resettlement, and legacy issues. The 
minor upgrading works are likely to cause minimal, temporary, and reversible environmental 
impacts that could be easily mitigated through environmental management plans (EMP). The 
program safeguard system assessment (PSSA)39 reviewed national- and state-level 
environmental safeguard frameworks and the institutional capacity for addressing the safeguard 
risks. The assessment found that adequate relevant policies and regulations are in place. Yet, it 
identified a few gaps in the areas of site screening, assessment, management plans, and 
monitoring, for which gap-filling measures are proposed with eligibility criteria of exemplar 
schools, implementation of EMPs, and submission of semiannual monitoring reports. The 
safeguard system related to indigenous peoples indicates no adverse impacts. The RBL program 
will improve the quality of government schools and provide learning enhancement for students, 
with special attention to those from scheduled tribe and scheduled caste groups. Hence, the 
program is expected to have positive impacts on the quality of education for indigenous peoples. 
Some measures to ensure the program’s positive impacts are in the PAP, including consultations 
with indigenous peoples communities. Activities with potential category A impacts in environment 
or social safeguards will be excluded from the program. 
 
59.  Specific environmental and social safeguards action plans are incorporated into PAP. The 
PSSA recommends the strengthening of institutional capacity for safeguard monitoring, with the 
engagement of environment and social safeguard specialists at the national- and state-level 
implementing agencies. The sample screening checklist and generic environmental management 
plan to be used for contracts and monitoring are included in the PSSA. State-level social and 
environmental specialists will ensure the timely screening and incorporation of EMPs in contracts 
and provide capacity building training to district or school-level officials.  

 
 
38 The proportion of the procurement affected by SME preference will be a small portion; therefore, majority of the 

program will be without any price preference. As ADB is financing less than 28% of total program expenditures, it is 
reasonable to say that ADB financing is deemed to cover contracts that are not using SME preference. 

39 Program Safeguard System Assessment (accessible from the list of linked documents in Appendix 2 of the Report 
and Recommendation of the President).  
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E. Gender and Social Dimensions  
 
60. The program is categorized as effective gender mainstreaming. It has a strong gender 
focus as it aims to improve educational outcomes for all learners. The program will promote 
proactive measures on gender and social inclusion as part of PAP to ensure the program’s 
benefits to women and those from scheduled tribes or schedule castes and other disadvantaged 
groups. They include: (i) the inclusion of girls’ only schools in the final list of exemplar schools 
across the program states; (ii) provision of adequate sex-segregated sanitation facilities in 
exemplar schools; (iii) state-level plans to prevent dropouts incorporate specific schemes to retain 
girls, those from scheduled tribe/scheduled caste/other backwards classes groups; (iv) inclusion 
of female specific targets for capacity development of teachers, school leaders, state councils of 
educational research and training, district institutes of education and training, and field staff; (v) 
training for teachers and principals including a module on gender and socially inclusive education; 
(vi) all learning-teaching contents are gender and socially inclusive; and (vii) state MIS and all 
monitoring data are segregated by gender and social category.  
 
61. Out of the nine DLIs, eight incorporate specific gender targets or measures to improve 
female opportunities in learning or in the state education system. The PAP includes DLI-related 
and additional gender actions to be implemented under the RBL program. The progress in DLIs 
and PAP related to gender will be incorporated in the regular program progress reports.   
 
F. Communication and Information Disclosure Arrangements 
 
62. Information from Samagra Shiksha at the state-level will be communicated and disclosed 
through the SIS and related agencies’ websites. Information disclosure requirements will follow 
relevant rules and regulations. Community engagement and stakeholder outreach will ensure the 
participation of beneficiaries, especially the poor and socially disadvantaged groups such as 
scheduled tribe and scheduled caste groups. This will be monitored through the state-level or 
local authority-based grievance redress mechanisms enabled through the government’s Right of 
Children to Free and Compulsory Education Act (2009).  
 
G. Development Coordination 
 
63. ADB has coordinated with multilateral and bilateral development partners during project 
design to complement ongoing support for school education and avoid duplication efforts. In 2020, 
the World Bank has approved a loan of $500 million to support MOE’s Samagra Shiksha to 
improve the quality and governance of school education in six states: Himachal Pradesh, Kerala, 
Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra, Odisha, and Rajasthan.40 The proposed RBL program will 
complement the World Bank’s program by focusing on five states on a similar initiative aimed at 
improving the quality of state’s school education. ADB is coordinating closely with the World Bank 
to ensure that there are no overlaps in the expenditure frameworks, while trying to augment 
complementary support both at the central and state levels. MOE is expected to facilitate a 
common platform to share cross-learning across the two programs and among the states. MOE 
may also facilitate possible join reviews and collaborative meetings.  
 
 
 

 
 
40 The program is called Strengthening Teacher-Learning and Results for States. 
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V. INTEGRATED RISKS AND MITIGATING MEASURES 
 
64. The program assessment and program systems assessments carried out as a part of the 
program due diligence have identified the following key risks. The risks and their mitigation 
measures will be monitored during the program implementation and any changes in the risk profile 
or impact will be updated to inform any corrective actions. ADB and the program stakeholders, 
led by MOE will discuss key risks during the review missions (Table 9), to be updated as 
necessary.  
 

Table 9: Risk Assessment and Risk Management Plan 

Risks 

Rating 
Without the 
Mitigating 
Measures Key Mitigating Measures 

Results 
Inadequate planning and varying 
implementation capacity across 
five states and the MOE could 
lead to delays in timely 
achievement of results and DLIs.  

Substantial (i) Each state developed a 5-year perspective plan 
and a results framework with annual targets for the 
RBL program to guide their annual planning, 
implementation sequencing, and budget 
preparations; (ii) a PMU will be set up within the 
MOE to monitor timely progress of the program 
across the states; (iii) the program states will also 
have a designated program implementation unit 
within the SIS for implementation and DLI 
achievement, along with required experts; and (iv) 
an ADB TA will engage a technical support team to 
monitor implementation progress and provide 
technical advice to the state teams as needed.a 

Deployment of subject teachers 
at the secondary level may be 
delayed and not adequately 
implemented. 

Substantial Deployment of subject teachers and school leaders 
is included as a DLI for exemplar schools. The 
selection criteria for exemplar schools require the 
adequate availability of these human resources. In 
addition, with the provision of information and 
communication technology facilities and digital 
content, distance learning will be provided in areas 
facing significant challenges in deploying subject 
teachers.   

The states may face challenges 
in implementing relatively new 
learning enhancement programs 
such as STEAM, pre-vocational 
education, and procurement of 
educational technology 
programs.  

Moderate For STEAM and pre-vocational education, the MOE 
will carry out consultations across the states and 
prepare national guidelines for national and state 
curriculum frameworks. ADB TA will also support 
the states with practice guidance and advice on 
various options for smooth implementation.   

Limited capacity of school and 
field officials to use state 
education management 
information systems may affect 
the timeliness and accurate 
monitoring of program 
interventions.    

Moderate (i) The initial setup of the program-related 
monitoring indicators is included as a prior result for 
DLIs; and (ii) capacity building for district, block, and 
cluster officials to support the monitoring process is 
part of the program’s interventions for system 
strengthening and is included in the results 
framework.  

Expenditure and financing  
Varying capacity across the five 
states may undermine 

Substantial The program states developed a state-level results 
framework with annual targets to help their AWP&B 
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Risks 

Rating 
Without the 
Mitigating 
Measures Key Mitigating Measures 

implementation progress and 
subsequent utilization of planned 
expenditures for key intervention 
areas. 

planning under the RBL program, which will be 
submitted as part of the Samagra Shiksha approval 
process. The program will also strengthen the 
states’ capacity by (i) supporting financial 
management and procurement actions identified in 
the PAP; and (ii) providing technical support to 
weakly performing states through ADB TA.  

The government may not 
allocate adequate funding for 
quality interventions under the 
RBL program to achieve the 
required results.  

Low India’s New Education Policy 2020 puts great 
emphasis on foundational learning and numeracy, 
21st century skills acquisition, and other quality 
improvement interventions.a The Foundational 
Literacy and Numeracy Mission was established in 
2020 to enhance foundational learning interventions 
with rigorous targets. These initiatives have been 
further incorporated under Samagra Shiksha to 
ensure adequate budget allocation.   

Fiduciary 
The Samagra Shiksha financial 
management framework, 
although robust, is not 
consistently applied by all states 
because of staff capacity issues 
and gaps in the application and 
enforcement of existing 
procedures across states, 
including delayed submission of 
utilization certificates. This may 
delay funds flow from MOE to 
the states. 

Substantial The states, with ADB TA support, will (i) review 
ongoing practices and gaps in bookkeeping, 
account maintenance, reporting, flow of funds, and 
audit observation follow-up; (ii) develop a capacity 
building plan; and (iii) support training and capacity 
building during program implementation.  

The states have different 
procedures for banking, which 
may make it difficult for ADB to 
track the flow of funds under the 
RBL program.  

Substantial States will open a separate bank account at the 
state SIS, which will be used for deposit of central 
government (ADB) funds and state funds for the 
RBL program. Funds will be deposited directly from 
the state treasury to the accounts. 

Long-standing control and 
process issues and perceived 
delays in actions on audit 
recommendations make the 
audit process ineffective and 
create risk in internal control 
systems.  

Substantial MOE, with ADB TA support, will evaluate states’ 
mechanisms for follow-up of statutory and recurrent 
audit recommendations within 6 months of loan 
effectiveness. MOE will require that states monitor 
resolution of independent and internal audit 
observations in their progress reporting 
mechanisms and submit to ADB financial 
management progress reports every 6 months, 60 
days after the end of the period, with RBL program 
financial information, summary of actions taken, and 
status of the implementation of financial 
management activities. 

The submission of the program 
audited financial statements and 
audit reports to ADB may be 
delayed, because all the state 
audits should be completed 

Moderate The MOE will monitor the timely appointment and 
submission of statutory audit reports by five states 
and follow-up audit observations. MOE will ensure 
that annual audited program financial statements 
are submitted to ADB, following the statement of 
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Risks 

Rating 
Without the 
Mitigating 
Measures Key Mitigating Measures 

before the preparation of 
program audited financial 
statements. 

audit needs, within 9 months after the end of each 
fiscal year (i.e., by 31 December).    

Insufficient capacity in 
procurement planning leads to 
procurement delays.  

Moderate (i) Procurement plans are to be integrated into 
AWP&B by the states; (ii) the MOE, with ADB TA 
support, will organize training to improve 
procurement planning and contract management; 
and (iii) the states will also be assisted in setting up 
procurement capacity development training for 
relevant SIS staff.   

Inadequate transparency in 
public disclosure of procurement 
information could lead to failure 
to comply with good 
procurement practices.  

Moderate The latest procurement plan will be uploaded in the 
department’s website, including annual procurement 
plans of the RBL program. This requirement is 
included as part of the PAP.  

Governance and integrity 
Varying capacity across the 
program states may result in 
limited enforcement of existing 
institutional arrangements for 
prevention of fraud and 
corruption. 

Low (i) The Comptroller and Auditor General’s audit 
reports will be monitored for issues related to the 
implementation of anticorruption and transparency 
requirements in the Samagra Shiksha Financial 
Management and Procurement Manual; and (ii) 
anticorruption and integrity orientations will be 
provided to the MOE and program states during 
inception. 

The program states may not 
have a specific mechanism for 
handling complaints related to 
program activities. 

Low The states will have grievance redress mechanisms 
in place to handle issues related to the RBL 
program.   

Safeguards 
Upgrading and refurbishment 
activities for learning facilities 
could create short-term 
environmental impacts, such as 
generation of waste, noise, dust 
and pollution; water 
contamination; and issues on 
labor conduct and safety.   

Low The risks can be mitigated through the 
implementation of EMPs. In each state, the project 
implementation unit will include an environmental 
safeguard specialist to monitor EMP implementation 
and provide semiannual reports to the MOE and 
ADB.  

Operating environment 
Escalation of the COVID-19 
pandemic and/or COVID-19-
related guidelines may cause 
delays in school reopening and 
program implementation; 
prolonged COVID-19 may widen 
disparities in poverty and social 
groups and affect learning and 
retention in schools.. 

Substantial (i) Experience with remote learning will be leveraged 
based on good practices developed during the 
pandemic, including the use of local digital contents; 
(ii) the program is structured to complete all activity 
plans during the first year, such as learning material 
development and teacher training planning, which 
can minimize the prolonged impacts of COVID-19; 
and (iii) program outputs are designed specifically to 
address COVID-19 related learning loss and 
retention in schools.      

Institutional inertia and 
bureaucratic and political 

Low There is high-level government commitment to 
education reforms, particularly to improving the 
quality of learning. The program’s interventions are 
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Risks 

Rating 
Without the 
Mitigating 
Measures Key Mitigating Measures 

changes may cause delays in 
program implementation. 

closely linked to central and state government 
educational priorities, including recovery from 
COVID-19 impacts.  

Overall RBL program risk Substantial  
ADB = Asian Development Bank; AWP&B = annual work plan and budget; COVID-19 = coronavirus disease; DLI = 
disbursement-linked indicator; EMP = environmental management plan; MOE = Ministry of Education; PAP = program 
action plan, PMU = program management unit; RBL = results-based lending; SIS = State Implementation Society; 
STEAM = science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics; TA = technical assistance.  
Note: Risk factors are assessed against two dimensions: (i) the likelihood that the risk will occur, and (ii) the impact of 
the risk on the outcome. Rating scale: low = low likelihood and low impact; moderate = substantial to high likelihood 
but low to moderate impact; substantial = low to moderate likelihood but substantial to high impact; high = high likelihood 
and high impact.  
a The proposed Technical Assistance to India for Strengthening State Education Capacity to Improve Results to 

support the RBL program is being processed. 
b Government of India, MOE. 2020. National Education Policy 2020. New Delhi.  
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
 

VI. PROGRAM ACTION PLAN 
 
65. The PAP consists of the key technical and program system actions that are derived from 
the technical due diligence and program systems assessment to ensure the program objectives 
are met, by supporting DLI achievement as well as addressing the risks (Table 9). It aims at further 
strengthening program systems to ensure sustainability of the results and system capacity. 
Progress in PAP implementation will be monitored quarterly and will be reviewed and discussed 
with MOE and State Implementing Societies during ADB review mission.  
 

Table 10: Program Action Plan 
(as of October 2021) 

Actions  
Responsible 

Agency 
Time Frame for 
Implementation 

Area 1: Technical Aspects  
1.1. Finalize incentive mechanisms and/or school performance 

rating systems for exemplar schools to ensure the 
ownership of quality interventions, timely implementation 
of school quality improvement plans, and target 
achievement of all activities. 

All program 
states  

October 2022  

1.2. Finalize the state’s plan to establish school clusters or 
complexes in line with the National Education Policy 2020, 
including the role of exemplar schools as cluster heads or 
hosts and the role of cluster headmasters or principals 
with respect to all schools in the cluster.   

All program 
states  

March 2022  

1.3. Complete the gap analysis of school leaders (principals or 
headmasters) in all exemplar schools (April 2022) and 
ensure to fill all vacancies of school leader posts in 
exemplar schools. 

All program 
states  

March 2022 

1.4. Finalize the state-level plan for mainstreaming digital 
education that includes (i) developing digital content 
library (for specific subjects and grades, as well as other 
content such as for 21st century skills) in suitable 
language based on the state’s medium of instruction; (ii) 

All program 
states  

March 2023 

https://www.mhrd.gov.in/sites/upload_files/mhrd/files/NEP_Final_English_0.pdf
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Actions  
Responsible 

Agency 
Time Frame for 
Implementation 

finalizing technology platforms for delivery across different 
target schools (e.g., smart classes, tablets, projectors, 
and smartphones); (iii) developing SOPs for usage of 
digital contents in classroom and for at-home education; 
and (iv) roll-out plan across schools.  

1.5. Finalize the state-level plan/approach to integrating 
vocational education in secondary grades (December 
2022), approve grade-wise curriculum framework (June 
2023), and develop teaching-learning resources for 
implementation (December 2023).  

Tamil Nadu,  
Jharkhand,  

Gujarat and Aam  

December 2022– 
December 2023  
(as specified for 

each action)  

1.6. Finalize the types of 21st century skills learning programs 
(December 2022), engage the implementing partners to 
develop curriculum frameworks or learning guides (June 
2023), and secure all teaching-learning resources for 
implementation (December 2023).     

All program 
states  

December 2022– 
December 2023  
(as specified for 

each action)  

1.7. The participating states conducts appraisals for each of 
foundational learning, STEAM, and other LEPs to update 
the plans or adjust any aspects of preparations (e.g., 
materials and teacher training).   

All program 
states 

December 2025 

1.8. Review and define/refine the structure, roles, and 
responsibilities of field organization staff; undertake 
restructuring and integration efforts in line with Samagra 
Shiksha requirements.  

All program 
states  

March 2023  

Area 2: Gender and Social Inclusion   
2.1. Ensure to include girls-only schools in the list of exemplar 

schools and schools with high ST populations.  
All program 

states  
December 2021  

2.2. State plans for prevention of dropouts incorporate specific 
schemes or interventions to retain female students, 
females and males from ST, SC, OBC groups, and 
females and males from remote locations  
(e.g., scholarships and transportation support).  

All program 
states  

September 2022  

2.3. Quality improvement plans ensure to provide sex-
segregated sanitation facilities in all exemplar schools. 

All program 
states 

During program 
implementation 

2.4. Undertake awareness raising and outreach activities, 
targeted at ST and other disadvantaged groups to ensure 
school participation after COVID-19 and prevent dropouts. 

All program 
states 

During program 
implementation 

2.5. Include female trainees in the group of school leaders 
receiving training on management and instruction 
leadership development (% female targets: Assam TBD; 
Gujarat 25%; Jharkhand 25%; Tamil Nadu 55%; 
Uttarakhand 55%). 

All program 
states  

April 2023–
March 2027   

2.6. Provide capacity building training for SCERT, DIET, and 
other field staff include specific gender targets that are 
equal to or greater than overall female shares.    

All program 
states  

April 2023–
March 2027  

2.7. Ensure all capacity building training for teachers and 
school leaders include modules on gender equality and 
social inclusion in education.  

All program 
states  

April 2023–
March 2027  

2.8. Ensure that contents for foundational learning and digital 
mainstreaming are gender and socially inclusive.  

All program 
states  

April 2023–
March 2027  
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Actions  
Responsible 

Agency 
Time Frame for 
Implementation 

2.9. All state monitoring and performance reports should 
include data disaggregated by sex and social category 
(e.g., ST and SC), which may include, but not limited to, 
enrollment, dropouts, teacher training participation, etc.  

All program 
states   

  

April 2023– 
March 2027  

  

Area 3: Financial Management  
3.1. Conduct gap assessments of state implementing societies 

in accounting, staffing, reporting, flow and management of 
funds, and tracking audit observations, and identify 
capacity building programs for areas of improvements. 

MOE and all 
program states 
with TA support  

December 2022  

3.2.  Submit financial management progress reports to ADB 
with RBL program financial information, summary of 
qualifications or observations and actions taken, and 
status of the implementation of TA financial management 
activities (every 6 months, 60 days after the end of the 
period)  

MOE and all 
program states 
with TA support  

September 2022 
and 60 days after 

end of period   

3.3. Prepare annual audited program financial statements 
(overall RBL program and ADB portion separately) in and 
MOE certificate of compliance in accordance with the 
Statement of Audit Needs (Appendix 5 of the PID) and 
submit, along with the auditor’s certification on compliance 
with ADB’s Loan and Program Agreements and 
management letter to ADB by 31 December every year.  

MOE and all 
program states  

Audit reports by  
31 December 

each year  

Area 4: Procurement   
4.1. Ensure the integration of annual procurement plans into 

annul work plan and budget by the states.  
All program 

states  
 Annually 

 
4.2. Improve the procurement planning and contract 

management by building the capacity of procurement 
staff; develop and implement procurement capacity 
development training for the procurement staff of State 
Implementation Societies with support from ADB TA.   

All program 
states 

September 2022- 
September 2025 

4.3. The procurement plan for each year must be posted on 
all the relevant websites within one month of the fiscal 
year; and procurement information to be readily available 
on the website.   

All program 
states  

December 2022 
and regularly 

  

Area 5: Environment and Social Safeguards    
5.1. Screen exemplar schools for potential IR and IP impacts 

using a social screening checklist in the PSSA. 
All program 

states 
During program 
implementation 

5.2. The program states, especially Assam, Gujarat, and 
Jharkhand, will undertake consultations in a culturally 
appropriate manner with ST communities to ensure the 
program’s benefits in learning interventions in exemplar 
and cluster schools.  

Assam, Gujarat, 
and Jharkhand 

During program 
implementation 

5.3. The program states will appoint nodal officers for 
environment safeguards and social safeguards in the 
State Implementation Societies to monitor school 
improvement activities under the RBL program, provide 
capacity building on relevant staff at local and school 
levels, and prepare semiannual monitoring reports. These 
nodal officers will be supported by environmental and 

All program 
states  

By December 
2022  
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Actions  
Responsible 

Agency 
Time Frame for 
Implementation 

social safeguard specialists who will implement the EMP 
and social action plans.   

5.4. The program states, with support from environment 
safeguard specialists, will ensure the inclusion of 
environment management plans in all contracts related to 
school improvement activities.    

 All program 
states supported  
by environment 

specialists   

January 2023–
March 2027  

5.5. All program states will submit semiannual environment 
and safeguard monitoring reports as part of the program 
performance reports to MOE and MOE will submit 
consolidated reports to ADB.  

MOE and all 
program states  

Every 6 months 

5.6. MOE will appoint a focal person on safeguard issues to 
ensure all environment and social safeguard requirements 
are complied with according to loan and project 
agreements, ESMP, and PAP, and submit consolidated 
reports to ADB.   

 

MOE  Every 6 months  

Area 6: Project Management     
6.1. The program states will set up a project implementation 

unit within the State Implementation Society with the 
appointment of the project coordinator who will be 
responsible for day-to-day implementation of RBL 
program. The PIU should also include a qualified financial 
officer, procurement officer, and monitoring/report officer, 
along with other experts as required by each state.  

All program 
states  

December 2021  

6.2. Annual Work Plan and Budget documents of Samagra 
Shiksha for FY2023–2027 will reflect the complementary 
support (both proposed and ongoing interventions) as 
required by the RBL program.   

All program 
states  

April 2022–March 
2027  

ADB = Asian Development Bank; COVID-19 = coronavirus disease; DIET = district institute for education and training; 
DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; IP = indigenous peoples; IR = involuntary resettlement; FY = fiscal year; ESMP = 
environmental and social management plan; LEP = learning enhancement program; MOE = Ministry of Education; OBC 
= other backward castes; PAP = program action plan; PID = program implementation document; PIU = program 
implementation unit; PMU = project management unit; PSSA = program safeguards systems assessment; Q = quarter; 
RBL = results-based lending; SC = scheduled caste; SOPs = standard operating procedures; ST = scheduled tribe; 
STEAM = science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics; TA = technical assistance; TBD = to be determined. 
Source: Asian Development Bank.  
 

VII. MONITORING OF KEY PROGRAM COVENANTS 

66. The compliance status of key program covenants set forth in loan and program 
agreements will be shared with ADB through the submission of program progress reports by 
MOE, which will be reviewed and confirmed through ADB’s regular review missions. The aide 
memoires during review missions will summarize major issues and compliance status of program 
covenants, along with remedial measures to address the issues.  
 

VIII. ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM 
 
67. The Accountability Mechanism provides an independent forum and process whereby 
people adversely affected by ADB-assisted operations can voice, and seek a resolution of their 
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problems, as well as report alleged violations of ADB’s operational policies and procedures.41 
People who are, or may in the future be, adversely affected by a program supported by RBL may 
submit complaints to ADB’s Accountability Mechanism. 
 
68. Before submitting a complaint to the Accountability Mechanism, affected people should 
make a good faith effort to resolve their problems and/or issues by working with the concerned 
ADB operations department. Only after doing that, and if they are still dissatisfied, they approach 
the Accountability Mechanism. 
 

IX. PROGRAM ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND FOCAL STAFF 
 
A. Organizational Structure  

 
B. Program Officers and Focal Persons 
 

Table 11: Program Officers and Focal Persons 
(as of November 2021)  

 

Number Key Government Staff and Positions Key ADB Staff and Positions 
1 Mr. Vipin Kumar, IAS 

Joint Secretary 
Department of School Education and 
Literacy 
Ministry of Education 
Government of India  
  

Sungsup Ra 
Director 
Human and Social Development Division  
South Asia Department 
 
Sunhwa Lee 
Principal Social Sector Specialist 
Human and Social Development Division  2 Mr. Rahul Pachori 

 
 
41 ADB. 2012. Accountability Mechanism Policy 2012. Manila.  

Figure 2: Organizational Structure 
 

 
 
Source: Government of India, Ministry of Education. 
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Number Key Government Staff and Positions Key ADB Staff and Positions 
Under Secretary 
Department of School Education and 
Literacy 
Ministry of Education 
Government of India     

South Asia Department 
 
Kanupriya Gupta 
Senior Economics Officer 
India Resident Mission     

Source: Asian Development Bank 
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APPENDIX 1: DESIGN AND MONITORING FRAMEWORK   
 
 

Impact the Program is Aligned with 
High-quality education provided to all for India’s equitable and vibrant knowledge economy. (National Education 
Policy 2020)a 

 

Results Chain Performance Indicators 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms 

Risks and 
Critical 

Assumptions 
Outcome By 2028:   
Education 
outcomes in 
primary and 
secondary 
schools 
improved in the 
five participating 
states 

a. The share of students in program schools (exemplar 
and cluster schools)b achieving the minimum 
proficiency in grade 3 language and math increased by 
at least 4 percentage points on average from 
statewide baselines (DLI 1) (Statewide baselines to be 
established by year 1) (OP 1.1.1) 
 
b. The share of students in program schools (exemplar 
and cluster schools)b in five states achieving the 
minimum proficiency in grade 3 language and math 
increased by at least 2 percentage points on average 
from year 3 (DLI 1) (Baselines to be established for 
program schools by year 3) (OP 1.1.1) 
 
c. Dropout rates (from grade 9 to10) decreased by at 
least 8% over the post-COVID-19 baseline for male 
and female students in secondary exemplar schools 
across five states (DLI 2)  
(Baselines to be established by year 2) (OP 1.1.1)   

a.–b. State 
program 
performance 
reports on learning 
assessments 
(national 
achievement 
survey results) 
 
c. State MIS 
reports and 
program 
performance 
reports 

R: COVID-19 
impacts may 
widen 
disparities in 
poverty and 
social groups 
and may affect 
learning and 
retention in 
schools. 

Outputs By 2027:   
R: Varying 
capacities of 
states to design 
and implement 
interventions 
may affect the 
targeted 
progress. 

1. Quality 
government 
schools with 
equitable access 
increased  

1a. About 1,800 government schools transformed into 
exemplar schools in five states, including girls’ only 
schoolsc (DLI 3) (2021 baseline: Not applicable)  
(OP 3.2; 6.2) 
 
1b. At least 1,400 exemplar schools (out of total 1,800 
exemplar schools) improved learning environments 
with sex-segregated sanitation facilities, science labs, 
libraries, or BaLA across five states 
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 1.3.1; 2.1.4) 
 
1c. At least 1,400 exemplar schools equipped with 
facilities for children with special needs (e.g., 
handrails, ramps, and braille books) 
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 1.3.1; 6.2) 
 
1d. At least 1,400 exemplar schools and 10,000 
cluster schools (out of total 14,000 cluster schools) 
equipped with digital infrastructure (e.g., internet 
capability and smart classrooms), including girls’ only 
schools (2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 1.3.1; 6.2) 
 
1e. At least 900 secondary exemplar schools equipped 
with required subject teachers based on state 
guidelines (% female targets: Assam 40%, Gujarat 
45%, Jharkhand 30%, Tamil Nadu 70%, Uttarakhand 
40%) (DLI 4) (2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2) 
 
1f. At least 900 secondary exemplar schools 
implemented interventions to improve retention of at-
risk and disadvantaged student segments (girls, 

1a.–1b., 1d. State 
exemplar school 
reports and state 
program 
performance 
reports, PMU 
reports  
 
 
 
 
1c., 1e.–1f. State 
exemplar school 
reports, PMU 
reports, exemplar 
school inspection 
reports by SCERT 

https://www.education.gov.in/sites/upload_files/mhrd/files/NEP_Final_English_0.pdf
https://www.education.gov.in/sites/upload_files/mhrd/files/NEP_Final_English_0.pdf
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Results Chain Performance Indicators 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms 

Risks and 
Critical 

Assumptions 
scheduled castes, scheduled tribes, and others) (2021 
baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2)   

2. Quality and 
relevance of 
learning 
improved 

By 2027: 
2a. At least 10,000 primary program schools 
(exemplar and cluster schools) implemented well-
designed LEPs for foundational learning across five 
states, ensuring gender- and socially inclusive 
contents (DLI 5) (2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 
6.2) 
 
2b. At least 4,500 secondary program schools 
(exemplar and cluster schools) implemented courses 
which incorporate 21st century skills to enhance 
employability (2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2) 
 
2c. At least 10,000 program schools across five states 
mainstreamed the use of digital contents, ensuring 
gender- and socially inclusive contents  
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2) 
 
2d. At least 750 secondary exemplar schools across 
five states implemented STEAM LEPs using 
individualized learning or activity-based learning  
(DLI 6) (2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2) 
 
2e. At least 750 secondary exemplar schools across 
five states operationalized vocational orientation 
courses (2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2) 
  
2f. State assessment cells for improved state 
assessment systems (e.g., designs, administration 
process, data collection and analysis) established and 
operationalized by at least three states (2021 baseline: 
Not applicable) (OP 6.2)  

 
2a.–2f. State 
program 
performance 
reports, state MIS, 
and PMU reports 

 

3. Capacity of 
teachers and 
school leaders 
enhanced 

By 2027: 
3a. At least 72,000 teachers across five states 
completed training on LEPs (e.g., foundational literacy 
and numeracy, STEAM, and 21st century skills) using 
blended mode (% female targets: Assam 40%, Gujarat 
45%, Jharkhand 30%, Tamil Nadu 70%, and 
Uttarakhand 40%) (DLI 7) 
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 2.3.2; 6.1.1) 
 
3b. At least 11,760 school leaders across five states 
completed training on management and instructional 
leadership modules (% female targets: Assam (to be 
determined), Gujarat 30%, Jharkhand 25%, Tamil 
Nadu 55%, Uttarakhand 55%) (2021 baseline: Not 
applicable) (OP 2.3.1; 6.1.1) 
 
3c. At least 72,000 teachers and 11,760 school 
leaders completed training in mainstreaming gender 
equality and social inclusion in education 
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 2.3.1; 6.1.1) 
 
3d. At least 1,500 SCERT and DIET staff trained in the 
areas of assessments, curriculum and pedagogy, 
teacher training, digital contents, or online education 

 
3a.–3d. State 
program 
performance 
reports, state MIS, 
and PMU reports 
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Results Chain Performance Indicators 

Data Sources 
and Reporting 
Mechanisms 

Risks and 
Critical 

Assumptions 
(% female targets: Assam 35%, Gujarat 40%, 
Jharkhand 35%, Tamil Nadu 55%, Uttarakhand 65%)   
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 2.3.2; 6.1.1) 

4. Management 
of school 
education 
system 
strengthened 

By 2022: 
4a. Five state perspective plans developed, along with 
state-level results frameworks for the RBL programd 
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) 
 
By 2027: 
4b. An integrated online MIS dashboard 
operationalized, including modules on students and 
teachers in each state with disaggregated 
demographic data (e.g., gender, scheduled tribe, 
scheduled caste, and OBC) (DLI 8)  
(2021 baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2.1) 
 
4c. State MIS reports prepared with improved data, 
including district level data and disaggregated by 
gender and social category (scheduled tribe, 
scheduled caste, and OBC) across five states (2021 
baseline: Not applicable) (OP 6.2.1) 
 
4d. At least 4,000 district, block and cluster level 
officers trained in core areas of academic mentoring 
and monitoring, data-based reviews, and planning 
(2021 baseline: Not applicable)  
(OP 2.3.1; 6.1.1) 

 
4a. Independent 
verification reports 
for prior results 
 
 
4b.–4d. State 
performance 
reports, state MIS, 
and PMU reports 

 

5. National 
guidelines on 
quality state 
education 
strengthened 

By 2027: 
5a. State curriculum frameworks for STEAM and 
vocational education prepared for five program states 
(DLI 9) (2021 baseline: Not applicable) 
 
5b. National curriculum frameworks for STEAM and 
vocational education finalized (DLI 9) (OP 6.2.1) (2021 
baseline: Not applicable) 
 
5c. Training modules on assessment standards for 
state capacity building developed by the national 
assessment center, PARAKH (DLI 9) (2021 baseline: 
Not applicable) 
 
5d. At least four workshops organized by MOE for 
cross-learning from quality interventions and/or 
innovative practices across the states (DLI 9) (2021 
baseline: Not applicable) 

 
5a. State 
performance 
reports, state 
curriculum 
frameworks for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
 
5b. PMU reports, 
national 
curriculum 
frameworks for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
 
5c.–5d. PMU 
reports 

 

Key Program Actions 
1. Quality government schools with equitable access increased  
1.1 Identify and complete the list of government schools to be transformed into exemplar schools (2022). 
1.2 Identify the gaps for required subject teachers and principals or head teachers for exemplar schools (2022). 
1.3 Conduct needs assessments for school facilities, learning environments and resources, and ICT infrastructure 

that require upgrading (2022–2023). 
1.4  Upgrade school facilities and ICT infrastructure and smart technologies for exemplar schools (2023–2027). 
2. Quality and relevance of learning improved 
2.1 Finalize and approve the LEP design and implementation plans for foundational learning (2022–2023). 
2.2  Organize workshops with ADB TA support on STEAM LEP models from other countries (2022–2023).e 
2.3 Finalize LEPs for secondary education, train teachers, and prepare implementation plans (2022–2023). 
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Key Program Actions 
2.4 Finalize vocational education programs for orientation and trade-specific programs, establish partnerships, 

develop curriculum, and finalize implementation plans (2022–2024). 
3. Capacity of teachers and school leaders enhanced 
3.1 Design teacher and school leader capacity development plans based on state needs assessments (2022–2023). 
3.2 Develop and/or adopt training content, engage partners for training delivery, if required (including digital 

courses); incorporate pre- and post-tests for all modules (2022–2023). 
3.3  Register teachers and school leaders for online training opportunities (2022–2023). 
3.4  Conduct training for teachers, school leaders, and staff from SCERTs and DIETs (2023–2027).  
4. Management of school education system strengthened 
4.1 Carry out MIS assessment and finalize improvement plans (2022). 
4.2 Review and refine roles and responsibilities of field staff (2022–2023). 
4.3  Finalize and roll out capacity building program for district and block officers (2023–2027). 
4.4 Roll out new MIS modules to exemplar schools and train relevant officers (2023–2027).  
5. National guidelines on quality state education strengthened 
5.1 Establish national committees for STEAM and vocational educational curriculum frameworks (2022–2023). 
5.2 Organize workshops on STEAM and integrated vocational education models with ADB TA support (2022–2023). 
5.3 The MOE provides templates or guidelines to support state curriculum framework developments (2023). 
5.4 National assessment center (PARAKH) to develop training guidelines on state capacity building for assessment 

standards (2024–2027).  
Key project management-related actions 
• Conduct assessment of practices and gaps in accounting, staffing, reporting, management and flow of funds, 

and tracking of audit observations with ADB TA support by Q2 2023. 
• The MOE to submit financial management progress reports to ADB with RBL program financial information, 

summary of qualifications, observations and actions taken, and status of financial management action plans 
(every 6 months, 60 days after the end of each period) (2023–2027). 

• Ensure the incorporation of environmental management plans in all civil works packages for upgrading works in 
exemplar schools (2023–2027). 

• Submit semiannual safeguard monitoring reports, including the status of implementation of all social and 
environmental safeguard action plans (2023–2027). 

• ADB TA supports monitoring of program activities with technical and capacity building inputs (2022–2025). 
Financing Plan: 
Total program financing (FY2023 to FY2027): $1,885.6 million 
Central government: $844.4 million 
State governments: $541.2 million 
Asian Development Bank: $500.0 million (loan) 

ADB = Asian Development Bank; BaLA = Building as Learning Aid; COVID-19 = coronavirus disease; DIET = district 
institute of education and training; DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; FY = fiscal year; ICT = information and 
communication technology; LEP = learning enhancement program; MIS = management information system; MOE = 
Ministry of Education; OBC = other backward classes; OP = operational priority; PARAKH = Performance Assessment, 
Review, and Analysis of Knowledge for Holistic Development; PMU = program management unit; Q = quarter; R = risk; 
RBL = results-based lending; SCERT = state council of education research and training; STEAM = science, technology, 
engineering, arts, and mathematics; TA = technical assistance. 
a Government of India, MOE. 2020. National Education Policy 2020. New Delhi. 
b The program schools refer to both exemplar schools and cluster schools. Each state will select about 200–500 

exemplar schools and 2,000–3,000 cluster schools, for a total of 1,800 exemplar schools and 14,000 cluster schools 
across the five states. They consist of some integrated primary and secondary schools, while some are separate 
primary or secondary schools. Foundational learning and 21st-century skills will be implemented in both exemplar 
and cluster schools.  

c The exemplar schools are expected to have upgraded learning facilities, sex-segregated sanitation facilities, digital 
infrastructure, and all required learning resources. These schools will also have own principals and core subject 
teachers at the secondary level per each state’s norms or guidelines. All learning interventions under output 2 will be 
implemented in the exemplar schools, including STEAM LEPs which will incorporate the subject on climate and 
disaster risks.  

d The perspective plans are living documents and will be updated during program implementation as needed. 
e The proposed Technical Assistance to India for Strengthening State Education Capacity to Improve Results to 

support the RBL is being processed. 
Contribution to Strategy 2030 Operational Priorities 
The expected values and methodological details for all OP indicators to which this operation will contribute results are 
in Contribution to Strategy 2030 Operational Priorities (accessible from the list of linked documents in Appendix 2). 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 

https://www.education.gov.in/sites/upload_files/mhrd/files/NEP_Final_English_0.pdf
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APPENDIX 2: DISBURSEMENT-LINKED INDICATORS AND VERIFICATION PROTOCOLS 
 

Table A2.1: Disbursement-Linked Indicators  
 

DLIs  
Baseline Value and 

Year 

Target Values  
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

Outcome: Education outcomes in primary and secondary schools improved in the five participating states 
DLI 1: Improved 
proficiency in language 
and math among 
primary students (grade 
3)  
 
 

No competency-based 
learning results 
available for the 
program schools;1 
baseline for the 
program schools to be 
established by 2023 or 
2024 using NAS 
framework.2  
 
For NAS scheduled for 
November 2021, 
statewide baselines to 
be established in five 
states.3 
 
 
 
 

 Statewide 
baselines 
established in 
five states for 
grade 3 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
language and 
math based on 
NAS in 
November 
2021. 
 
 

 (i) NAS 
baselines 
established for 
program 
schools in five 
states to track 
progress.   
 
(ii) Program 
schools show 
at least 2 
percentage 
points increase 
on average for 
grade 3 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
NAS language 
or math 
against 
statewide 
baselines in 
year 1. 
 

 Program 
schools show 
at least 4 
percentage 
points 
increase on 
average for 
grade 3 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
NAS language 
or math 
against 
statewide 
baselines in 
year 1; or 2 
percentage 
points 
increase 
against the 
baselines for 
program 
schools in year 
3. 

 
 
1 Program schools refer to both exemplar schools and cluster schools selected for the RBL program. 
2 The timing of baseline surveys for program schools will be determined according to the NAS schedule for grade 3, which may fall in 2023 or 2024. For year 5, if 

NAS schedules change and are not possible for DLI 1 achievement, NAS equivalent learning assessments will be considered with necessary modifications.  
3 As the list of program schools is not finalized as of November 2021, NAS scheduled for November 2021 will not be able to incorporate specific sampling methods 

for program schools.  
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DLIs  
Baseline Value and 

Year 

Target Values  
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

DLI 2: Reduced dropout 
rate at secondary level 
(from grade 9 to 10)   
 
 
 

Statewide dropout 
rates available only for 
grades 9–10 
combined; the program 
specific grade 9 to 10 
dropout rate to be 
established across 
secondary exemplar 
schools upon school 
opening following 
COVID-19 school 
closure. 
 

 
 

State plans on 
prevention of 
post-COVID-
19 dropouts 
and specific 
incentive 
mechanisms 
for different 
gender and 
social groups 
approved. 

Post-COVID-
19 baseline for 
dropout rate 
established for 
academic year 
2022–2023 in 
secondary 
exemplar 
schools across 
five states.4   

  Dropout rates 
decreased at 
least by 5% 
over the post-
COVID-19 
baseline for 
dropout rates 
in secondary 
exemplar 
schools across 
five states. 
 

Dropout rates 
decreased at 
least by 8% 
over the post-
COVID-19 
baseline for 
dropout rates 
in secondary 
exemplar 
schools across 
five states. 

Output 1: Quality government schools with equitable access increased    
DLI 3: Exemplar schools 
established with 
improved learning 
environments for quality 
education 
 
(cumulative targets over 
time)  

 
 
 

  

States planned to 
establish exemplar (or 
leader) schools, but 
these have not been 
operationalized with 
concrete concepts as 
of 2020. 

The criteria for 
exemplar and 
cluster schools 
developed and 
the list of 
exemplar 
schools for the 
RBL program 
finalized (girls’ 
only schools are 
included in the 
list of exemplar 
schools in each 
state). 

At least 820 
exemplar 
schools 
complete gap 
assessments 
for school 
quality 
improvement 
plans across 
five states (or 
its equivalent 
per each state 
requirement) 
inclusive of 
sex-
segregated 
sanitation 
facilities and 
facilities for 
children with 
special needs. 

(i) At least 
1,400 
exemplar 
schools 
complete gap 
assessments 
for school 
quality 
improvement 
plans across 
five states. 
 
(ii) At least 160 
exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities 
across five 
states (e.g., 
ICT labs, sex-
segregated 

At least 500 
exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities 
across five 
states. 

At least 1,000 
exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities 
across five 
states. 

At least 1,400 
exemplar 
schools 
improved 
learning 
facilities 
across five 
states. 

 
 
4 Post-COVID-19 baseline for dropout rate will be established for academic year 2022/23 (subject to the COVID-19 situation), for which the data will be available in 

2023–2024. 
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DLIs  
Baseline Value and 

Year 

Target Values  
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

sanitation 
facilities, and 
barrier-free 
accessibility).  

DLI 4: Improved 
provision of secondary 
subject teachers for 
quality education  
 
(cumulative targets over 
time)  
 
 
 
  

The program states 
have about 5%–35% 
teacher vacancy 
against sanctioned 
posts; no school-
specific subject teacher 
vacancy data available 
per state norms as of 
2020.5  
  

Needs 
assessment for 
subject teachers 
in secondary 
exemplar 
schools 
undertaken per 
each state norm 
to develop 
subject teacher 
deployment 
plans.  

At least 110 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

At least 230 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

At least 420 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 
 

At least 635 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

At least 900 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
subject 
teachers 
across states. 

Output 2: Quality and relevance of learning improved 
DLI 5: Foundational 
learning in elementary 
education strengthened 
through learning 
enhancement programs 
(LEPs)6 
 
(cumulative targets over 
time)  
  

States have ongoing 
pilot-based LEPs for 
elementary grades but 
not implemented at 
scale. 

 LEPs selected, 
curriculum 
finalized, and 
implementatio
n schedules 
approved in 
five states 
(incorporating 
gender and 
socially 
inclusive 
learning 
contents). 

At least 1,150 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs in five 
states (e.g., 
reading/math 
or remediation 
program, and 
school 
readiness/pre-
primary 
interventions). 

At least 2,800 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs in five 
states. 

At least 4,500 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs in five 
states. 

At least 10,000 
program 
schools 
provide 
foundational 
LEPs. 

 
 
5 Right to Education norms for teacher availability apply to all states up to grade 8 only. For grades 9–12, there is no central standardized norm and each state has 

different norms.   
6 LEPs refer to various interactive, student-centered learning practices that have been adopted across the states, especially to boost foundational learning in 

elementary grades or bridge the learning gap. The most common approach is activity-based learning that allows students to learn at their own pace and often 
involves grouping students according to their learning level rather than by their grade. LEPs for secondary levels would refer to project-based learning, personalized 
adoptive learning practices with EdTech programs, or other types with strong student-centered learning orientations.  
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DLIs  
Baseline Value and 

Year 

Target Values  
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

DLI 6: Science and math 
learning strengthened 
for secondary education 
(grades 9–12) through 
STEAM LEPs 
 
(cumulative targets over 
time) 
 

States lack specific 
LEPs related to 
STEAM education. 
 
 

 State-specific 
STEAM 
education 
intervention 
LEPs 
approved in 
five states.  

Teaching-
learning 
resources 
developed and 
teachers 
trained for 
STEAM LEPs 
(including 
personalized 
adaptive 
learning; 
incorporating 
gender and 
socially 
inclusive 
learning 
contents).   
 

At least 190 
exemplar/ 
cluster schools 
provide 
selected 
STEAM LEPs  
in five states.  

At least 360 
exemplar/ 
cluster schools 
implemented 
the STEAM 
LEPs.  

At least 750 
exemplar/ 
cluster schools 
implemented 
the STEAM 
LEPs. 

Output 3: Capacity of teachers and school leaders enhanced   
DLI 7: Statewide 
continuous development 
of teachers and school 
leaders enhanced to 
improve interactive 
teaching practices 
(including the use of 
digital contents) and 
effective school 
management, with state-
specific gender targets  

Current teacher 
training programs are 
not based on individual 
teacher needs, offer 
only fixed days of in-
service training (20 
days/year), and do not 
track the effectiveness 
of training.  
 
Systematic school 
leader training 
programs do not exist 
in states and large 
gaps exist for school 
leaders in providing 
academic and 
organizational 
leadership  

 Capacity 
development 
modules for 
teachers and 
school leaders 
approved, and 
training 
contents 
finalized in 
each state, 
including 
blended 
learning 
modality with 
pre- and post-
tests 
incorporated.  

At least 40,000 
teachers in 
program 
schools from 
five states 
complete 
training on 
core modules 
(online/offline) 
per the state-
specific plan, 
including 
foundational 
learning, 
interactive 
pedagogic 
practice, digital 
skills, and 
gender/socially 
inclusive 
education. 
 

At least 11,760 
school leaders 
in program 
schools 
complete 
training on 
core modules 
(online/offline) 
on instructional 
and 
organizational 
leadership as 
per the state-
specific plan. 
 

At least 1,400 
exemplar/ 
cluster schools 
have school 
improvement 
plans prepared 
and put in 
place across 
the states 
based on 
organizational 
leadership 
training.  
 
 

At least 72,000 
teachers in 
program 
schools of five 
states 
complete 
trainings on 
core modules 
(online/offline) 
per the state-
specific plan, 
including 
foundational 
learning, 
interactive 
pedagogic 
practice, digital 
skills, and 
gender and 
socially 
inclusive 
education. 
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DLIs  
Baseline Value and 

Year 

Target Values  
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

Output 4: Management of school education system strengthened 
DLI 8: State capacity for 
outcome-based planning 
and monitoring 
mechanisms 
strengthened   

(i) States do not have 
outcome-based 
planning; only annual 
work plans are 
prepared for Samagra 
Shiksha. 
 
(ii) State MIS systems 
exist for monitoring, but 
data accuracy and 
available modules vary 
by state; data not 
analyzed to guide 
planning or teaching–
learning interventions, 
HR processes, etc. 

(i) Program 
states develop 
the state’s 
perspective plan 
and finalize 
state-level 
results 
framework for 
RBL program. 
 
(ii) State-
specific scope 
of work or TOR 
for MIS 
enhancement 
developed in 
five states, 
including RBL 
program 
monitoring 
system.  
 

 Statewide MIS 
enhanced with 
separate 
modules for 
schools, 
students, and 
teachers, 
aligned with U-
DISE 
requirement. 7 
 

Enhanced MIS 
modules 
operational for 
at least 820 
exemplar 
schools to 
enter required 
data by sex 
and other 
social 
background 
information. 
 

Each program 
state has 
digitized its 
school visit 
monitoring 
system and 
integrated it 
with state’s 
MIS.  

MIS module 
on student 
learning data 
are operational 
and at least 
1,100 
exemplar 
schools use 
the module.  
 

Output 5: National guidelines on quality state education strengthened 
DLI 9: National 
guidelines on curriculum 
and assessments 
strengthened for quality 
state education 
 
 

(i) NCF 2005 provides 
overall guidelines for 
science and math 
education, but updated 
guidelines are required 
for STEAM and 
vocational education 
and to prepare full 
revision of NCF and 
SCF.   

(i) TORs for 
central 
committees to 
support SCF 
and NCF 
preparation on 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
finalized. 

The 
committees 
convene state-
level 
workshops to 
guide states 
on developing 
SCFs for 
STEAM and 

(i) International 
or national 
partnerships 
established for 
a national 
assessment 
center 
(PARAKH) to 
develop 
assessment 

(i) Training 
modules on 
assessment 
standards for 
state capacity 
building 
developed by 
PARAKH. 
 

(i) SCFs 
prepared for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education by 
five program 
states. 
 
(ii) At least two 
workshops 

(i) NCFs for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
finalized. 
 
(ii) Training 
modules on 
assessment 
standards 

 
 
7 U-DISE is a central database of schools in India and collects data across 11 areas: (i) school profile; (ii) physical facilities and equipment; (iii) teaching and non-

teaching staff; (iv) new admissions, enrollment and repeaters; (v) incentives and facilities provided to children; (vi) annual examination result at elementary level; 
(vii) board examination results; (viii) receipts and expenditure; (ix) vocational education; (x) Performance Grading Index and other indicators; and (xi) school safety. 
Currently, not all the states have state-level MIS to provide all the required information for U-DISE. 

https://udiseplus.gov.in/udise-home/#/Download.UDISE
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DLIs  
Baseline Value and 

Year 

Target Values  
Prior results 
(2021–2022) 

2022–2023 
(Year 1) 

2023–2024 
(Year 2) 

2024–2025 
(Year 3) 

2025–2026 
(Year 4) 

2026–2027 
(Year 5) 

 
(ii) No national 
standards exist on 
assessments at 
various levels (e.g., 
state and school). 

 
(ii) Templates or 
guidance notes 
developed for 
state-level 
consultations. 
 

vocational 
education. 
 
 
 
 
 

standards for 
grades 3, 5, 
and 8 and 
state board 
exams. 
 
(ii) National 
workshops 
convened to 
develop NCF 
for STEAM 
and vocational 
education with 
recommended 
teacher 
training 
modules. 
 

(ii) At least two 
cross-learning 
workshops 
completed to 
share 
innovative 
practices from 
the program 
states. 

completed on 
cross-learning 
from quality 
interventions 
across the 
program 
states. 

implemented 
in all five 
states.  
 
 

ADB = Asian Development Bank; COVID-19 = coronavirus disease; DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; HR = human resources; ICT = information and 
communication technology; LEP = learning enhancement program; MIS = management information system; NAS = national achievement survey; NCF = national 
curriculum framework; PARAKH = Performance Assessment, Review, and Analysis of Knowledge for Holistic Development; RBL = results-based lending; SCF = 
state curriculum framework; STEAM = science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics; TOR = terms of reference; U-DISE = Unified District Information 
System for Education. 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
 

  



50 Appendix 2 

 
 

Table A2.2: Disbursement-Linked Indicator Verification Protocols 
 

DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
DLI 1: Improved proficiency in language and math among primary students (grade 3) 
2022–2023 (Y1): 
Statewide 
baselines 
established in five 
states for grade 3 
students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in 
language and 
math based on 
NAS in November 
2021   
 

Based on the NAS to be 
conducted in November 2021, 
statewide baselines will be 
established for the percentage of 
grade 3 students achieving the 
minimum proficiency in language 
and math in the five participating 
states. Since the list of program 
schools for the RBL will not be 
finalized by the time of NAS 
administration in November 2021, 
these statewide baselines will be 
used as one of the baselines to 
track progress in program schools 
in 2024–2025 (Y3) and 2026–
2027 (Y5). 
 
MOE will share the NAS results 
with each of the five states to 
establish the statewide baseline. 
Minimum proficiency levels will be 
defined as per NAS competency 
framework by the NCERT. 
 
The target is achieved when MOE 
provides NAS results on the 
percentage of grade 3 students 
achieving minimum proficiency in 
language and math for each state 
to establish the statewide 
baselines.  

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2023 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
percentage of grade 3 
students achieving 
minimum proficiency in NAS 
language and math.  
 
MOE will prepare a 
consolidated report on DLI 
achievement. MOE will 
submit it to the IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

$10 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states establish the 
statewide baselines 
in each state.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $6 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states 
establish the 
baselines; and $8 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states establish the 
baselines.  
 
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million 
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
Rollover: Yes 

2024–2025 (Y3): 
(i) NAS baselines 
established for 
program schools 
in five states to 
track progress  
 

(i) NAS for grade 3 will be 
conducted for a representative 
sample of program schools with 
primary grades (both exemplar 
and cluster schools) that will 
become the baseline for program 

(i) State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 

(i) The program states will 
submit a report on the 
percentage of grade 3 
students achieving 
minimum proficiency in NAS 
language or/and math in 
sampled program schools.  

(i) $10 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states complete the 
assessments and 
establish the 
baseline in each 
state.  

(i) Following amounts 
to be disbursed to 
each state on 
achieving the target: 
Assam: $2 million 
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
 schools by Q4 2024.8 If a 

representative sample of program 
schools is not covered during the 
day of statewide NAS 
administration, MOE and states 
will ensure that additional program 
schools are assessed within 4 
weeks of NAS administration. 
 
MOE will share the percentage of 
grade 3 students achieving 
minimum proficiency in language 
and mathematics in sampled 
program schools with the 
participating states to establish 
the baseline, which will be used to 
track progress in 2026–2027 (Y5). 
Minimum proficiency levels will be 
defined as per NAS competency 
framework by the NCERT. 
 
The target is achieved when the 
administration of NAS for a 
representative sample of program 
schools is completed and the 
baseline of percentage of grade 3 
students achieving minimum 
proficiency in language or/and 
mathematics is established in 
each state. 

 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on DLI 
achievement. MOE will 
submit it to the IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

 
Partial 
disbursement: $6 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states 
complete the 
assessment and 
establish the 
baseline; and $8 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states complete the 
target.  
 
  

Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
Rollover: Yes 

2024–2025 (Y3): 
(ii) Program 
schools show at 
least 2% 
percentage points 
increase on 
average for grade 
3 students 

(ii) Using NAS results for program 
schools (baselines for program 
schools) conducted by Q4 2024, 
each state will calculate the 
difference in percentage of 
students achieving minimum 
proficiency in language or/and 
math from the statewide baselines 

(ii) State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 
 

(ii) The program states will 
submit a report showing (a) 
the percentage of students 
achieving minimum 
proficiency in language or 
math in 2024 (Y3); and (b) 
the difference between 
percentage of students 

(ii) $10 million to be 
disbursed if the 
average increase 
from five states is at 
least 2 percentage 
points.  
 

(ii) Following amounts 
to be disbursed to 
each state on 
achieving the target: 
Assam: $2 million 
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 

 
 
8  The timing of baseline surveys for NAS may be modified depending on the NAS schedule in 2023 and 2024.  
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in NAS 
language or math 
against statewide 
baselines in year 
1.   
 

established in 2022–2023 (Y1) in 
terms of percentage points.   
 
This target is considered met 
when the percentage of students 
achieving minimum proficiency in 
program schools from five states 
shows at least 2 percentage point 
increase on average from the 
statewide baseline in Y1.  
 
In case NAS results in Y3 are not 
comparable at all to the results in 
Y1, the NAS results for program 
schools will be compared to the 
statewide results in the same Y3 
instead. The target is considered 
met when the percentage of 
students achieving minimum 
proficiency in language or/and 
math in program schools shows at 
least 2 percentage points higher 
than the statewide results in the 
same Y3.  

achieving minimum 
proficiency in year 3 and the 
statewide baseline in year 
1.  
 
MOE will review the state 
reports and calculate the 
average of differences in 
percentage of students 
achieving minimum 
proficiency from the five 
states. MOE will prepare a 
consolidated report on DLI 
achievement and submit to 
IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

Partial 
disbursement: If at 
minimum 60% of 
the targeted 
increment is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
proportional to the 
result achieved.   
 
  

Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
   

2026–2027 (Y5): 
Program schools 
show at least 4 
percentage points 
increase on 
average for grade 
3 students 
achieving the 
minimum 
proficiency in NAS 
language or math 
against statewide 
baseline in year 1, 
or 2 percentage 
points increase 
against the 
baselines for 

NAS to be conducted again 
across the five states for grade 3 
students in language and math, 
covering a representative sample 
of program schools by Q4 2026 
(Y5) to track progress from the 
baseline established by 2024–
2025 (Y3), as well as against the 
statewide baseline established for 
grade 3 in 2022–2023 (Y1). 
 
MOE will share NAS results with 
the program states. Each state will 
calculate the difference in 
percentage of grade 3 students in 
program schools achieving the 
minimum proficiency in language 
or/and math in 2026 against (a) 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

The program states will 
submit a report showing (i) 
the percentage of students 
achieving minimum 
proficiency in language 
or/and math for 2026 (year 
5); and (ii) the difference in 
percentage of students 
achieving minimum 
proficiency in year 5 against 
(a) the statewide baselines 
in Y1 and (b) the baselines 
of program schools in Y3.  
 
MOE will review the state 
reports and calculate the 
average of differences in 
percentage of students 

$15 million to be 
disbursed if the 
average increase 
from five states is at 
least 4 percentage 
points in (a), or at 
least 2 percentages 
points in (b).  
 
Partial 
disbursement: If at 
minimum 60% of 
the targeted 
increment is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
proportional to the 
result achieved.   

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $3 million 
Gujarat: $3 million 
Jharkhand: $3 million 
Tamil Nadu: $3 
million 
Uttarakhand: $3 
million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
program schools 
in year 3   

the statewide baselines 
established in 2022–2023 (Y1) in 
terms of percentage points; and 
(b) the baselines established for 
program schools in 2024–2025 
(Y3). 
 
The target is considered met 
when the percentage of program 
schools students achieving 
minimum proficiency from five 
states shows on average (a) at 
least 4 percentage point increase 
from statewise baselines in Y1; or 
(b) at least 2 percentage point 
increase from baselines for 
program schools in Y3.  
 
In case NAS results in Y5 are not 
comparable at all to the results in 
Y1 or Y3, the NAS results for 
program schools will be compared 
to the statewide results in the 
same Y5 instead. The target is 
considered met when the 
percentage of students achieving 
minimum proficiency in language 
or/and math in program schools 
shows at least 2 percentage 
points higher than the statewide 
results in the same Y5. 

achieving minimum 
proficiency from the five 
states for both (a) and (b). 
MOE will prepare a 
consolidated report on DLI 
achievement and submit to 
IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

 
  

DLI 2: Reduced dropout rate at secondary level (from grade 9 to 10)   
2022–2023 (Y1):  
State plans on 
prevention of 
post-COVID-19 
dropouts and 
specific incentive 
mechanisms for 
different gender 

States are to approve a plan to 
prevent post-COVID-19 dropouts 
to ensure continuous school 
participation. This may include 
strategies and/or incentive 
mechanisms for different social 
groups such as the provision of 
transportation, community 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
March 2023 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
state’s final plan to prevent 
student dropouts and its 
implementation status by 
April 2023.  
 
MOE will prepare a 
consolidated report on the 

$5 million to be 
disbursed if all 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $3 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $1 million 
Gujarat: $1 million 
Jharkhand: $1 million 
Tamil Nadu: $1 
million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
and social groups 
approved  

engagement drives, scholarships, 
mid-day meals, etc.  
 
The target is considered met 
when each state has a finalized 
plan in place to prevent post-
COVID-19 dropouts, to bring back 
students, or improve access to 
school education.  

DLI achievement by five 
states and submit to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

three states achieve 
the target; and $4 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.    

Uttarakhand: $1 
million 
 
Rollover: Yes 

2023–2024 (Y2): 
Post-COVID-19 
baseline for 
dropout rate 
established for 
school year (SY) 
2022/23 in 
secondary 
exemplar schools 
across five states9 

The grade 9 to 10 dropout rate is 
defined as the proportion of 
students enrolled in grade 9 in a 
given year who are no longer 
enrolled in school in the following 
year. The formula is the following: 
(Number of students in grade 9 in 
year t) – [ (Number of students in 
grade 10 in year t+1) - (Number of 
repeaters in grade 10 in year t+1) 
+ (Number of repeaters in grade 9 
in year t+1) ] / (Number of 
students in grade 9 in year t). 
 
Each state is to establish the 
baseline by calculating the grade 
9 to grade 10 dropout rate in 
exemplar schools with secondary 
grades as of September 2023. 
The states are to estimate this 
indicator by using data from the 
state education MIS.  
 
This target is considered met 
when each of the five states 
establishes the baseline data for 
dropout rates in the exemplar 
schools with secondary grades. 
The state-level dropout template 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
March 2024 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
baseline dropout rate 
established as of 
September 2023 in the 
exemplar schools.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on DLI 
achievement and submit to 
IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

$5 million to be 
disbursed if all 
states established 
the baselines.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $3 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states 
establish the 
baseline; $4 million 
to be disbursed if 
four states establish 
the baseline. 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $1 million 
Gujarat: $1 million 
Jharkhand: $1 million 
Tamil Nadu: $1 
million 
Uttarakhand: $1 
million 
 
Rollover: Yes 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
9 Post-COVID baseline for dropout rate will be tracked for the academic session 2021–2022, for which the data will be available in 2022–2023. 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
is provided in the Program 
Implementation Document (PID) 
Appendix 3.1.  

2025–2026 (Y4): 
Dropout rates 
decreased at least 
by 5% over the 
post-COVID-19 
baseline for 
dropout rates in 
secondary 
exemplar schools 
across five states 
 

The grade 9 to 10 dropout rate will 
be measured again for exemplar 
schools with secondary grades, 
using the data available as of 
September 2025 (for school year 
[SY]2024/25) across five states. 
 
Each state will calculate the 
percent change in dropout rate 
against the baseline established 
for SY2022/23 (measured as of 
September 2023), using the 
following formula:  
[(Dropout rate in SY2022/23) – 
(Dropout rate in SY2024/25)/ 
(Dropout rate in SY2022/23)] *100 
 
MOE will calculate the average of 
percent changes in dropout rates 
across five states.   
 
This target is considered met 
when the average of reduction in 
dropout rates for all five states 
shows at least 5% reduction in SY 
2024/25 against the baselines 
established for SY2022/23.    

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

The program states will 
submit a report on (i) the 
dropout rate for SY2024/25 
measured as of September 
2025; (ii) the calculation on 
percentage decrease 
against the baseline 
measured in September 
2023. (PID Appendix A3.1 
template may be used).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and calculate 
the average of reduction in 
dropout rates across five 
states. MOE will submit a 
consolidated report on the 
DLI achievement to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

$10 million if on 
average 5% 
decrease is 
achieved across five 
states. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If at 
minimum 60% of 
the targeted 
reduction (i.e., 3%) 
is achieved, ADB 
will disburse an 
amount proportional 
to the result 
achieved.   
 
 
 
 
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million 
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
  

2026–2027 (Y5): 
Dropout rates 
decreased at least 
by 8% over the 
post-COVID-19 
baseline for 
dropout rates in 
secondary 
exemplar schools 
across five states 

The grade 9 to 10 dropout rate will 
be measured again for exemplar 
schools with secondary grades, 
using the data available as of 
September 2026 (for SY2025/26) 
across five states. 
 
Each state will calculate the 
percent change in dropout rate 
against the baseline established 
for SY 2022/23 (measured as of 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

A report to be submitted by 
the program states on (i) 
the dropout rate for 
SY2025/26 measured as of 
September 2026; (ii) the 
calculation on percentage 
decrease against the 
baseline measured in 
September 2023.  
 

$10 million if on 
average 8% 
decrease is 
achieved across five 
states. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If at 
minimum 60% of 
the targeted 
reduction (i.e., 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million 
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
September 2023), using the 
following formula:  
[(Dropout rate in SY2022/23) – 
(Dropout rate in SY2025/26)/ 
(Dropout rate in SY2022/23)] *100 
 
MOE will calculate the average of 
percent changes in dropout rates 
across five states.   
 
This target is considered met when 
the average of reduction in dropout 
rates for all five states shows at 
least 8% reduction in SY2025/26 
against the baselines established 
in SY2022/23.    

MOE will review the state 
documents and calculate 
the average of reduction in 
dropout rates across five 
states. MOE will submit a 
consolidated report on the 
DLI achievement to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

4.8%) is achieved, 
ADB will disburse 
an amount 
proportional to the 
result achieved.   
 
 
 
 
  

 
  

DLI 3: Exemplar schools established with improved learning environments for quality education 

Prior results in 
2022:  
The criteria for 
exemplar and 
cluster schools 
developed and the 
list of exemplar 
schools for the 
RBL program 
finalized 
 

The states will finalize the criteria 
for exemplar schools (following 
the MOE guidelines) and cluster 
schools and outline the expected 
standards (including minimum 
provisions for learning facilities, 
teachers, etc.) for these schools 
(PID Appendix 3.2). 
 
While the criteria and standards 
may vary from state to state for 
program schools, MOE guidelines 
will be followed for exemplar 
schools. Additional suggestions 
are described in PID Appendix 
3.3.A and guidelines for standards 
are in PID Appendix 3.3.B. The 
states will prepare the final list of 
exemplar and cluster schools for 
the RBL program as a prior result.  
 
The target is considered met 
when (i) each state finalizes the 
selection criteria for exemplar and 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2022 

The program states will 
submit a report on (i) the 
criteria for exemplar and 
cluster schools; and (ii) the 
list of exemplar schools for 
the RBL program.   
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
achievement of prior 
results. MOE will submit the 
report to the independent 
consultants engaged by 
ADB.  
 
The independent 
consultants engaged by 
ADB will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

$25 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial achievement: 
$15 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; $20 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
 
Assam: $5 million 
Gujarat: $5 million 
Jharkhand: $5 million 
Tamil Nadu: $5 
million 
Uttarakhand: $5 
million 
 
Rollover: Yes 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
cluster schools; and (ii) the list of 
exemplar schools for the RBL 
program is finalized across five 
states for at least 75% of the total 
target number by the time of loan 
effectiveness or by the time of 
assessing prior results.   
 
The final list of exemplar schools 
will include school’s U-DISE 
number, student enrollment, 
number of teachers, and 
availability of school leader, etc. 
for each school as per template in 
PID Appendix 3.2. or following the 
state MIS required information.  

March 2023 (Y1): 
At least 820 
exemplar schools 
complete gap 
assessment for 
school quality 
improvement 
plans across five 
states (or its 
equivalent per 
each state 
requirement) 
inclusive of sex-
segregated 
sanitation facilities 
and facilities for 
children with 
special needs 

Each exemplar school will develop 
a school quality improvement 
plan, which includes key actions 
required to develop the school in 
line with exemplar school 
standards expected by MOE and 
the state. The plan will include 
upgrading of learning facilities, 
ensuring adequate availability of 
staff and teaching-learning 
materials, implementation of 
LEPs, etc. The states may use the 
needs (or gap) assessment 
template for exemplar schools in 
PID Appendix 3.4.  
 
After the needs assessment is 
done, work plans for upgrading 
learning facilities are to be 
developed for each school and 
aggregated into a comprehensive 
state-level work plan as per the 
state-level learning facilities 
upgrade planning template in PID 
Appendix 3.5.A. 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2023 

The program states will 
submit a report on (i) the 
number of the state’s 
exemplar schools that 
completed the exemplar 
school needs (or gap) 
assessment; and (ii) state-
level work plans on 
upgrading learning and 
sanitation facilities for those 
exemplar schools as per 
indicative template provided 
in PID Appendix 3.5.A (or 
online monitoring system as 
it is ready). 
  
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of exemplar 
schools from five states that 
have completed the needs 
assessment to prepare 
school improvement plans. 

$15 million if at least 
820 exemplar 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If at 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.   
  
For example, if at 
least 574 exemplar 
schools (70% of the 
target) complete the 
required work, ADB 
will disburse $10.5 
million.  
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
 
Assam: $3 million  
Gujarat: $3 million  
Jharkhand: $3 million 
Tamil Nadu: $3 
million 
Uttarakhand: $3 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are the 
following:  
Assam: 160 
Gujarat:115 
Jharkhand: 165 
Tamil Nadu:215 
Uttarakhand:165   
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
This target is met when at least 
820 exemplar schools across five 
states complete the needs 
assessment and the states 
develop work plans for upgrading 
of learning and other facilities for 
these schools as of March 2023.  

MOE will submit the 
consolidated report to IVA.   
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

March 2024 (Y2): 
(i) At least 1,400 
exemplar schools 
complete gap 
assessments for 
school quality 
improvement 
plans across five 
states 
 
(cumulative from 
year 1 target)  
 

(i) Following the work done during 
2022–2023 (Y1), each of 
additional exemplar schools will 
develop a school quality 
improvement plan.  
 
This target is met when at least 
1,400 exemplar schools across 
five states in cumulative numbers 
(since 2022–2023) complete the 
needs assessment and the states 
develop work plans for upgrading 
of learning and other facilities for 
these schools as of March 2024.  

(i) State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2024 

(i) The program states will 
submit a report on (i) the 
cumulative number of the 
state’s exemplar schools 
that completed the 
exemplar school needs (or 
gap) assessment; and (ii) 
state-level work plans on 
upgrading learning and 
sanitation facilities for those 
exemplar schools as per 
indicative template provided 
in PID Appendix 3.5.A (or 
online monitoring system as 
it is ready). 
  
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of exemplar 
schools from five states that 
have completed the needs 
assessment to prepare 
school improvement plans. 
MOE will submit the 
consolidated report to IVA.   
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

(i) $5 million if at 
least 1,400 
exemplar schools 
across five states 
achieve the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If at 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.   
  
 

(i) Following amounts 
to be disbursed to 
each state on 
achieving the target: 
 
Assam: $1 million  
Gujarat: $1 million  
Jharkhand: $1 million 
Tamil Nadu: $1 
million 
Uttarakhand: $1 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are the 
following:  
Assam: 270 
Gujarat: 220 
Jharkhand: 275 
Tamil Nadu: 360 
Uttarakhand: 275   

March 2024 (Y2): (ii) Improvement of learning 
facilities refers to upgradation of 

(ii) State and MOE 
program performance 

(ii) The program states will 
submit the report on the 

(ii) $10 million if at 
least 160 exemplar 

(ii) Following amounts 
are to be disbursed to 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
(ii) At least 160 
exemplar schools 
improved learning 
facilities (e.g., ICT 
labs, sex-
segregated 
sanitation 
facilities, and 
barrier-free 
accessibility) 

one or more key learning facilities, 
which may include (but not limited 
to) (i) classrooms (including 
BaLA); (ii) science labs; (iii) 
libraries; (iv) ICT facilities 
(ICT/computer labs, SMART 
classroom); (v) sanitation facilities 
(toilets, hand washing facility, 
drinking water facility); and (vi) 
inclusive facilities (CWSN toilet, 
ramp), etc. as required for 
exemplar schools based on the 
needs (gap) assessment. 
 
An exemplar school is considered 
to have improved learning 
facilities if it has undertaken 
upgradation of any of the learning 
facilities in line with its needs 
assessment as of March 2024.  
 
This target is considered to be 
met when at least 160 exemplar 
schools across five states have 
completed the work for 
improvement of learning facilities 
in line with the needs assessment.   

reports; one time in 
2024 

total number of exemplar 
schools that have 
undertaken the work for 
school improvement as per 
the state’s learning facilities 
improvement report 
template in PID Appendix 
3.5.B (or online monitoring 
system as it is ready). 
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
aggregate number of 
exemplar schools from five 
states that have undertaken 
the school improvement 
work. MOE will submit a 
consolidated report to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

schools across five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: If at 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.    
 

each state on 
achieving the target: 
Assam: $2 million  
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million  
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are the 
following:  
Assam:30 
Gujarat: 30 
Jharkhand: 30  
Tamil Nadu: 40 
Uttarakhand: 30 
 

March 2025 (Y3): 
At least 500 
exemplar schools 
improved learning 
facilities across 
five states 
(cumulative) 

This target is considered to be 
met when at least 500 exemplar 
schools across five states in 
cumulative numbers (since 2023–
2024) have completed the work 
for improvement of learning 
facilities in line with the needs 
assessment as of March 2025.   
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 

The program states will 
submit the report on the 
total cumulative number of 
exemplar schools that have 
completed the work for 
school improvement as per 
the state’s learning facilities 
improvement report 
template in PID Appendix 
3.5.B (or online monitoring 
system as it is ready). 
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 

$15 million if at least 
500 exemplar 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target in cumulative 
numbers. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target:  
Assam: $4 million  
Gujarat: $3 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $4 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
summarizing the total 
aggregate number of 
exemplar schools from five 
states that have completed 
the school improvement 
work (cumulative since 
2023). MOE will submit a 
consolidated report to IVA 
on the status of DLI 
achievement.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

to the result 
achieved.      

this indicator are the 
following:  
Assam: 90 
Gujarat:100 
Jharkhand: 90 
Tamil Nadu: 130 
Uttarakhand: 90   
  

March 2026 (Y4): 
At least 1,000 
exemplar schools 
improved learning 
facilities across 
five states 
(cumulative) 
 

This target is considered to be 
met when at least 1,000 exemplar 
schools across five states in 
cumulative numbers (since 2023-
2024) have completed the work 
for improvement of learning 
facilities in line with the needs 
assessment as of March 2026.   
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

The program states will 
submit the report on the 
total cumulative number of 
exemplar schools that have 
completed the work for 
school improvement as per 
the state’s learning facilities 
improvement report 
template in PID Appendix 
3.5.B (or online monitoring 
system as it is ready). 
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
aggregate number of 
exemplar schools from five 
states that have completed 
the school improvement 
work (cumulative since 
2023). MOE will submit a 
consolidated report to IVA 
on the status of DLI 
achievement.  
 

$15 million if at least 
1,000 exemplar 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target in cumulative 
numbers. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.      
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $3 million  
Gujarat: $3 million 
Jharkhand: $3 million 
Tamil Nadu: $3 
million 
Uttarakhand: $3 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 190 
Gujarat:180 
Jharkhand: 190 
Tamil Nadu: 250 
Uttarakhand:190   
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.   

March 2027 (Y5): 
At least 1,400 
exemplar schools 
improved learning 
environments 
across five states 
(cumulative) 

This target is considered to be 
met when at least 1,400 exemplar 
schools across five states in 
cumulative numbers (since 2023) 
have completed the work for 
improvement of learning facilities 
in line with the needs assessment 
as of March 2027. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

The program states will 
submit the report on the 
total cumulative number of 
exemplar schools that have 
completed the work for 
school improvement as per 
the state’s learning facilities 
improvement report 
template in PID Appendix 
3.5.B (or online monitoring 
system as it is ready). 
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
aggregate number of 
exemplar schools from five 
states that have completed 
the school improvement 
work (cumulative since 
2023). MOE will submit a 
consolidated report to IVA 
on the status of DLI 
achievement.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.   

$10 million if at least 
1,400 exemplar 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target in cumulative 
numbers. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.      
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $1 million  
Gujarat: $3 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $3 
million 
Uttarakhand: $1 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 270 
Gujarat:220 
Jharkhand: 275 
Tamil Nadu:360 
Uttarakhand:275   

DLI 4: Improved provision of secondary subject teachers for quality education 

Prior results in 
2022:  
Needs 
assessment for 
subject teachers 
in secondary 

At the secondary level, specific 
subject teachers for math, 
language, English, science, social 
science, etc. are required. Each 
state has a varying norm (or 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2022 

The program states will 
submit a report on subject 
teacher availability for 
secondary exemplar 
schools and needs analysis 
based on suggestions in the 

$20 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
 
Assam: $4 million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
exemplar schools 
undertaken per 
each state norm 
to develop subject 
teacher 
deployment plans 

guidelines) for requirement at the 
secondary level.  
 
This target is considered achieved 
when the baseline of available 
subject teachers is established for 
secondary exemplar schools and 
needs assessments are 
undertaken for at least 60% of 
target exemplar schools in each 
state according to each state’s 
norm (or guidelines), considering 
the needs assessment template in 
PID Appendix 3.4.B.   
 

teacher gap assessment 
template in PID Appendix 
3.4.B (or online monitoring 
system as it is ready).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
status of DLI achievement 
by each state. MOE will 
submit the report to the 
independent consultants 
engaged by ADB.  
 
The independent 
consultants will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

Partial 
disbursement: $12 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $16 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
  

Gujarat: $4 million  
Jharkhand: $4 million 
Tamil Nadu: $4 
million 
Uttarakhand: $4 
million 
 
  

March 2023 (Y1): 
At least 110 
exemplar schools 
equipped with 
required subject 
teachers across 
states  

Secondary exemplar schools are 
considered to be equipped with 
required teachers if the availability 
of subject teachers for secondary 
grades is in line with the 
respective state norm based on 
recent enrollments in exemplar 
schools.10 
 
This target is met when 110 
exemplar schools across five 
states have the required subject 
teachers in line with the respective 
state norms (or guidelines). 
 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2023 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
number of secondary 
exemplar schools which 
have filled the gap in 
subject teachers per the 
state’s norm (indicative 
reporting template is in PID 
Appendix 3.6.B [or online 
monitoring system as it is 
ready]).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
DLI achievement. MOE will 
submit the report to IVA.  
 

$5 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
110 exemplar 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.      
   

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $1 million 
Gujarat: $1 million 
Jharkhand: $1 million 
Tamil Nadu: $1 
million 
Uttarakhand: $1 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 30 
Gujarat: 20 
Jharkhand: 20 

 
 
10 Right to Education norms for teacher availability apply to all states up to grade 8. For grades 9–12, each state has different norms and no standardized central 

norms exist. 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

Tamil Nadu: 20 
Uttarakhand: 20     

March 2024 (Y2): 
At least 230 
exemplar schools 
equipped with 
required subject 
teachers across 
states 
(cumulative) 
 

This target is met when 230 
exemplar schools across five 
states (cumulatively since 2022) 
have been equipped with the 
required subject teachers in line 
with the respective state norms. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2024 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
cumulative number of 
secondary exemplar 
schools which have filled 
the gap in subject teachers 
per the state’s norm 
(indicative reporting 
template is in PID Appendix 
3.6.B [or online monitoring 
system as it is ready]).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
DLI achievement. MOE will 
submit the report to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

$5 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
230 exemplar 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.      
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
 
Assam: $1 million 
Gujarat: $1 million 
Jharkhand: $1 million 
Tamil Nadu: $1 
million 
Uttarakhand: $1 
million  
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 70 
Gujarat: 40 
Jharkhand: 40 
Tamil Nadu: 40 
Uttarakhand:40     

March 2025 (Y3): 
At least 420 
exemplar schools 
equipped with 
required subject 
teachers across 
states 
(cumulative) 
 

This target is met when 420 
exemplar schools across five 
states (cumulative since 2022) 
have been equipped with the 
required subject teachers in line 
with respective state norms.     
 
 
 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
cumulative number of 
secondary exemplar 
schools which have filled 
the gap in subject teachers 
per the state’s norm 
(indicative reporting 
template is in PID Appendix 
3.6.B [or online monitoring 
system as it is ready]).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 

$4 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
420 exemplar 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
 
Assam: $0.8 million 
Gujarat: $0.8 million 
Jharkhand: $0.8 illion 
Tamil Nadu: $0.8 
million 
Uttarakhand: $0.8 
million  
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
DLI achievement. MOE will 
submit the report to IVA.  
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

to the result 
achieved.      
 
 

The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 130 
Gujarat: 70 
Jharkhand: 75 
Tamil Nadu: 70 
Uttarakhand: 75   

March 2026 (Y4): 
At least 635 
exemplar schools 
equipped with 
required subject 
teachers across 
states 
(cumulative) 
 
 

This target is met when 635 
exemplar schools across five 
states (cumulatively since 2022) 
have been equipped with the 
required subject teachers in line 
with the respective state norms. 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
cumulative number of 
secondary exemplar 
schools which have filled 
the gap in subject teachers 
per the state’s norm 
(indicative reporting 
template is in PID Appendix 
3.6.B [or online monitoring 
system as it is ready]).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
DLI achievement. MOE will 
submit the report to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  
 

$4 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
635 exemplar 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $0.8 million 
Gujarat: $0.8 million 
Jharkhand: $0.8 
million 
Tamil Nadu: $0.8 
million 
Uttarakhand: $0.8 
million  
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 205 
Gujarat: 100 
Jharkhand: 120 
Tamil Nadu: 90 
Uttarakhand:120   

March 2027 (Y5): 
At least 900 
exemplar schools 
equipped with 
required subject 
teachers across 
states 
(cumulative) 

This target is met when 900 
exemplar schools across five 
states (cumulatively since 2022) 
have been equipped with the 
required subject teachers in line 
with the respective state norms. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

The program states will 
submit a report on the 
cumulative number of 
secondary exemplar 
schools which have filled 
the gap in subject teachers 
per the state’s norm 
(indicative reporting 
template is in PID Appendix 

$4 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
900 exemplar 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $0.8 million 
Gujarat: $0.8 million 
Jharkhand: $0.8 
million 
Tamil Nadu: $0.8 
million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
3.6.B [or online monitoring 
system as it is ready]).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
DLI achievement. MOE will 
submit the report to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        

Uttarakhand: $0.8 
million  
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 320 
Gujarat: 115 
Jharkhand: 185 
Tamil Nadu: 110 
Uttarakhand:170   

DLI 5: Foundational learning in elementary education strengthened through LEPs  

March 2023 (Y1): 
LEPs selected, 
curriculum 
finalized, and 
implementation 
schedules 
approved in five 
states 
(incorporating 
gender and 
socially inclusive 
learning contents) 

LEPs refer to interventions 
designed to strengthen basic 
literacy and numeracy learning 
outcomes as well as grade-level 
competencies for elementary 
grade students.11 These may 
include remediation programs, 
school readiness and pre-primary 
education interventions, reading 
programs, etc. as decided by the 
state. 
 
LEP curriculum is said to be 
finalized when target 
competencies are defined and 
curricular resources such as 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2023 

The program states will 
submit a report on (i) the 
selection of LEPs to be 
rolled out and 
implementation schedules 
for program schools (both 
exemplar and cluster 
schools); and (ii) the 
finalization of curriculum 
and teaching/learning 
materials for students and 
teachers as required in 
each state. 
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 

$20 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $12 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $16 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target:  
Assam: $5 million 
Gujarat: $5 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $6 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
  

 
 
11 The LEPs under the RBL program include all the interventions designed and implemented for improvement of learning outcomes for grades 1–8 across subjects, 

which may refer to new LEPs or strengthening of existing ones (or to be rolled out). For example, Uttarakhand has an ongoing LEP ‘Project Koshish’, which the 
state will continue to implement while strengthening its monitoring and tracking under the RBL program. Gujarat will strengthen ‘Project PRAGNA’ LEP designed 
for grades 1 and 2. In Jharkhand, the Gyan Setu program is a remedial education program (for 1.5 hour every day) whereby grades 1–8 students are grouped by 
their actual learning level rather than by grades and provided with workbooks specific for each level; the state has other foundational literacy and numeracy 
interventions for grades 1–2. In Jharkhand, the implementation of both Gyan Setu and foundational literacy and numeracy interventions will be tracked in all 
exemplar schools under the RBL program. 



66 Appendix 2 

 
 

DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
books/workbooks and TLM kits 
are developed (or being acquired) 
for students and teachers.   
  
Implementation schedules include 
timelines to roll out the LEPs into 
program schools over 3 years, 
which may also include related 
timelines for printing and 
distribution of resources, teacher 
training, etc. 
 
This target is met when specific 
LEPs are selected, LEP 
curriculum is finalized, and 
implementation schedules are 
developed and approved (or 
finalized for implementation) in 
each of program states.  

consolidated report on the 
status of DLI achievement. 
MOE will submit a 
consolidated report to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB 
 

  

March 2024 (Y2): 
At least 1,150 
program schools 
provide 
foundational LEPs 
in five states  
 

An LEP is said to be provided 
(implemented) in a school when (i) 
the relevant LEP resources are 
available in the school; (ii) 
teachers have been trained on the 
specific LEP; and (iii) LEP is being 
conducted in the school as per the 
plan laid out.  
 
Resources for the LEP could 
include (but not limited to) 
textbooks or workbooks for 
students; handbooks or guidelines 
for teachers; and other TLM kits 
such as materials for activity-
based learning, etc. 
 
This target is said to be met when 
1,150 program schools across five 
states provide the chosen LEPs to 
students as per the state’s plan. 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2024 

The program states will 
submit a progress report on 
LEP implementation, 
including the cumulative 
number of program schools 
(exemplar and cluster 
schools) that provide the 
LEPs per state’s own 
foundational LEP reporting 
template in PID Appendix 
3.7.A. Each state’s MIS 
should also be able to 
provide LEP implementation 
data for each exemplar and 
cluster school.  
   
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of program schools 
from five states that have 
provided LEPs and the DLI 

$25 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
1,150 program 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $5 million 
Gujarat: $6 million 
Jharkhand: $4 million 
Tamil Nadu: $7 
million 
Uttarakhand: $3 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 200 
Gujarat: 250 
Jharkhand: 200 
Tamil Nadu: 320 
Uttarakhand: 180 
  



Appendix 2  67 
 

 
 

DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
achievement status. The 
report is submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB 

March 2025 (Y3): 
At least 2,800 
program schools 
provide 
foundational LEPs 
in five states 
(cumulative)  

This target is said to be met when 
2,800 program schools across five 
states (cumulatively since 2023) 
provide the chosen LEPs as per 
the state’s plan. 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 

The program states will 
submit a progress report on 
LEP implementation, 
including the cumulative 
number of program schools 
(exemplar and cluster 
schools) that provide the 
LEPs per state’s own 
foundational LEP reporting 
template in PID Appendix 
3.7.A. Each state’s MIS 
should also be able to 
provide LEP implementation 
data for each exemplar and 
cluster school.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of program schools 
from five states that have 
provided LEPs and the DLI 
achievement status. The 
report is submitted to IVA.   
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB 

$25 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
2,800 program 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $5 million  
Gujarat: $6 million  
Jharkhand: $3 million 
Tamil Nadu: $8 
million  
Uttarakhand: $3 
million  
 
The state-specific 
program school 
numbers for this 
indicator are:    
Assam: 450 
Gujarat: 600 
Jharkhand: 500 
Tamil Nadu: 800 
Uttarakhand: 450 

March 2026 (Y4): 
At least 4,500 
program schools 
provide 

This target is said to be met when 
4,500 program schools across five 
states (cumulatively since 2023) 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

The program states will 
submit a progress report on 
LEP implementation, 
including the cumulative 

$25 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
4,500 program 
schools across five 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
foundational LEPs 
in five states 
(cumulative) 

provide the chosen LEPs as per 
the state’s plan. 
 

number of program schools 
(exemplar and cluster 
schools) that provide the 
LEPs per state’s own 
foundational LEP reporting 
template in PID Appendix 
3.7.A. Each state’s MIS 
should also be able to 
provide LEP implementation 
data for each exemplar and 
cluster school. 
  
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of program schools 
from five states that have 
provided LEPs and the DLI 
achievement status. The 
report is submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.    

states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.  
 
  

Assam: $5 million  
Gujarat: $5 million 
Jharkhand: $5 million 
Tamil Nadu: $5 
million 
Uttarakhand: $5 
million 
 
The state-specific 
program school 
numbers for this 
indicator are:    
Assam: 710 
Gujarat: 980 
Jharkhand: 820 
Tamil Nadu: 1,270 
Uttarakhand: 720 

March 2027 (Y5): 
At least 10,000 
program schools 
provide 
foundational LEPs 
in five states 
(cumulative) 

This target is said to be met when 
10,000 program schools across 
five states (cumulatively since 
2023) provide the chosen LEPs as 
per the state’s plan. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

The program states will 
submit a progress report on 
LEP implementation, 
including the cumulative 
number of program schools 
(exemplar and cluster 
schools) that provide the 
LEPs per state’s own 
foundational LEP reporting 
template in PID Appendix 
3.7.A. Each state’s MIS 
should also be able to 
provide LEP implementation 
data for each exemplar 
school.  
 

$20 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
10,000 program 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $3 million  
Gujarat: $5 million  
Jharkhand: $5 million 
Tamil Nadu: $5 
million  
Uttarakhand: $2  
million  
 
The state-specific 
program school 
numbers for this 
indicator are:    
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of program schools 
from five states that have 
provided LEPs and the DLI 
achievement status. The 
report is submitted to IVA.   
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

to the result 
achieved.        
 

Assam: 1,500 
Gujarat: 2,250 
Jharkhand: 1,900 
Tamil Nadu: 2,750 
Uttarakhand: 1,600 

DLI 6: Science and math learning strengthened for secondary education (grades 9–12) through STEAM LEPs 

March 2023 (Y1): 
State-specific 
STEAM education 
intervention LEPs 
approved in five 
states 

LEP for STEAM education refers 
to an intervention to improve 
science and math learning in 
secondary grades, which would 
encompass improvements in 
teacher capacity, pedagogy, 
and/or assessments. States may 
apply personalized adaptive 
learning, digital education, or 
other means to strengthen 
STEAM education in secondary 
schools. 
 
The state-specific STEAM 
intervention plan will provide 
information on the type of LEPs to 
be implemented, objectives of the 
intervention, curriculum for LEPs, 
and implementation schedules.  
 
This target is met when the state-
specific intervention plans, 
including implementation 
timelines, have been approved 
across five states.   

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2023 

The program states will 
submit the finalized or 
approved LEP intervention 
plan for STEAM education 
in secondary grades.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the DLI 
achievement. The report is 
submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

$10 million to be 
disbursed if all 
states achieve the 
target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: $6 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $8 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million  
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
 (Rollover: Yes) 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
March 2024 (Y2): 
Teaching-learning 
resources 
developed and 
teachers trained 
for STEAM LEPs 
(including 
personalized 
adaptive learning; 
incorporating 
gender and 
socially inclusive 
learning contents) 

Resources for LEPs include (but 
not limited to) textbooks, 
workbooks, and science and 
mathematics kits for students; 
handbooks or guidelines for 
teachers; or any other equipment 
as required by each state. STEAM 
LEPs design can include 
personalized adaptive learning 
initiatives as per each state’s 
specific plan.  
 
LEP curriculum is said to be 
finalized when target 
competencies are defined and 
curricular resources such as 
books/ workbooks, TLM kits, etc. 
are developed (or being acquired) 
for students and teachers.   
 
This target is said to be met when 
(i) the required teaching-learning 
resources are developed as per 
the state’s plan; and (ii) relevant 
teachers in exemplar schools with 
secondary grades have been 
trained for LEP implementation.   

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2024 

The program states will 
submit a report on (i) the 
development of teaching-
learning resources for 
STEAM LEPs, and (ii) the 
status of teachers who have 
completed training as per 
requirement by the state’s 
plan.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
DLI achievement. The 
report is submitted to IVA.   
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

$12 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $7.2 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $9.6 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
 
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2.4 million  
Gujarat: $2.4 million 
Jharkhand: $2.4 
million 
Tamil Nadu: $2.4 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2.4 
million  
 
(Rollover: Yes) 
  

March 2025 (Y3): 
At least 190 
exemplar/cluster 
schools provide 
selected STEAM 
LEPs  
In five states 

An LEP is said to be provided 
(implemented) in a school when (i) 
the relevant LEP resources are 
available in the school; (ii) 
teachers have been trained on the 
specific LEP; and (iii) LEP is being 
conducted in the school as per the 
plan laid out.  
 
Resources for the LEP could 
include (but is not limited to) 
textbooks or workbooks for 
students; handbooks or guidelines 
for teachers; and other TLM kits 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 

The program state will 
submit a progress report on 
LEP implementation, 
including the cumulative 
number of schools that 
provide the LEPs per state’s 
progress report template in 
PID Appendix 3.7.B. 
 
Each state’s MIS should be 
able to provide 
implementation data for 
each exemplar and cluster 
school, which could be 
attached to the report.   

$12 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
190 secondary 
exemplar/cluster 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2.4 million  
Gujarat: $2.4 million 
Jharkhand: $2.4 
million 
Tamil Nadu: $2.4 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2.4 
million  
 
The state-specific 
exemplar/cluster 



Appendix 2  71 
 

 
 

DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
such as science and math 
experiment, etc. 
 
This target is said to be met when 
at least 190 exemplar/cluster 
schools across five states have 
provided the LEP as per the 
state’s plan. 
 
 
 
 

   
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of program schools 
across five states that have 
provided LEPs and the DLI 
achievement status. The 
report is submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.     

that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        
 
 
  

school numbers for 
this indicator are:    
Assam: 55 
Gujarat: 40 
Jharkhand: 30 
Tamil Nadu: 30 
Uttarakhand: 35   

March 2026 (Y4): 
At least 360 
exemplar/cluster 
schools 
implemented the 
STEAM LEPs in 
five states 
(cumulative) 

An LEP is said to be provided 
(implemented) in a school when (i) 
the relevant LEP resources are 
available in the school; (ii) 
teachers have been trained on the 
specific LEP; and (iii) LEP is being 
conducted in the school as per the 
plan laid out.  
 
Resources for the LEP could 
include (but is not limited to) 
textbooks or workbooks for 
students; handbooks or guidelines 
for teachers; and other TLM kits 
such as science and math 
experiment, etc. 
 
This target is said to be met when 
at least 360 exemplar/cluster 
schools across five states have 
provided the LEP as per the 
state’s plan. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

The program states will 
submit a progress report on 
LEP implementation, 
including the cumulative 
number of schools that 
provide the LEPs per state’s 
progress report template in 
PID Appendix 3.7.B.  
 
Each state’s MIS should be 
able to provide 
implementation data for 
each exemplar and cluster 
school, which could be 
attached to the report.   
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of program schools 
across five states that have 
provided LEPs and the DLI 
achievement status. The 
report is submitted to IVA.  
 

$10 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
360 secondary 
exemplar/cluster 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.  
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million 
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
The state-specific 
exemplar/cluster 
school numbers for 
this indicator are:    
Assam: 110 
Gujarat: 65 
Jharkhand: 65 
Tamil Nadu: 55 
Uttarakhand: 65   
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.   

March 2027 (Y5): 
At least 750 
exemplar/cluster 
schools 
implemented the 
STEAM LEPs in 
five states 
(cumulative) 

An LEP is said to be implemented 
in a school when (i) the relevant 
LEP resources are available in the 
school; (ii) teachers have been 
trained on the specific LEP; and 
(iii) LEP is being conducted in the 
school as per the plan laid out.  
 
Resources for the LEP could 
include (but is not limited to) 
textbooks or workbooks for 
students; handbooks or guidelines 
for teachers; and other teaching-
learning material (TLM) kits such 
as science and math experiment, 
etc. 
 
This target is said to be met when 
at least 750 exemplar/cluster 
schools across five states have 
implemented the LEP as per the 
state’s plan. 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

The program state will 
submit a progress report on 
LEP implementation, 
including the cumulative 
number of schools that 
provide the LEPs per state’s 
progress report template in 
PID Appendix 3.7.B. 
 
Each state’s MIS should be 
able to provide 
implementation data for 
each exemplar and cluster 
school, which could be 
attached to the report.   
   
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of program schools 
across five states that have 
provided LEPs and the DLI 
achievement status. The 
report is submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.     

$10 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
750 secondary 
exemplar/cluster 
schools across five 
states in cumulative 
numbers achieve 
the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million  
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million  
 
The state-specific 
exemplar/cluster 
school numbers for 
this indicator are:    
Assam: 270 
Gujarat: 90 
Jharkhand: 160 
Tamil Nadu: 90 
Uttarakhand: 140   

DLI 7: Statewide continuous development of teachers and school leaders enhanced to improve interactive teaching practices (including the use of 
digital contents) and effective school management with state-specific gender targets 
March 2023 (Y1): 
Capacity 
development 
modules for 
teachers and 

Teacher capacity development 
modules are to be developed in 
each state based on the state’s 
own teacher needs assessment or 
capacity development planning. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2023 

The program states will 
submit a report on (i) the 
approved (or finalized) 
teacher capacity 
development modules, 

$10 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million  
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
school leaders 
approved and 
training contents 
finalized in each 
state, including 
blended learning 
modality with pre- 
and post- tests 
incorporated 

The core modules may vary 
across the states, but are 
expected to include foundational 
learning, interactive pedagogic 
practice, digital skills, and 
inclusive education (both gender 
mainstreaming and social 
inclusion). Additional training 
modules can include subject 
content knowledge, general 
pedagogy and assessment topics, 
trainings related to other LEPs 
such as STEAM and 21st century 
skills, as applicable for respective 
elementary and secondary 
teachers.   
 
School leader capacity 
development modules to be 
developed in each state based on 
the state’s own school leader 
needs assessment or capacity 
development planning. The core 
training modules are expected to 
include key elements of 
instructional and organizational 
leadership.  
   
Training contents refer to 
resources and materials to be 
used for trainings, including digital 
contents. Each of training 
modules is to include pre- and 
post-tests to assess the efficacy of 
the trainings.  
 
This target is considered met 
when the list of teacher and 
school leader capacity 
development modules is finalized 
according to the state’s plan and 

which would include 
modules on foundational 
learning, interactive 
pedagogic practice, digital 
skills, inclusive education 
and other topics as required 
based on the state’s needs 
assessments; (ii) the 
approved (or finalized) 
school leader capacity 
development modules, 
which would include 
modules on instructional 
and organizational 
leadership as required 
based on the state’s needs 
assessments. The report 
will indicate the status of 
content development across 
modules.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the DLI 
achievement across five 
states. The report is 
submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB 
 
 

Partial 
disbursement: $6 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $8 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
  
 
  

Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
offline/online training content 
development is initiated.  

March 2024 (Y2): 
At least 40,000 
teachers in 
program schools 
of five states 
complete training 
on core modules 
(online/offline) per 
the state-specific 
plan, including 
foundational 
learning, 
interactive 
pedagogic 
practice, digital 
skills, and 
gender/socially 
inclusive 
education 

Teachers are considered to have 
completed the training when they 
receive a certificate for completing 
training on core modules. Core 
modules must include 
foundational learning, interactive 
pedagogic practice, digital skills, 
gender/socially inclusive 
education, and any other modules 
as per state’s annual plan. 
 
This target is considered met 
when at least 40,000 teachers in 
program schools across five 
states complete trainings as per 
the state’s plan as of March 2024.    
 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2024 

The program states will 
submit a progress report 
indicating the number of 
teachers who have 
completed the trainings 
against the state’s annual 
plan (the indicative 
reporting template is 
provided in PID Appendix 
3.8).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of teachers across 
five states that have 
completed training. The 
consolidated report 
indicating the status of DLI 
achievement is submitted to 
IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

$10 million if at least 
40,000 teachers 
across five states 
achieve the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million  
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 10,500 
Gujarat: 8,100 
Jharkhand: 6,100 
Tamil Nadu:10,500 
Uttarakhand: 4,800 
  

March 2025 (Y3): 
At least 11,760 
school leaders in 
program schools 
complete training 
on core modules 
(online/offline) on 
instructional and 
organizational 
leadership as per 

School leaders are considered to 
have completed the training when 
they receive a certificate for 
completing training on core 
modules on instructional and 
organizational leadership, and any 
others as per state-specific plan.   
 
This target is considered met 
when at least 11,760 school 
leaders in program schools across 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 

The program states will 
submit a progress report 
indicating the number of 
school leaders for the year 
who have completed the 
trainings against the state’s 
annual plan (the indicative 
reporting template is 
provided in PID Appendix 
3.8).  
 

$12 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
11,760 school 
leaders across five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2.4 million 
Gujarat: $2.4 million 
Jharkhand: $2.4 
million 
Tamil Nadu: $2.4 
million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
the state-specific 
plan 

five states complete trainings as 
per the state’s plan as of March 
2025.    
 
 

MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of teachers across 
five states that have 
completed training for the 
year. The consolidated 
report indicating the status 
of DLI achievement is 
submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB 
 

achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        
 

Uttarakhand: $2.4 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 2,300 
Gujarat: 1,600 
Jharkhand: 2,360 
Tamil Nadu: 3,100 
Uttarakhand: 2,400   

March 2026 (Y4): 
At least 1,400 
exemplar/cluster 
schools have 
school 
improvement 
plans in place 
across the states 
based on 
organizational 
leadership training 
of school leaders 

Based on organizational 
leadership training, school leaders 
are to develop each school’s 
quality improvement/development 
plan. All exemplar schools are to 
develop such a plan, while cluster 
schools are encouraged to 
develop the plan as well. The 
school-specific plan will cover all 
initiatives with annual targets for 
the school on areas including (but 
not limited to) learning 
environment upgrade, teacher 
availability and trainings, quality 
improvement initiatives such as 
LEP implementation, etc.   
 
This target is considered achieved 
when 1,400 exemplar or cluster 
schools have created school 
improvement plans and uploaded 
on state MIS system. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

The program states will 
submit a progress report 
indicating the number of 
exemplar/cluster schools 
that have school 
improvement/development 
plans in place.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of exemplar/cluster 
schools across five states 
that have the required 
development plans in place. 
The consolidated report 
indicating the status of DLI 
achievement is submitted to 
IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

$10 million to be 
disbursed if 1,400 
exemplar/cluster 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million 
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million  
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 275 
Gujarat: 195 
Jharkhand: 280 
Tamil Nadu: 365 
Uttarakhand: 285   
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Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
March 2027 (Y5): 
At least 72,000 
teachers in 
program schools 
of five states 
complete trainings 
on core modules 
(online/offline) per 
the state-specific 
plan, including 
foundational 
learning, 
interactive 
pedagogic 
practice, digital 
skills, and 
gender/socially 
inclusive 
education 

Teachers are considered to have 
completed the training when they 
receive a certificate for completing 
training on core modules. Core 
modules must include 
foundational learning, interactive 
pedagogic practice, digital skills, 
inclusive education, and any other 
modules as per state’s annual 
plan.   
 
This target is considered met 
when at least 72,000 teachers in 
program schools across five 
states complete trainings as per 
the state’s plan as of March 2027.    
 
 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

The program states will 
submit a progress report 
indicating the number of 
teachers who have 
completed the trainings 
against the state’s annual 
plan (the indicative 
reporting template is 
provided in PID Appendix 
3.8).  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the total 
number of teachers across 
five states that have 
completed training. The 
consolidated report 
indicating the status of DLI 
achievement, is submitted 
to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

$10 million if at least 
72,000 teachers 
across five states 
achieve the target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.        
  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $2 million  
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target numbers for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 19,000 
Gujarat: 14,600 
Jharkhand: 11,100 
Tamil Nadu:18,600 
Uttarakhand: 8,700 
  

DLI 8: State capacity for outcome-based planning and monitoring mechanisms strengthened 

Prior results in 
2022: 
(i) Program states 
develop the 
state’s 
perspective plan 
and finalize state-
level results 
framework for 
RBL program 

(i) The target is considered met 
when the program states have 
developed each state’s 
perspective plans that include the 
state’s 5-year vision, midterm 
objectives, and key achievement 
areas. The perspective plan must 
include the state-level results 
framework for the RBL program, 
including annual targets for each 
of planned interventions. 

(i) State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2022 

(i) The program states will 
submit the state’s 
perspective plan including 
the state-level results 
framework for the RBL 
program. 
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
indicating the status of DLI 
achievement. The report is 

(i) $15 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $9 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $12 
million to be 

(i) Following amounts 
to be disbursed to 
each state on 
achieving the target: 
 
Assam: $3 million 
Gujarat: $3 million 
Jharkhand: $3 million 
Tamil Nadu: $3 
million 
Uttarakhand: $3 
million 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
submitted to the 
independent consultants 
engaged by ADB.  
 
The independent 
consultants will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
  

 
  

Prior results in 
2022: 
(ii) State-specific 
scope of work or 
TOR for MIS 
enhancement 
developed in five 
states, including 
RBL program 
monitoring system  

(ii) Each state will study the MIS 
enhancements required, including 
enhancements necessary to 
enable RBL program reporting, 
and outline the scope of work/ 
tender TOR to undertake such 
MIS enhancements.  
 
This target is achieved when the 
state-specific scope of work or 
tender TOR for MIS enhancement 
is developed in each state.   

(ii) State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2022 

(ii) The program states will 
submit the scope of 
work/tender TOR for MIS 
enhancement finalized in 
each state.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report 
summarizing the state of 
DLI achievement. The 
report is submitted to 
independent consultants 
engaged by ADB. 
 
The independent 
consultants will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

(ii) $10 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $6 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $8 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
 

(ii) Following amounts 
to be disbursed to 
each state on 
achieving the target: 
Assam: $2 million  
Gujarat: $2 million 
Jharkhand: $2 million 
Tamil Nadu: $2 
million 
Uttarakhand: $2 
million 
 
  

March 2024 (Y2): 
Statewide MIS 
enhanced with 
separate modules 
for schools, 
students, and 
teachers aligned 

Statewide MIS modules on 
schools, students, and teachers 
are to be set up in five states. The 
modules should enable U-DISE 
requirements to be served through 
state MIS. All schools, students 
and teachers in the state will be 
assigned a unique ID in the state 
MIS.  
 
For exemplar schools under RBL 
program, information related to 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2024 

The program states will 
submit a report 
substantiating the 
availability of separate 
school, student, and 
teacher modules with 
unique ID.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
status of DLI achievement 

$5 million to be 
disbursed if all 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
Partial 
disbursement: $3 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $4 
million to be 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $1 million  
Gujarat: $1 million 
Jharkhand: $1 million 
Tamil Nadu: $1 
million 
Uttarakhand: $1 
million   
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
with U-DISE12 
requirements 

school improvement plans is to be 
available on the school profile 
module. 
 
This target is considered met 
when school, student, and teacher 
modules are available online with 
unique ID for each across five 
states.  

across five states. The 
report is submitted to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
 
 

March 2025 (Y3): 
Enhanced MIS 
modules 
operational for at 
least 820 
exemplar schools 
to enter required 
data by sex and 
other social 
background 
information  
 

Enhanced MIS modules are 
considered operational in 
exemplar schools if the school’s 
details (school code, grades 
offered, infrastructure availability, 
etc.); student details (student 
code, gender, grade, learning 
outcomes if applicable); and 
teacher details (teacher ID, 
gender, grade, subject, etc.) are 
being updated by the school.  
 
This indicator is considered met 
when at least 820 exemplar 
schools across five states are 
using the state MIS to enter all 
required data inputs, including 
those disaggregated by sex and 
other social background 
information, and it is possible to 
generate corresponding reports. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2025 

The program states will 
submit a report indicating 
the number of exemplar 
schools that use the state 
MIS to enter all required 
data, substantiated with 
MIS profile extracts for 5% 
of target exemplar schools.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
status of DLI achievement.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

$4 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
820 exemplar 
schools across five 
states achieve the 
target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.       
 
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $0.8 million  
Gujarat: $0.8 million 
Jharkhand: $0.8 
million 
Tamil Nadu: $0.8 
million 
Uttarakhand: $0.8 
million  
 
The state-specific 
target number of 
exemplar schools for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 145 
Gujarat: 130 
Jharkhand: 180  
Tamil Nadu: 240 
Uttarakhand: 125  

March 2026 (Y4): 
Each program 
state has digitized 
its school visit 
monitoring system 

Each state’s school visit 
monitoring system is digitized. 
The parameters of such a school 
visit monitoring system may vary 
from state to state and also from 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

The program states will 
submit a report 
substantiating that school 
visit monitoring system is 
digitized and integrated into 
state MIS, along with a few 

$4 million to be 
disbursed if all five 
states achieve the 
target. 
 

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $0.8 million 
Gujarat: $0.8 million  

 
 
12 U-DISE is a central database of schools in India and collects data on parameters such as schools, infrastructure, teachers, enrollments, examination results, and 

so on, which include 11 sections. Currently, not all the states have state-level MIS to provide all the required information for U-DISE. 

https://udiseplus.gov.in/udise-home/#/Download
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
and integrated 
into state’s MIS  

time to time, based on each 
state’s priorities.  
 
The target is considered to be met 
when state-wise school visit 
monitoring system is digitized, and 
corresponding data are integrated 
into state MIS such that a 
dashboard/report on school visit 
monitoring is available for view on 
the MIS. 

sample reports generated 
through the MIS.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
status of DLI achievement. 
The report is submitted to 
IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

Partial 
disbursement: $2.4 
million to be 
disbursed if at least 
three states achieve 
the target; and $3.2 
million to be 
disbursed if four 
states achieve the 
target.  
 
  

Jharkhand: $0.8 
million  
Tamil Nadu: $0.8 
million 
Uttarakhand: $0.8 
million 
 
  

March 2027 (Y5): 
MIS module on 
student learning 
data are 
operational and at 
least 1,100 
exemplar schools 
use the module 

MIS modules are considered 
operational in exemplar schools if 
the details on student learning 
outcomes are being input by the 
schools in the state MIS.  
 
This indicator is considered met 
when at least 1,100 exemplar 
schools across five states are 
using the MIS module to enter all 
required data inputs on learning 
outcomes. 

State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2027 

The program states will 
submit a report indicating 
the number of exemplar 
schools that use the MIS 
module to enter all required 
student learning data, 
substantiated with MIS 
profile extracts for 5% of 
target exemplar schools.  
 
MOE will review the state 
documents and prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
status of DLI achievement.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

$4 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
1,100 exemplar 
schools achieve the 
target. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: If a 
minimum 60% of 
the target is 
achieved, ADB will 
disburse an amount 
that is proportional 
to the result 
achieved.  

Following amounts to 
be disbursed to each 
state on achieving the 
target: 
Assam: $0.8 million 
Gujarat: $0.8 million  
Jharkhand: $0.8 
million  
Tamil Nadu: $0.8 
million 
Uttarakhand: $0.8 
million 
 
The state-specific 
target number of 
exemplar schools for 
this indicator are:  
Assam: 185 
Gujarat: 170 
Jharkhand: 245  
Tamil Nadu: 310 
Uttarakhand: 190 
 

DLI 9: National guidelines on curriculum and assessments strengthened for quality state education 
Prior results in 
2022: 

(i) MOE will constitute a central 
committee to support SCF and 
NCF on STEAM Education, 

(i) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2022 

(i) MOE will submit finalized 
Committee TORs for both 
STEAM and vocational 

(i) $3 million to be 
disbursed if TORs 
for both STEAM and 
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Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
(i) TORs for 
central 
committees to 
support SCF and 
NCF preparation 
on STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
finalized 

consisting of national and 
international experts in the field. 
 
MOE will also constitute a central 
committee to support SCF and 
NCF preparation for vocational 
education, consisting of national 
and international experts in the 
field as well as representatives 
from industry.  
 
The target is considered met 
when the TORs for these central 
committees are finalized. TOR for 
the committees may include 
institutional structure of the 
committee, its scope of work, 
output/reporting requirement, 
duration of assignment, budget 
etc. Potential lists of committee 
members may also be included in 
both STEAM and vocational 
education committees. 
 
The target is considered met 
when Committee TORs are 
finalized and committee 
constitution is initiated for both 
STEAM and vocational education. 

education to independent 
consultants engaged by 
ADB.  
 
The independent 
consultants will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB.  

vocational 
education are 
finalized.   
 
Partial 
disbursement: $1.5 
million to be 
disbursed if TOR is   
finalized for any one 
of STEAM or 
vocational 
education. 
 

Prior results in 
2022: 
(ii) Templates or 
guidance notes 
developed for 
state-level 
stakeholder 
consultations  

(ii) Each state is required to 
prepare SCFs for STEAM and 
vocational education as per the 
state’s requirement. MOE will 
create templates and/or guidance 
notes which the states will 
leverage to develop their SCFs. 
 
The target is considered met 
when templates and/or guidance 
notes to support states with SCF 
preparation are created.  

(ii) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2023 

(ii) MOE will submit a report 
on templates and/or 
guidance notes to support 
SCF preparation to 
independent consultants 
engaged by ADB.  
 
The independent 
consultants will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 

(ii) $2 million to be 
disbursed if all 
necessary 
templates and/or 
guidance notes to 
support SCF 
development for 
states are created.  
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Achievement 
Information Source 
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Verification Agency and 
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Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
March 2023 (Y1): 
The committees 
convene state-
level workshops to 
guide states on 
developing SCFs 
for STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
 

State level workshop(s) for 
STEAM education is said to be 
conducted when representatives 
of the committee convened for 
STEAM education, along with 
representatives from states along 
with other necessary 
representatives, if any, from MOE, 
NCERT, etc. meet to guide states 
on approach to develop SCF for 
STEAM education.  
 
Workshop(s) for vocational 
education is said to be conducted 
when representatives of the 
committee convened for 
vocational education, along with 
representatives from states along 
with other necessary 
representatives, if any, from MOE, 
NCERT, industry etc. meet to 
guide states on approach to 
develop SCF for vocational 
education.  
 
The target is considered met 
when the respective workshops 
for STEAM education and 
vocational education are 
completed to guide states on 
developing SCFs. 

MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2023 

MOE will prepare a report 
outlining the conduct of the 
two areas of workshops, 
including a list of workshop 
attendees. The report is 
provided to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
submitted documents and 
submit the verification 
report to MOE and ADB. 

$4 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
two workshops are 
completed. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: $2 
million to be 
disbursed if 
workshop(s) on 
either of the topics 
have been 
completed; and 
additional amounts 
proportional to the 
number of 
workshops 
completed as per 
the plans for each of 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
workshops.    
 

 

March 2024 (Y2): 
(i) International or 
national 
partnerships 
established for a 
national 
assessment 
center (PARAKH) 
to develop 
assessment 
standards for 

(i) The proposed national 
assessment center (PARAKH) to 
be established under MOE will set 
norms, standards, and guidelines 
for student assessment and 
evaluation in India, and will serve 
as a central anchor for developing 
institutional capacity for 
assessments in the country.  
To adopt international best 
practices suitable for India 

(i) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2024 

(i) MOE will submit a report 
on international or national 
partnerships established for 
PARAKH along with a copy 
of the relevant partnership 
document(s) to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
submitted documents and 
submit the verification 
report to MOE and ADB. 

(i) $2 million to be 
disbursed when at 
least one 
international or 
national partnership 
is established. 
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Disbursement 
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(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
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(MOE to states) 
grades 3, 5, and 8 
and state board 
exams 

education, MOE will establish 
partnerships with international or 
national organizations and/or 
assessment agencies specializing 
in various aspects of 
assessments, including 
assessment design, sampling, 
administration, response analysis, 
reporting and data usage, etc.  
 
An international or national 
partnership is said to be 
established when a MOU or its 
equivalent is signed with a chosen 
international or national 
organization/assessment agency 
for support in developing national 
assessment standards for grades 
3, 5 and 8 and state board 
examinations. The MOU may 
describe the broad outlines on the 
scope of support areas, timelines 
of activities, and expected 
outcomes.  
 
The target is considered met 
when at least one such 
international or national 
partnership is developed to 
support PARAKH.  

March 2024 (Y2): 
(ii) National 
workshops 
convened to 
develop NCF for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education with 
recommended 
teacher training 
modules 

(ii) National workshop(s) for 
STEAM education is said to be 
conducted when representatives 
of the committee convened for 
STEAM education, along with 
other necessary representatives, if 
any, from MOE, NCERT, ADB 
program states, or other states, 
etc. meet to develop national 
curriculum framework for STEAM 
education, recommended teacher 
training modules and any other 

(ii) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2024 

(ii) MOE will submit a report 
outlining the conduct of the 
national workshops (at least 
one each for STEAM and 
vocational education), 
including list of workshop 
attendees, key outputs 
generated, and decisions 
taken to IVA.  
 
The IVA will verify the 
submitted documents and 

(ii) $2 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
two workshops are 
completed, one 
each for STEAM 
and vocational 
education. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: $1.2 
million to be 
disbursed if 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
resources to be developed or 
acquired/ curated (e.g., teaching-
learning resources, etc.). 
 
National workshop(s) for 
vocational education is said to be 
conducted when representatives 
of the committee convened for 
vocational education, along with 
other necessary representatives, if 
any, from MOE, NCERT, ADB 
program states, or other states, 
etc. meet to develop national 
curriculum framework for 
vocational education, 
recommended teacher training 
modules and any other resources 
to be developed or acquired/ 
curated (e.g., teaching-learning 
resources, etc.).     
 
The target is considered met 
when at least one national 
workshop each is organized for 
STEAM education and vocational 
education respectively, and 
consensus approach and 
timelines to develop national 
curriculum framework and 
recommendations on teacher 
training modules is finalized. 

submit the verification 
report to MOE and ADB. 

workshop(s) on 
either of the topics 
have been 
completed.  
 

March 2025 (Y3): 
(i) Training 
modules on 
assessment 
standards for 
state capacity 
building 
developed by 
PARAKH 
  

(i) Training modules refer to a set 
of resources to be developed by 
PARAKH to enable state capacity 
on assessments standards.  
 
The training modules will be 
targeted at SCERT and DIET 
staff, school leaders and teachers, 
as well as State Boards of 
Education. The training modules 
may be digital or offline. All 

(i) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2025 

(i) MOE will submit a report 
on training modules 
developed for state capacity 
building on assessment 
standards to IVA. 
 
The IVA will verify the 
submitted documents and 
submit the verification 
report to MOE and ADB. 

(i) $2 million to be 
disbursed if training 
modules are 
developed.  
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
modules must include a pre- and 
post-assessment to enable 
evaluation of training efficacy. 
 
The target will be considered met 
when training modules for 
assessment standards for 
SCERT, DIET, school leaders, 
teachers and State Boards are 
developed by PARAKH. 

March 2025 (Y3): 
(ii) At least two 
cross-learning 
workshops 
completed to 
share innovative 
practices from the 
states   

(ii) Cross-learning workshop is 
said to be completed when 
representatives and concerned 
authorities from MOE, the 
program states and other states, 
and other invitees as appropriate 
meet to discuss learnings and 
best practices on select topics/ 
interventions and share relevant 
resource materials to facilitate the 
adoption or further improvement 
across the states.  
 
Innovative practices may include 
intervention designs, 
implementation approaches, 
partnerships or resources that 
have contributed to the program 
states’ performance in the RBL 
program outcome and output 
areas. 
 
The target will be considered met 
when at least two cross-learning 
workshops are conducted at a 
central level with representation 
from all program states. 

(ii) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2025 

(ii) MOE will prepare a 
report on innovative 
practices shared by states 
during the workshops along 
with a list of workshop 
attendees. The report is 
submitted to IVA. 
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

(ii) $2 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
two workshops are 
completed. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: 
$1 million to be 
disbursed if one 
workshop is 
completed. 
 

 

March 2026 (Y4): 
(i) SCF prepared 
for STEAM and 
vocational 

(i) SCF for STEAM education is 
said to be prepared when STEAM 
education approach is clearly 
articulated, including its goals, 

(i) State and MOE 
program performance 
reports; one time in 
2026 

(i) States will submit a 
report on status of SCFs, 
along with the draft of the 
frameworks themselves for 

(i) $2 million to be 
disbursed if SCFs 
for STEAM and 
vocational 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
education for five 
program states 
 

intended outcomes/competencies 
among students by level of 
education or grades, an 
instructional approach, 
interlinkages with existing 
disciplines of science, math and 
arts, and an overall 
implementation approach 
considering the current status of 
STEAM education.  
 
SCF for vocational education is 
said to be prepared when a clear 
approach for how pre-vocational 
and vocational education should 
be integrated in middle and 
secondary grades respectively, in 
line with the vision of the National 
Education Policy 2020, is outlined. 
The document should include 
objectives/goals by levels of 
education/grades, approach to 
providing pre-vocational 
orientation and offering trades in 
line with local demand, approach 
to partnerships with industry and 
local training institutes/sector skills 
councils, delivering soft skills 
along with trade-specific skills, 
building systems for mobility 
between core and vocational 
education, etc.  
 
This target is met when SCFs for 
STEAM education and vocational 
education is prepared and for the 
five ADB program states and 
shared with MOE. 

STEAM education and 
vocational education to 
MOE.  
 
MOE will prepare a 
consolidated report on the 
status of SCF for STEAM 
education and vocational 
education, along with the 
drafts of the frameworks 
themselves for all five 
states and share with IVA.   
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

education are 
prepared for five 
program states. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: 
$1.2 million to be 
disbursed if SCFs 
for STEAM and 
vocational 
education are 
prepared for at least 
three program 
states; $1.6 million if 
prepared by four 
states.  
 

March 2026 (Y4): 
(ii) At least two 
workshops 
completed on 

(ii) Cross-learning workshop is 
said to be completed when 
representatives and concerned 
authorities from MOE, the 

(ii) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2026 

(ii) MOE will prepare a 
report on quality 
interventions discussed and 
learnings shared by the 

(ii) $2 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
two workshops are 
completed. 
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Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
cross-learning 
from quality 
interventions 
across the states 

program states and other states, 
and other invitees as appropriate 
meet to discuss learnings and 
best practices on select topics/ 
interventions and share relevant 
resource materials to facilitate the 
adoption across the states.  
 
Quality interventions refer to 
interventions implemented to 
improve the quality of teaching-
learning including LEPs for 
foundational learning, STEAM 
Education, 21st century skills 
delivery, teacher capacity 
development, assessments 
strengthening, use of digital to 
improve learning outcomes, etc.  
 
The target is considered met 
when at least two cross-learning 
workshops are conducted at a 
central level with representation 
from all program states. 

states during the workshops 
along with a list of workshop 
attendees. The report is 
submitted to IVA. 
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

 
Partial 
disbursement: 
$1 million to be 
disbursed if one 
workshop is 
completed. 
 

March 2027 (Y5): 
(i) NCFs for 
STEAM and 
vocational 
education 
finalized  

(i) NCF for STEAM education is 
said to be finalized when STEAM 
education approach at a national 
level is clearly articulated, 
including its goals, intended 
outcomes/competencies among 
students by level of education or 
grades, an instructional approach, 
interlinkages with existing 
disciplines of science, math and 
arts, and an overall 
implementation approach 
considering the current status of 
STEAM education in the country.  
 
NCF for vocational education is 
said to be finalized when a clear 
approach for how pre-vocational 

(i) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2027 

(i) MOE will prepare a 
report on the status of 
NCFs for STEAM and 
vocational education, along 
with copies of the final 
approved frameworks 
themselves and share with 
IVA. 
 
The IVA will verify the 
documents and submit the 
verification report to MOE 
and ADB. 
 

(i) $2 million to be 
disbursed if NCFs 
for STEAM and 
vocational 
education are 
finalized and 
approved by MOE. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: 
$1 million to be 
disbursed if at least 
one of the two 
NCFs (STEAM or 
vocational 
education) is 
finalized and 
approved. 
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Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
and vocational education should 
be integrated in middle and 
secondary grades respectively, in 
line with the vision of the National 
Education Policy 2020, is outlined 
for the country. The document 
should include objectives/goals by 
levels of education/grades, 
approach to providing pre-
vocational orientation and offering 
trades in line with local demand, 
approach to partnerships with 
industry and local training 
institutes/sector skills councils, 
delivering soft skills along with 
trade-specific skills, building 
systems for mobility between core 
and vocational education, etc. 
 
This target is considered met 
when NCFs for STEAM education 
and vocational education is 
approved by the MOE. 

March 2027 (Y5): 
(ii) Training 
modules on 
assessment 
standards 
implemented in all 
five states 

(ii) Training modules refer to a set 
of resources to developed by 
PARAKH to enable state capacity 
building on assessments 
standards.  
 
The training modules will be 
targeted at SCERT and DIET 
staff, school leaders and teachers, 
as well as State Boards of 
Education. The training modules 
may be digital or offline. All 
modules must include a pre- and 
post-assessment to enable 
evaluation of training efficacy. 
 
This target will be considered met 
when the training modules on 
assessment standards are 

(ii) MOE program 
performance reports; 
one time in 2027 

(ii) MOE will submit a report 
on the implementation 
status of training modules 
on assessment standards 
across the five states to 
IVA. 
 
The IVA will verify the 
submitted documents and 
submit the verification 
report to MOE and ADB. 

$2 million to be 
disbursed if the 
training modules are 
implemented across 
all the five program 
states. 
 
Partial 
disbursement: 
$1.2 million to be 
disbursed if training 
modules are 
implemented in at 
least three program 
states; $1.6 million if 
implemented in four 
states. 
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DLIs 
Definition and Description of 

Achievement 
Information Source 

and Frequency 
Verification Agency and 

Procedure 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(ADB to MOE) 

Disbursement 
Formula  

(MOE to states) 
implemented in all the five states, 
and SCERT and, DIET staff, 
school leaders and teachers in the 
states undergo the training. 

ADB = Asian Development Bank; BaLA = Building as Learning Aid; COVID-19 = coronavirus disease; CWSN = children with special needs; DIET = district institute 
of education and training; DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; ICT = information and communication technology; ID = identification; IVA = independent verification 
agency; LEP = learning enhancement program; MIS = management information system; MOE = Ministry of Education; MOU = memorandum of understanding; NAS 
= national achievement survey; NCERT = national council of educational research and training; NCF = national curriculum framework; PARAKH = Performance 
Assessment, Review, and Analysis of Knowledge for Holistic Development; PID = program implementation document; Q = quarter; RBL = results-based lending; 
SCERT = state council of education research and training; SCF = state curriculum framework; STEAM = science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics; 
SY = school year; TLM = teaching-learning material; TOR = terms of reference; U-DISE = Unified District Information System for Education; Y = year for 
implementation. 
Source: Asian Development Bank. 
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APPENDIX 3: GUIDELINES ON REPORTING TEMPLATES RELATED TO VERIFICATION 
PROTOCOLS 

 
A3.1: Year-Wise State Level Dropout Tracker (DLI 2) 

 

Year Grade 
Number of 
students 

Number of 
repeaters 

Total dropout 
students 

(Grade 9 to grade 
10) 

% dropout for the 
year 

(grade 9 to grade 
10) 

    

Formula - Dropout 
students in FY2020 = 
(Number of students in 
grade 9 in 2019 – 
number of students in 
grade 10 in 2020 + 
number of repeaters in 
grade 10 in 2020 - 
number of repeaters in 
grade 9 in 2020) 

Formula – Total 
dropout students 
(grade 9 to grade 10) 
for 2020 / Number of 
students in grade 9 in 
2019 

FY2023 
Grade 9     

Grade 10     

FY2024 
Grade 9     
Grade 10     

FY2025 
Grade 9     
Grade 10     

FY2026 
Grade 9     
Grade 10     

FY2027 
Grade 9     
Grade 10     
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A3.2: Template for List of Exemplar Schools (DLI 3) 
 

1. In line with prior results requirements, each state will be required to provide the complete list of exemplar schools along with 
criteria for selection and standards for leader and cluster schools as per the below template. The leader and cluster schools selected 
for the program should adhere to the state defined selection criteria.  
 

State-level template for criteria and standards for selection of leader and cluster schools, and list of exemplar schools 
Sr. 
No Indicator 

1 

State Criteria for Selection of exemplar schools: define the multi parameter selection criteria for exemplar schools (e.g. on basis of enrollment, availability of 
basic facilities, availability of teachers, geographic distribution, etc.) 
- xx 
- xx 

2 
State Criteria for Selection of cluster schools: define the multi parameter selection criteria for cluster schools.  
- xx 
- xx 

3 

State standards for exemplar schools: these are the desired goals for schools in terms of improvement in student competencies, reduction in school dropout, 
physical and digital facility upgrades, target quality interventions, staffing plans, etc.   
- xx 
- xx 

4 
State standards for cluster schools: define the desired goals for cluster schools (similar parameters as for exemplar schools) 
- xx 
- xx 

List of exemplar schools 

Sr. 
No 

School 
Name 

U-DISE 
Code 

Latitude 
(if 

available) 

Longitude 
(if 

available) 

# of 
boys 

enrolled 

# of 
girls 

enrolled 

# of 
General 
category 
enrolled 

# of 
scheduled 

caste 
enrolled 

# of 
scheduled 

tribe 
enrolled 

# of other 
backwards 

classes 
enrolled 

# total 
students 

Total 
number 

of 
teachers 

Full time 
school 
leader 

available 
(Yes/No) 
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A3.3: Guiding Document to Define Exemplar and Cluster School Selection Criteria and 
Standards 

 
A. Guideline for Selection of Exemplar and Cluster Schools 

1. A subset of schools will be developed as “exemplar schools” in each state. The key goals 
for developing such schools will include one or more of the following depending on state 
baseline and priorities: 

 
(i) Create exemplars and demonstrate what is possible to be achieved within the 

government schools’ context. These schools can act as a catalyst by serving as a 
model for replication in other schools of the state. 

(ii) Create host schools for establishing fully integrated school complexes/clusters on 
the lines of National Education Policy  

(iii) Strengthen the quality of education in a cluster or block or other geographical unit; 
exemplar schools to mentor other schools in replicating key interventions in the 
school cluster or geographical unit. 

 
2. The desired end state for these exemplar schools will include: 
 

(i) best-in-class learning facilities (science labs, libraries, smart classrooms, ICT labs, 
etc.); 

(ii) as per requirement, 100% availability of teachers and school leaders; 
(iii) access to high-quality learning across primary & secondary grades through quality 

interventions such as Foundation of Literacy and Numeracy (FLN), science, 
technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics (STEAM), education technology, 
etc.   

 
3. Selection approach of exemplar schools will be guided by the Ministry of Education 
(MOE)’s guidelines for such schools.  The broad guidelines with respect to the criteria of exemplar 
schools also include the following. States can define a multi-parameter selection criterion for the 
exemplar schools, along with MOE’s guidelines. The following types of schools will be preferred:  
 

(i) schools with basic learning facilities availability, i.e., schools with greater learning 
facilities availability than the average infrastructure availability in the state. States 
may also choose to prioritize schools that have greater land availability in the 
school premises. Land availability would enable future expansion of these 
schools in years to come, as they may see increase in enrollment in line with 
quality improvement; 

(ii) schools with high enrollment, i.e., schools with enrollment higher than the average 
enrollment in the state; 

(iii) integrated schools (I-X or I-XII) or a cluster of primary and secondary schools; and 
(iv) school dispersion and inclusion of remote or tribal areas, Kasturba Gandhi Balika 

Vidyalaya, girls-only schools, etc., i.e., schools with students from all social 
categories, in proportion to the block or cluster population dispersion. 

 
4. Similarly, the selection approach of cluster schools should be guided by the state’s vision 
for such schools. The aim may be to develop at least one school in each cluster that serves as 
an exemplar and resource hub for the cluster, with significant focus on quality improvement. 
These schools would also serve as host schools and can eventually support development of 
school complexes or clusters at a larger scale across the state in line with the National Education 
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Policy (NEP) (following the example that may be set by exemplar schools to begin with). These 
schools may have relatively less focus on learning facilities upgrade (capital intensive measures 
may be concentrated on exemplar schools, at least to begin with), however cluster schools should 
receive other key quality interventions (e.g., FLN learning enhancement program [LEP], 21st 
century skills, basic digital facilities and use of digital for learning, etc.).  
 
5. In terms of selection criteria, parameters similar to those described above for exemplar 
schools may also be used for cluster schools, with slightly lower selection thresholds. It must also 
be ensured that cluster schools are geographically spread out across the state (could be chosen 
as one per cluster). 
 
B. Guidelines for Standards to be Set for Exemplar and Cluster Schools 

6. Exemplar schools under the program will be supported to achieve a desired state in terms 
of the physical and digital facility upgrades, quality intervention implementation and teacher 
capacity development. The following section enlists the desirable standard of learning facilities, 
quality teaching-learning, school leadership and management, etc. that the exemplar schools 
should aim to achieve: 
 

1. Improved Learning Environments  

7. Learning facilities upgrades. Every exemplar school will have all basic but well-
functioning learning facilities in place. 
 

(i) Adequate number of classrooms as per enrollment and number of grades in the 
school such that the optimal student-classroom ratio as defined by the state is met, 
and there is at least one classroom per grade in all exemplar schools. 

(ii) Functional sanitation facilities: including functional toilets for boys and girls, 
provision of water for drinking in safe storage containers, daily treatment of drinking 
water with an appropriate technology, provision of water for handwashing, and 
daily provision of soap.  

(iii) Inclusive facilities: a children with special needs (CWSN) toilet, ramp, and other 
tools or devices as required.  

(iv) A library: each school must also be equipped with functioning libraries with the 
necessary furniture and books.  

(v) Science labs: including physics, chemistry, biology, or any other science lab to aid 
in teaching science to students and vocational labs or workshops with necessary 
tools and equipment to aid in the delivery of vocational education.  

(vi) Schools will also be painted applying the concepts of Building as Learning Aids 
(BaLA) such that the school premises are inviting and child friendly. BaLA or 
beautification work refers to the “Building as Learning Aid” scheme, which is about 
developing and using the physical space around the child as a learning resource 
in a child-friendly manner. The specific requirements for BaLA will be defined in 
the school-wise plan as required in each state. 

 
8. Digital facilities upgrade. Every exemplar school will have digital infrastructure to 
advance learning outcomes as well as to build the digital skills necessary in the 21st century. This 
includes: 
 

(i) electricity and information and communication technology (ICT) connectivity, either 
via broadband or mobile data; 
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(ii) on or more teachers should be oriented and trained in setting up and using ICT 
infrastructure effectively;  

(iii) all exemplar schools will have at least one smart class for every secondary grade. 
The definition of a smart classroom may differ from state to state; smart classrooms 
may have a TV screen or laptop and projector; 

(iv) ICT or computer labs, student-wise tablets as required in the states for 
Personalized Adaptive Learning (PAL) solutions; and 

(v) access to digital content may differ from state to state; smart classrooms may use 
offline content on an external hard drive or online content (in which case the 
schools would require an internet connection). 

 
9. Teacher and school leader availability. Exemplar schools will be equipped with the 
required teachers and school leaders at the elementary and secondary levels: 
 

(i) at the primary and upper primary level, the exemplar schools will be equipped with 
teachers required as per the RTE norms; 

(ii) at the secondary level, the exemplar schools will be equipped with subject-wise 
teachers as per states norms; and 

(iii) all exemplar schools will be equipped with school leaders.  
 

2. Enhanced teaching-learning and assessments 

10. Learning enhancement programs for elementary grades. Every exemplar school with 
elementary grades will implement the LEP (FLN or at-grade programs, etc.) approved in the state. 
The schools will be equipped with appropriate curricular resources and teaching-learning 
materials, and the teachers will be oriented to implement the LEP. 
 
11. Learning enhancement programs for upper primary and secondary grades. Every 
exemplar school with upper primary and secondary grades will implement the chosen LEPs in 
each state, which may include, STEAM education, vocational education, 21st century skills 
education, PAL solutions, and digital education. The schools will be equipped with appropriate 
curricular resources and teaching-learning material, and the teachers will be oriented to 
implement the LEPs. 

 
12. Effective conduct of assessments and usage of results. All exemplar schools will 
implement the formative and assessments designed in the state and utilize the results of the 
assessment to improve the school’s approach to bettering learning outcomes. 

 
3. Teacher and school leader capacity building 

13. Teacher capacity building. All teachers in exemplar schools will be trained on core 
subject content and pedagogy, general pedagogy aspects such as effective classroom 
management or inquiry-based approach to teaching, trainings related to LEPs such as those for 
FLN, remediation, 21st century skills, etc., and other areas that states may prioritize.  
 
14. School leader capacity building. All school leaders of exemplar schools will be trained 
on the academic and administrative leadership of a school (e.g., instructional methods, school 
development planning, and effective parental engagement) 
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4. Strengthen governance and accountability. 

15. Rigorous implementation of education management information system modules: 
Exemplar schools will effectively use the educational management information system (EMIS) 
modules launched across states. The program will rigorously track the usage of the EMIS in 
exemplar schools to ensure data is being collected, analyzed, and used effectively.  
 
16. School standards checklist for exemplar schools under the program. The standards enlist 
the key aspects of an ideal exemplar school:  
 

Component Sub-component Description 
Learning 
environment 
and facilities 

Classrooms • Adequate number of classrooms as per enrollment and number of 
grades in the school such that the optimal student-classroom ratio as 
per state vision 

• At least one classroom per grade in all exemplar schools 
• Classroom to be well lit, ventilated and clean  

Sanitation 
facilities 

• Functional toilets for boys and girls 
• Provision of water for drinking in safe storage containers. 
• Daily treatment of drinking water with an appropriate technology 
• Provision of water for handwashing 
• Daily provision of soap 

Inclusive facilities • Children with special needs toilet 
• Ramp and other tools /devices as required  

Library • Each school must also be equipped with functioning libraries with the 
necessary furniture and books 

Science labs • Physics, chemistry, biology, or any other science lab to aid in teaching 
science to students.   

• Vocational labs or workshops with necessary tools and equipment to 
aid in the delivery of vocational education 

• Labs should be equipped with necessary equipment for students to 
practice or experiment  

Information and 
Communication 
Technology (ICT) 
facilities  

• Electricity and ICT connectivity either via broadband or mobile data 
• Computer room with sufficient numbers of computers with internet 

access 
• One smart class for every secondary grade 
• Student wise tablets as required in the states for Personalized 

Adaptive Learning solutions 
Others • Schools will also be painted applying the concepts of Building as 

Learning Aids) such that the school premises are inviting and child 
friendly. 

• Playground of adequate size is available within school premises. 
Equipment for 2–3 games is available 

• Proper boundary wall or fencing exists  
Teaching-
learning 

Teacher 
availability 

• At the primary and upper primary level school will be equipped with 
teachers required as per the Right to Education norms  

• At the secondary level, school will be equipped with subject-wise 
teachers as per states norms 

Leadership 
availability  

• Each school to have a dedicated school leader 

Teaching-learning 
resources  

• TLM like resource books, charts, maps, models, kits etc. is available 
in the school 

Others • LEPs for elementary, upper primary and secondary grades are being 
implemented as per state’s plans. 

• Equipped with appropriate curricular resources and teaching-learning 
material for LEP 

Educational 
Management 

• Effectively use the EMIS modules launched across states 
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Component Sub-component Description 
Governance 
and 
accountability  

Information 
System (EMIS) 
School 
development plan 
(SDP) 

• SDP is drafted annually basis inputs from key stakeholders and 
implementation of SDP is monitored  

 
17. Eventually cluster schools should also aspire to achieve similar standards as for the 
exemplar schools. However, in the near term, the aim should be that at the least all the quality 
related standards and interventions are implemented in the cluster schools (e.g., implementation 
of FLN LEPs, interventions for 21st century skills, digital learning interventions, etc.). In 
subsequent years, more capital-intensive efforts such as for upgradation in learning facilities may 
also be targeted for cluster schools. 
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A3.4: Exemplar School Gap Assessment Template 
(as input to preparing school quality improvement plan) 

 
1. Each exemplar school should undertake gap assessment in key areas such as learning facilities, provision of teacher, status 
of learning and implementation of quality interventions etc. The following gap assessment template may be leveraged. The template is 
only suggestive and may be suitably modified per state needs. Post gap assessment, schools should develop respective school quality 
improvement plans 
 
A. School Level Learning Facilities Assessment Template 

School Level Learning Facilities Assessment Template    
Sr. 
No Indicator Current Status of facilities and equipment Action required 
    

Availability and adequacy 
in terms of number Functionality    

1 Sanitation Facilities       
1.1 Girls' toilets XX number of girls-only 

toilets. Number adequate as 
per current enrollment of girls 

YY Number of girls toilets 
that are fully functional with 
adequate water supply  

X new toilets to be 
constructed 
Y existing toilets to be 
upgraded   

41.2 Boys' toilets       
1.3 Drinking water facility       
1.4 Hand washing facility       
2 Building as Learning Aid     
3 Information and 

communication technology 
(ICT) Facilities  

      

3.1 Electricity connection       
3.2 ICT connectivity either via 

broadband or mobile data  
      

3.3 Computer room or ICT labs       
3.4 SMART Classrooms       

3.5 Tablets for Personalized Adaptive 
Learning solutions       

4 Inclusive Facilities        
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School Level Learning Facilities Assessment Template    
Sr. 
No Indicator Current Status of facilities and equipment Action required 
    

Availability and adequacy 
in terms of number Functionality    

4.1 Children with special needs 
toilets       

4.2 Ramp       
5 Science labs and libraries        

5.1 Science labs (biology, physics, 
chemistry, or mathematics)        

5.2 Library       
6 Classrooms       

7 <Others to be added as required 
by the state>    

 
B. School Level Teacher Gap Assessment 

Level of 
education 

Right to 
Education 

(RTE) / 
State norms 
applicable Subject 

Number 
of 

students 
Number of 
sections 

Number of 
teachers 
required 

(basis 
recent 

enrollment) 

Number of 
posts 

sanctioned 

Number of 
available 
teachers 

Vacancy 
(based on 

requirement) 
Primary RTE All       

Upper 
primary  

RTE All       

Secondary State 

Mathematics       
Language       
Science       
Social 
Studies 

      

<all subjects 
to be 
populated> 

 
  

 
  

Total 
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Level of 
education 

Right to 
Education 

(RTE) / 
State norms 
applicable Subject 

Number 
of 

students 
Number of 
sections 

Number of 
teachers 
required 

(basis 
recent 

enrollment) 

Number of 
posts 

sanctioned 

Number of 
available 
teachers 

Vacancy 
(based on 

requirement) 

Higher 
Secondary State 

Mathematics       
Language       
Physics       
Chemistry       
<all subjects 
to be 
populated> 

 
  

 
  

Total       
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A3.5: Learning Facilities Enhancement Plan and Reporting Template 
 

A. State-Level Learning facilities Upgrade Planning Template 

1. Note: mention the total number of exemplar schools for which gap assessment has been undertaken and aggregated state 
level upgradation workplan created as per template below: 

 

Sl. 
No Indicators 

Year-Wise Targets 
March 2021 2021–22 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25 

Baseline Gap Target Target Target Target 
1 Number of 

classrooms 
X classroom 
in y number 
of exemplar 
schools 

X number 
of 
classrooms 
in y number 
of exemplar 
schools 

X number of classrooms 
to be built in y number 
of exemplar schools 
 
A number of classrooms 
to be upgraded in b 
number of exemplar 
schools 

X number of 
classrooms to be built 
in y number of 
exemplar schools 
 
A number of 
classrooms to be 
upgraded in b number 
of exemplar schools 

X number of 
classrooms to be built 
in y number of 
exemplar schools 
 
A number of 
classrooms to be 
upgraded in b number 
of exemplar schools 

X number of classrooms 
to be built in y number 
of exemplar schools 
 
A number of classrooms 
to be upgraded in b 
number of exemplar 
schools 

2 Number of 
girls' toilets 

      

3 Number of 
boys' toilets 

      

4 Number of 
children with 
special needs 
toilets 

      

5 Drinking water 
facility 

      

6 Hand washing 
facility 

      

7 Library       

8 Science labs       

9 Building as 
Learning Aid 

      

10 Ramp       
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Sl. 
No Indicators 

Year-Wise Targets 
March 2021 2021–22 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25 

Baseline Gap Target Target Target Target 
11 Computer lab 

or information 
and 
communication 
technology lab 

      

12 Number of 
smart 
classrooms 

      

13. Tablets       

 
2. Post the overall planning exercise, for each subsequent year-wise disbursement-linked indicator (DLI) 3 target reporting, the 
state will submit a progress report for the number of exemplar schools that have undertaken learning facilities improvement as per the 
reporting template below (note: the template is indicative in nature of the facilities that can be included as a part of the upgrade). The 
states can include additional items or remove some items from the current list as per state requirement). Target refers to number of 
exemplar schools that have planned to undertake the improvement in the current year and achieved refers to the number of exemplar 
schools that completed improvement as per plan:   
 
B. State Level learning Facilities Improvement Report Template 

Exemplar Schools Learning Facilities Improvement Report  

Sr. No Indicator 

Target 
(cumulative 
since 2023) 

Achieved 
(cumulative 
since 2023) 

1 Building as Learning Aid (BaLA)    
1.1 # of exemplar schools that have received BaLA    
2 Sanitation Facilities     
2.1 # of exemplar schools with at least one functional boys toilet    
2.2 # of exemplar schools with at least one functional girls toilet    
2.3 # of exemplar schools with adequate handwashing facilities with provision of soap    
2.4 # of exemplar schools with adequate drinking water facilities with proper treatment and storage    
2.5 # of exemplar schools with all functional sanitation facilities (as above, 2.1 to 2.4)    
3 Information and communication technology (ICT) facilities     
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Exemplar Schools Learning Facilities Improvement Report  

Sr. No Indicator 

Target 
(cumulative 
since 2023) 

Achieved 
(cumulative 
since 2023) 

3.1 # of exemplar schools with electricity and ICT connectivity either via broadband or mobile data    

3.2 
# of exemplar schools with computer room or ICT lab with sufficient numbers of computers with 
internet access 

 
  

3.3 # of exemplar schools with one SMART classroom for every secondary grade    

3.4 
# of exemplar schools with student wise tablets as required for Personalized Adaptive Learning 
solutions 

 
  

3.5 
# of exemplar schools that have received necessary ICT facilities upgrade (3.1 and minimum one 
out of 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4) 

 
  

4 Inclusive Facilities     
4.1 # of exemplar schools with at least one functional children with special needs toilet    
4.2 # of exemplar schools with a ramp    
4.3 # of exemplar schools with 4.1 and 4.2     
5 Science labs and libraries     

5.1 
# of exemplar schools with at least one science lab (biology, physics, chemistry, or mathematics) 
functional and well-equipped  

 
  

5.2 # of exemplar schools with library with adequate number of children’s literature and subject books    
5.3 # of exemplar schools with at least one functional science lab (5.1) and well-equipped library (5.2)    
6 Classrooms    
6.1 # of exemplar schools with at least one classroom per grade in all exemplar schools    

6.2 # of exemplar schools with adequate number of classrooms as per enrollment and number of 
grades in the school such that the optimal student-classroom ratio can be achieved 

 
  

7 Safe learning environment   
 

7.1 # of exemplar schools that have a well-built boundary wall around school premises   

 Disbursement-linked indicator (DLI) Target - # of exemplar schools that had to undergo learning 
facilities upgrade  

Cumulative target as of April 
2023–2025 

 
DLI Achievement - # of exemplar schools that have undergone learning assessment upgrade as 
per their gap assessment /need (may include one or more of the above areas: BaLA, sanitation 
facilities, ICT facilities, inclusive facilities, science labs and libraries, classrooms, etc.)   

Cumulative achievement as 
of April 2023–2025 
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A3.6: Teacher Availability Gap Assessment and Deployment Plan Template 
 

1. Exemplar schools will be equipped with the required teachers and school leaders at the elementary and secondary levels: 
 
(i) At the primary and upper primary level, the exemplar schools will be equipped with teachers required as per the RTE 

norms.  
(ii) At the secondary level, the exemplar schools will be equipped with subject-wise teachers as per states norms. Each 

state to share their state-specific norms with MOE in report submitted. 
 
2. For Teacher Availability Gap Assessment, refer to the template in appendix 3.4.B. For post gap assessment, each state will 
develop a teacher deployment plan across exemplar schools across years.  
 
A. Year-Wise State Level Teacher Deployment Planning Template 

State-Level Yearly Teacher Deployment Template 
S.R. 
No. Indicator 2021 Target (2021–22) Target (2022–23) 

  
  

Baseline  
(# of 

schools) 

Gap  
(# of teachers 
and schools) 

# of 
schools 

# staff 
needed 

Source of 
staffing 

# of 
schools 

# of staff 
needed Source of staffing 

1 Secondary   As per state 
norms 

            

1.1 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
mathematics 
teachers 

 XX Number 
of schools 
already 
equipped with 
required 
number of 
math 
teachers  

YY Number of 
schools to be 
equipped with 
ZZ number of 
math teachers  

Y number 
of schools 
to be 
equipped 
with 
required 
math 
teachers 

Z number 
of math 
teachers to 
be 
deployed in 
these Y 
schools  

 # Staff to be 
deployed from 
various sources 
(basis fresh 
recruitment or 
transfer/ 
deputation from 
surplus positions 
etc.) 

Y number 
of schools 
to be 
equipped 
with 
required 
math 
teachers 

Z number 
of math 
teachers 
to be 
deployed 
in these 
Y 
schools  

# Staff to be 
deployed from 
various sources 
(basis fresh 
recruitment or 
transfer/ deputation 
from surplus 
positions etc.)  

1.2 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
Science 
teachers 

                

1.3 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required social 
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State-Level Yearly Teacher Deployment Template 
S.R. 
No. Indicator 2021 Target (2021–22) Target (2022–23) 

  
  

Baseline  
(# of 

schools) 

Gap  
(# of teachers 
and schools) 

# of 
schools 

# staff 
needed 

Source of 
staffing 

# of 
schools 

# of staff 
needed Source of staffing 

studies 
teachers 

1.4 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
language 
teachers 

                

1.5 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
English 
teachers 

                

1.6 <subjects to be 
populated 
basis states 
norms> 

                

1.7 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
secondary 
teachers 

                

2 Higher 
Secondary 

                

2.1 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
mathematics 
teachers 

                

2.2 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
physics 
teachers 
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State-Level Yearly Teacher Deployment Template 
S.R. 
No. Indicator 2021 Target (2021–22) Target (2022–23) 

  
  

Baseline  
(# of 

schools) 

Gap  
(# of teachers 
and schools) 

# of 
schools 

# staff 
needed 

Source of 
staffing 

# of 
schools 

# of staff 
needed Source of staffing 

2.3 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
chemistry 
teachers 

                

2.4 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required 
language 
teachers 

                

2.5 <subjects to be 
populated 
basis states 
norms> 

                

2.6 # of exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
required higher 
secondary 
teachers 

                

  Target # of 
exemplar 
schools 
equipped with 
secondary and 
higher 
secondary 
teachers 
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3. Subsequently, states will submit a progress report for actual deployment of subject 
teachers in exemplar schools in each year as per template below. 
 
B. Statewide Teacher Deployment Template 

Statewide Teacher Deployment Report Template for Provision of Teachers 
Sr. 
No. Indicator 

# of 
schools 

1 Secondary   
1.1 # of exemplar schools equipped with required mathematics teachers   
1.2 # of exemplar schools equipped with required science teachers   
1.3 # of exemplar schools equipped with required social studies teachers   
1.4 # of exemplar schools equipped with required language teachers   
1.5 # of exemplar schools equipped with required English teachers   
1.6 <subjects to be populated basis states norms>   
1.7 # of exemplar schools equipped with all required secondary teachers   
2 Higher Secondary   
2.1 # of exemplar schools equipped with required mathematics teachers   
2.2 # of exemplar schools equipped with required physics teachers   
2.3 # of exemplar schools equipped with required chemistry teachers   
2.4 # of exemplar schools equipped with required language teachers   
2.5 <subjects to be populated basis states norms>   
2.6 # of exemplar schools equipped with all required higher secondary teachers   

  
DLI Target -- # of exemplar schools to be equipped with all secondary and higher 
secondary teachers   

  
DLI Achievement -- # Number of schools equipped with secondary (1.7) and higher 
secondary teachers (2.6)   
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A3.7: LEP Implementation Progress Report (DLI 5 and 6) 
 

1. Exemplar and cluster schools will be provided LEPs at the elementary and secondary 
levels: 

 
(i) Foundational LEPs for elementary grades. Every leader and cluster school 

with elementary grades will implement the LEPs (FLN or at-grade programs, etc.) 
approved in the state. The schools will be provided necessary curricular 
resources and teaching-learning materials, and the teachers will be oriented to 
implement the LEP. 

(ii) STEAM LEPs for secondary grades. Every exemplar school with secondary 
grades will implement the LEP. 

 
2. Each state will be required to submit the yearly progress report on number of schools that 
have been provided with the LEP in the below format. School level data for these parameters 
should be accessible in state’s management information systems and may be accessed by the 
Ministry of Education or independent verification agency.  
 
A. Statewide Foundational LEP Progress Report Template 

Statewide Foundational Learning Enhancement Program (LEP) – Implementation Progress 
Report  

Sr. 
No 

Indicator 
# of schools 

1 Provision of LEP Teaching Learning materials (TLMs)  
1.1 # of program schools to which student materials (LEP books, 

workbooks, or TLM kits) have been printed or sourced and 
distributed 

 

1.2 # of program schools to which teacher facing materials (e.g., 
guidebooks, if any) have been printed or sourced and distributed 
(only if relevant per LEP design) 

 

1.3 <any other relevant material basis state LEP design>  

1.4 # of program schools equipped with all required TLM and 
equipment for LEP (all 1.1, 1.2, and 1.3) 

 

2 Teachers’ training on LEP  
2.1 Total no. of teachers from program schools trained on LEPs in the 

year x  

2.2 # of program schools where all target teachers have been trained 
to implement LEPs 

 

2.3 <any other relevant parameters basis state LEP design>  

3 Assessment of LEP conduct basis school visits  

3.1 # program schools visited at least once to assess LEP 
implementation 

 

3.2 % of program schools visited where student facing teaching-
learning materials were found to be available   

3.3 % of program schools visited where student facing teaching-
learning materials were found to be adequately used  

3.4 % program schools visited where teacher facing resources (e.g., 
teacher guidebook) were found to be available (if any) 

 

3.5 % program schools visited where all target teachers were found 
to be using necessary teacher support resources, if any (e.g., 
teacher guidebook) 
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Statewide Foundational Learning Enhancement Program (LEP) – Implementation Progress 
Report  

Sr. 
No 

Indicator 
# of schools 

3.6 % program schools visited where all target teachers were found 
to have completed required LEP trainings 

 

3.7 <other relevant parameters basis state LEP design>  
 

Disbursement-linked indicator (DLI) Target -- # of program 
schools that were to provide foundational LEPs in year x 

 
 

DLI Achievement -- # of program schools that have actually 
provided the foundational LEPs in year x (basis 1.4, 2.2, 3.2,3.4 
and 3.6) 

 

 
B. Statewide STEAM LEP Progress Report Template 

Statewide STEAM LEP – Implementation Progress  
Sr. 
No Indicator # of schools 
1 Provision of learning enhancement program (LEP) teaching-

learning materials (TLMs) 
 

1.1 
# of exemplar schools to which student materials (e.g., science or 
mathematics books with necessary revisions, and any additional 
content) have been printed and distributed 

 

1.2 

# of exemplar schools to which teacher facing materials (e.g., 
science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics 
[STEAM] guidebooks, if any) have been printed or sourced and 
distributed (only if relevant per LEP design) 

 

1.3 # exemplar schools where necessary labs or equipment have 
been provided  

 

1.4 <any other relevant material basis state STEAM LEP design>  

1.5 # of exemplar schools equipped with all required teaching-
learning material and equipment for LEP (all 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4,) 

 

2 Teachers’ training on LEP  

2.1 Total no. of teachers from exemplar schools trained on STEAM 
LEP in the year x  

2.2 # of exemplar schools where all target teachers have been 
trained to implement STEAM LEP 

 

2.3 <any other relevant parameters basis state STEAM LEP design>  

3 Assessment of LEP conduct basis school visits  

3.1 # exemplar schools visited at least once to assess STEAM LEP 
implementation 

 

3.2 % of exemplar schools visited where student facing TLMs were 
found to be available   

3.3 % of exemplar schools visited where student facing TLMs were 
found to be adequately used  

3.4 % exemplar schools visited where teacher facing resources (e.g., 
teacher guidebook) were found to be available (if any) 

 

3.5 
% exemplar schools visited where all target teachers were found 
to be using necessary teacher support resources, if any (e.g., 
teacher guidebook) 

 

3.6 % exemplar schools visited where all target teachers were found 
to have completed required STEAM LEP trainings 

 

3.7 <other relevant parameters basis state STEAM LEP design>  
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Statewide STEAM LEP – Implementation Progress  
Sr. 
No Indicator # of schools 
4 Provision of subject teachers  

4.1  # of exemplar schools equipped with required mathematics 
teachers  

4.2 # of exemplar schools equipped with required science teachers  
 DLI Target -- # of exemplar schools that were to provide STEAM 

LEP in year x 
 

 
DLI Achievement -- # of exemplar schools that have actually 
provided the STEAM LEP in year x (basis 1.5, 2.2, 3.2,3.4, 3.6, 
4.1 and 4.2) 
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A3.8: Statewide Continuous Teacher and School Leader Capacity Development Progress 
Report (DLI 7) 

 
1. All teachers in the state will be trained on core subject content and pedagogy, interactive 
pedagogic practices, such as effective classroom management or inquiry-based approach to 
teaching, trainings related to LEPs such as those for foundational learning, remediation, or 21st 
century skills, inclusive education practices, digital skills, etc., and other areas that states may 
prioritize. 
 
2. All school leaders in the state will be trained on core modules for instructional and 
organizational leadership, and other areas that states may prioritize. 
 
3. States will submit the list of training modules developed basis the plan. Each state will be 
required to develop its management information system, such that through a unique identification 
for each teacher and school leader, training modules completed can be accessed. Also, post 
completion of trainings, states will collect feedback and share average feedback scores from 
teachers on trainings imparted. 
 
4. Each state will be required to submit the yearly progress report on the number of teachers 
and school leaders that have completed training in the below format: 
 

Statewide Continuous Teacher and School Leader Capacity Development Progress Report Template for 
Continuous Teacher and School Leader Capacity Development 

Sr. No Indicator 

# of 
teachers 

(exemplar 
schools) 

# of 
teachers 
(cluster 
schools) 

# of 
teachers  

(other 
schools) 

# of 
teachers  
(Total) 

1 Overall     

1.1 
Target: # of teachers required to complete 
trainings in year X (on a set of modules as per 
State’s plan) 

    

1.2 
Achieved: # of teachers that have completed 
trainings on all modules targeted for them in 
year X as per State’s plan 

    

1.3 
# of teachers onboarded on the online teacher 
training platform (teacher login / profile 
created) 

        

1.4 
# teachers that received the training 
completion certificate (as per the trainings 
planned for them in the given year) 

    

2 Module-wise details         

2.1 
# of teachers completed training on subject 
specific content topics and pedagogy (with 
necessary pre & post-training tests)     

2.2 

# of teachers completed training on general 
interactive pedagogic practices (e.g. classroom 
management, inquiry-based approach) and 
assessments (with necessary pre & post-
training tests)         

2.3 
# of teachers completed trainings on 
foundational learning  and elementary grade 
LEPs (with necessary pre & post-training tests)         

2.4 # of teachers completed training on STEAM 
LEP (with necessary pre & post-training tests)     
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Statewide Continuous Teacher and School Leader Capacity Development Progress Report Template for 
Continuous Teacher and School Leader Capacity Development 

Sr. No Indicator 

# of 
teachers 

(exemplar 
schools) 

# of 
teachers 
(cluster 
schools) 

# of 
teachers  

(other 
schools) 

# of 
teachers  
(Total) 

2.5 
# of teachers completed training on 21st 
century skills (with necessary pre- and post-
training tests)     

2.6 
# of teachers completed trainings on digital 
mainstreaming and digital facilitation skills 
(with necessary pre- and post-training tests)         

2.7 

# of teachers completed trainings on inclusive 
education, including gender as well as social 
inclusion aspects (with necessary pre- and 
post-training tests)     

2.8 <other relevant modules as decided by the 
state>         

3 Overall     

3.1 
Target: # of school leaders required to 
complete trainings in year X (on a set of 
modules as per State’s plan) 

    

3.2 
Achieved: # of school leaders that have 
completed trainings on all modules targeted for 
them in year X as per state’s plan 

    

3.3 # of school leaders onboarded on the online 
training platform (login or profile created)         

3.4 
# school leaders that received the training 
completion certificate (as per the trainings 
planned for them in the given year) 

    

4 Module-wise details         

4.1 
# of school leaders completed training on 
instructional leadership (with necessary pre- 
and post-training tests)     

4.2 
# of school leaders completed training on 
organizational and people leadership (with 
necessary pre- and post-training tests)     

4.3 
# of school leaders completed trainings on 
digital mainstreaming (with necessary pre- and 
post-training tests)     

4.4 
# of school leaders completed training on data 
and planning related skills (with necessary pre- 
and post-training tests)     

4.5 

# of school leaders completed training on 
broader administrative and financial 
management areas (with necessary pre- and 
post-training tests)     

4.6 <other relevant modules as decided by the 
state>     
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APPENDIX 4: TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR INDEPENDENT VERIFICATION AGENCY 
 
 
A. Background 
 
1. Over the past 2 decades, the Government of India’s centrally sponsored schemes, such 
as Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan (for grades 1–8) and Rashtriya Madhyamik Shiksha Abhiyan (for 
grades 9–12), together with the Right of Children to Free and Compulsory Education Act in 2009, 
contributed to expanding access to primary and secondary education. Primary education had 
achieved universal enrollment for both males and females as of 2016. Secondary education also 
made good progress; during 2006–2016, gross enrollment ratio at the secondary (grades 9–10) 
increased from 52% to 80% and gross enrollment ratio at senior secondary (grades 11–12) levels 
increased from 29% to 56%. 
 
2.  While there has been significant progress in access to schooling, it is yet to translate into 
improved learning. Results from the 2017 National Achievement Survey show that one-third of 
grade 3 students could not read simple texts with comprehension; and the proportion of grade 5 
and 8 students who could not read at grade-level was higher at 42% and 44%, respectively.1 Low 
levels of proficiency at early grades also lead to high dropout rates and low completion rates as 
students move through secondary education. At grades 9–10, the average dropout rate was about 
20% for India in 2016–2017 and it goes up to more than 35% in some states.2 Issues in quality 
and relevance of teaching-learning at government schools continue to exist.  
 
3. To address ongoing challenges in school education and to improve the quality of 
education, the Ministry of Education (MOE) launched a new flagship scheme in 2018, Samagra 
Shiksha, which combines the previous two schemes (Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan and Rashtriya 
Madhyamik Shiksha Abhiyan) and Teacher Education. Samagra Shiksha aims to provide holistic, 
integrated support to states for education from preschool to senior secondary schools with a 
unified administrative structure. This scheme also lays significant focus on ensuring quality of 
education, particularly inclusive and equitable improvement in learning outcomes. 
 
4. In July 2020, the Union Cabinet of India approved the new National Education Policy 
(NEP) 2020. The NEP recognizes that the quality of education for youth will shape the future of 
India.3 It aims to transform India’s education system to ensure equitable access to high-quality 
education for all learners, regardless of social and economic background. The NEP 2020 further 
reinforces the mandate of Samagra Shiksha with emphasis on strong foundational skills as an 
indispensable prerequisite for all future schooling and equipping the young with employable skills 
including, 21st century skills, exposure to vocational education at earlier grades, critical thinking 
and experiential learning. 
 
5. The proposed Asian Development Bank (ADB) program is supporting the government 
through the MOE in the implementation of select components of MOE’s Samagra Shiksha in five 
selected states: Assam, Gujarat, Jharkhand, Tamil Nadu, and Uttarakhand from 2021–2022 to 
2025–2026 through a results-based loan. Within Samagra Shiksha, the program will support 
select components that promote core enabling conditions for quality education and learning 
outcomes in primary and secondary schools. The program will help scale up successful 

 
 
1 National Council of Educational Research and Training. 2017. National Achievement Survey Dashboard on NAS 

2017 Results. New Delhi. 
2 Government of India, MOE. Unified District Information on School Education. 
3 Government of India, MOE. 2020. National Education Policy 2020. New Delhi. 

http://nas.schooleduinfo.in/dashboard/nas_ncert#/
http://nas.schooleduinfo.in/dashboard/nas_ncert#/
https://udiseplus.gov.in/
https://www.education.gov.in/sites/upload_files/mhrd/files/NEP_Final_English_0.pdf
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interventions or adopt new ones appropriate for the state’s contexts. In doing so, it will assist the 
states to align various initiatives and institutions toward coherent outcomes and overall system 
improvements. The program impact will be aligned to NEP: high-quality education provided to all 
to transform India into equitable and vibrant knowledge economy.  
 
B. Objective of the Assignment 

 
6. The objective of this assignment is to conduct independent verification of the achievement 
of disbursement-linked indicators (DLIs) under the proposed ADB results-based lending (RBL), 
Accelerating State Education Program to Improve Results. DLIs are selected targets to measure 
progress in outputs and outcomes of the program and pre-defined and agreed by ADB, MOE, and 
program states. The achievement of the target will be independently verified, and the verification 
report is required to trigger payment from ADB to MOE. The independent verification agency (IVA) 
will establish validity and correctness of the achievement of DLIs reported by MOE and program 
states under the program.  

 
C. Scope of Work 

 
7. The MOE is seeking an experienced firm to conduct a third-party verification of the DLIs 
achieved under the proposed ADB RBL, Accelerating State Education Program to Improve 
Results.  
 
8. The IVA will (i) carry out an independent verification of achievement of the DLIs reported 
by MOE, for each disbursement claim under the program, based on the verification protocol 
agreed between MOE and ADB; and (ii) prepare and submit independent verification reports to 
MOE in the form and substance acceptable to MOE and ADB.  
 
9. The IVA will follow the verification protocols which are detailed in Appendix 2 of the 
program implementation document. As indicated in the verification protocol, the overall data, 
information and documents that are necessary to monitor the progress at different levels of 
aggregation will be made available by MOE. MOE will consolidate these from various state level 
program reports that will be submitted by each state for each DLI leveraging existing/evolving 
state management information systems, state school monitoring systems, individual state 
program management unit reports, Unified District Information on School Education,4 and other 
national databases where relevant.  

 
10. The verification process of most DLIs would involve a two-stage process: Firstly, the IVA 
will carry out desk review of consolidated reports shared by MOE to gain an overall understanding 
of progress and trend. After that, where necessary, IVA will adopt additional methods that support 
triangulation and further judgment on target achievement or non-achievement, and that are also 
cost-effective and time efficient. These may include additional sample-based checks between the 
reports submitted and the original data source which may include accessing additional MIS 
generated or other reports available from states or national systems (e.g., for the upgrade of 

 
 
4 Data fields are as per Unified District Information on School Education requirements. The Unified District Information 

on School Education collects data on parameters ranging from school, infrastructure, teachers, enrollments, 
examination results, etc. spread across 11 sections. The 11 sections include: (i) school profile; (ii) physical facilities 
and equipment; (iii) teaching and non-teaching staff; (iv) new admissions, enrollment and repeaters; (v) incentives 
and facilities provided to children; (vi) annual examination result at elementary level; (vii) board examination results; 
(viii) receipts and expenditure; (ix) vocational education; (x) Performance Grading Index and other indicators; and 
(xi) school safety. 

https://udiseplus.gov.in/udise-home/#/Download
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learning facilities potential review of the civil/sanitary work completion reports, district expenditure 
reports, etc. or for staff availability additional payroll expenditure reports). If absolutely necessary, 
sample-based field visits may be conducted to triangulate the findings. Some of the targets may 
require relevant expert inputs, which may be sourced through subcontracting by the IVA.   
 
11. The IVA is expected to develop a detailed annual verification plan articulating the methods, 
timelines, and required resources to verify achievement of DLIs, in line with defined verification 
protocols. This plan will be finalized in consultation with MOE and will be shared with ADB. Once 
the verification process is completed, the IVA will submit a verification report with confirmation of 
DLI achievement or non-achievement and any observations on the monitoring and evaluation 
system reliability and recommendations for improvement.  
 
D. Eligibility Requirement    

 
12. The bidder, which can be a single organization or a consortium or joint venture, led by a 
leading party, shall meet the following eligibility requirements, as a single organization or 
collectively among the partners forming a consortium or joint venture: 
 

(i) The bidder must have demonstrated expertise in education sector as shown by 
relevant history of work undertaken in evaluation of educational interventions 
(including but not limited to teaching-learning, facilities improvement, institutional 
strengthening, etc.) or national education programs and schemes. The nature of 
work should demonstrate success in conducting monitoring and verification of 
complex education programs and schemes for the government, covering several 
states in India.  

(ii) The bidder can engage other organizations which are familiar with state context to 
inform their verification process, as necessary, subject to the requirement for the 
year’s verification processes. Such arrangements will be reflected in the 
verification workplan for MOE endorsement.  

(iii) The bidder should have demonstrated experience of at least 5 years having 
successfully executed similar works in survey, monitoring and evaluation 
independently. Similar works are defined as: verification of work for ADB/the World 
Bank, MOE, state education departments, or any other multilateral/bilateral 
agencies/Government of India/state governments/local governments.  

(iv) The bidder must be independent in its statutory structure, and its total annual 
turnover from all contracts with the MOE and ADB should not exceed 10% of the 
total annual turnover. 

(v) The firm should not be black-listed or banned or barred by any central/state 
government/public sector undertaking in India/consolidated United Nations 
security council sanctions list, and ADB and the multilateral development banks 
participating in the cross-debarment agreement.5 

 
E. Output/ Reporting requirement 

  
13. The IVA will prepare and submit the following formal reports in the format agreed with 
MOE and ADB: 
 

 
 
5 ADB. Anticorruption and Integrity. Sanctions. 

https://www.adb.org/site/integrity/sanctions
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(i) Inception report. The inception report will be submitted to MOE within 1 month of 
signing the contract. It should provide the detailed methodology for verification of 
each of the DLIs, including baselines where applicable, the IVA’s work plan, 
staffing plan, detailed formats/templates for verification of all DLIs, sampling 
procedures where applicable, and other details to enable verification of results 
achievement. 

(ii) Annual results verification report. MOE will share the combined report for 
achievement of DLI across five states with the IVA once a year around the end of 
June. The IVA will be required to furnish the verification report within 4 weeks of 
receiving the consolidated report from MOE. The report will detail achievements 
made toward each of DLIs per the planned schedule and in accordance with the 
verification protocols in the report and recommendation of the President/program 
implementation document. The report shall include: 
(a) executive summary of key findings, including the figures for the annual 

targets achieved for each of the DLIs; 
(b) methodology used for verification for both qualitative and quantitative 

targets and analysis of data and resources used/collected; 
(c) summary statistics for each state in the form of tables, figures and related 

writings; 
(d) evidence verifying the achievement of the DLIs, using appropriate 

methodology, in accordance with the verification protocol; 
(e) annex materials including final data collection tools, completed and clean 

data in prescribed format as relevant, key documents including assessment 
reports and intervention plans and other documents collected for sample-
based checks ; and 

(f) any observations on areas for improvement in overall implementation, 
reporting systems, information systems and monitoring mechanisms 
learned from the verification process. 

(iii) Final report at the end of the program to be submitted to the MOE. The report 
will include the overall description of all activities and DLIs achieved.  

 
F. Duration of the Assignment  

 
14. The services of IVA will be required on an intermittent basis for 60 days every year for the 
duration of the program to verify accomplishment of each year’s targets.  

 
G. Budget 

 
15. The bidder will propose fees for the entire scope of work, along with fee rates for each 
staff proposed. The fee structure proposed should indicate the level of each resource person and 
indicate support staff, if any, and associated administrative and reporting costs.  

 
H. Team Composition and Required Qualifications 

 
16. To perform the required verification tasks, the IVA will need to demonstrate ability to review 
the DLIs. It is expected that the proposed methodology of implementation will include key staff 
required to complete the assignment. As a minimum, the IVA team should comprise of three team 
members: a team leader; a senior monitoring and evaluation specialist; and a monitoring and 
evaluation (M&E) specialist. The verification team will be assisted by an adequate administrative 
staff for logistical support under the IVA supervision. Additional personnel, such as technical 
experts on specific program areas will be mobilized as per the annual verification plan, and their 
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terms of reference and budget requirements will be endorsed by MOE as part of the annual 
verification plan.  
 
17. Team leader/Public school education specialist (national, 7 person-months, 
intermittent). The consultant will preferably have a master’s degree (preferably a doctorate 
degree) in education, policy planning and implementation, public administration, education 
research and evaluation, development field, social sciences or related field with minimum work 
experience of 15 years in public education. Experience of working with government education 
departments in developing countries, including several states in India, would be preferable. 
Previous experience in designing and/or evaluating ADB or World Bank-financed projects is 
preferred. The team leader will, be responsible for guiding the collective work of the IVA team and 
for timely preparation and quality control of all reports submitted to ADB. The consultant will work 
closely with the MOE and program states, agencies, resource centers, and other consultants 
fielded by ADB to: 

 
(i) coordinate and manage all tasks as specified in the scope of work; 
(ii) represent the IVA in all stakeholder interactions; 
(iii) develop workplan and project implementation activities; 
(iv) provide advice, guidance and final review of deliverables; 
(v) ensure timely submission of deliverables to ADB and MOE; 
(vi) apply knowledge and experience from similar assignments undertaken earlier; 
(vii) ensure training and orientation of all IVA team members on DLIs, verification 

protocols and standard terminologies used for data reporting in the public school 
education domain; 

(viii) lead the process of developing the sampling plan, methodology, data collection, 
analysis and reporting where required; 

(ix) obtain periodic data, reports, plans from MOE and states, for verification of the 
DLIs; 

(x) keep up-to-date with latest developments in MIS systems at state and national 
level; 

(xi) establish robust mechanism for identification and reporting of discrepancies;  
(xii) provide qualitative and quantitative inputs to support MOE and ADB in ensuring 

timely disbursement of funds based on achievement of DLI targets; and 
(xiii) identify potential risks and mitigating factors and provide recommendations for 

areas for improvement in implementation aspects as well as M&E efforts in 
consultation with local resource institutions knowledgeable of program element 
context.  

 
18. Senior monitoring and evaluation specialist (national, 7 person-months, 
intermittent). The consultant will have a master’s degree (preferably a doctorate degree) in 
education, public administration, education research and evaluation, development field, social 
sciences, or a similar relevant field. He/she should preferably have a minimum of 10 years of 
relevant experience with a strong research background in the area of public school education 
system. Previous experience in designing and/or evaluating ADB or World Bank-financed projects 
is preferred. He/she should be adept in statistical analysis (STATA, SPSS, etc.) and geographic 
information system applications. Experience of working with state education systems in India, 
would be preferable. He/she is expected to: 
 

(i) assess existing M&E systems and institutional arrangements for verification of 
uniformity in data reporting across multiple systems; 
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(ii) ensure use of standard well-defined parameters (e.g., definition of learning 
enhancement program implemented) to assess achievement of DLI targets; 

(iii) ensure non-ambiguity in understanding of the DLI targets and verification 
protocols; 

(iv) develop the approach and methodology for the IVA team to verify achievement of 
DLI targets; 

(v) assess capacity of existing M&E systems to generate reliable and timely 
information on DLIs; 

(vi) streamline the verification process and increase efficiency in gathering and using 
performance information; 

(vii) identify and flag potential risks to the disbursement of funds; 
(viii) ensure timely submission of data verification reports to ADB and MOE; and 
(ix) any other relevant tasks required by ADB. 

 
19. Monitoring and evaluation specialist (national, 9 person-months, intermittent). The 
consultant will have a master’s degree in education, public administration, education research 
and evaluation, development field, social sciences, or a similar relevant field. He/she should have 
a minimum of 7 years of experience in managing and/or undertaking large scale education 
surveys and studies (preferably in national/state education system). Previous experience in 
designing and/or evaluating ADB or World Bank-financed projects is preferred. He/she should be 
adept in statistical analysis (STATA, SPSS, etc.). Experience of working with state education 
systems in India, would be preferable. He/she is expected to: 
 

(i) provide inputs for designing the data verification plan and methodology; 
(ii) support the M&E specialist and team leader in the development of data collection 

and data analysis protocols, where required; 
(iii) review and analyze the data collected; 
(iv) identify and flag issues in data collection and provide solutions to mitigate and 

resolve them; and 
(v) provide oversight for and coordinate state level/ field-level reports collection or 

data collection activities, if needed. Ensure proper training and sensitization of 
field level investigators. 
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APPENDIX 5: STATEMENT OF AUDIT NEEDS 
 

1. Background. The Government of India launched a new flagship program in 2018, 
Samagra Shiksha, to provide holistic, integrated support for the state education from preschool 
to senior secondary levels with a unified implementation structure. While India has achieved 
significant progress in school enrollment, learning outcomes have been consistently low at all 
levels of schooling. Samagra Shiksha shifts the focus to ensuring the quality of education, 
particularly inclusive and equitable learning outcomes. School closures during the coronavirus 
disease pandemic have resulted in a significant learning loss for primary students—loss in 
forgetting what was learnt earlier and not learning new things—which exacerbate the already 
weak foundational skills.1 The learning loss is likely to be greater for students in government 
schools than in private schools, as government schools are less equipped with digital 
infrastructure and their students are more likely to be from lower socioeconomic status.2 The 
Accelerating State Education Program to Improve Results (results-based lending [RBL] program) 
will assist the government in implementing Samagra Shiksha to improve education outcomes, 
particularly foundational learning at the primary level and reduced dropout rates at the secondary 
level, in five selected states.  
 
2. The RBL program will assist the states of Assam, Gujarat, Jharkhand, Tamil Nadu and 
Uttarakhand, which were selected according to the Ministry of Education (MOE)’s Performance 
Grading Index 2017–2018, by considering a mix of states from different grades, population sizes, 
and geographic dispersion. The program will help the states (i) transform a set of government 
schools into exemplar schools with essential learning resources; (ii) scale up effective student-
centered interventions to boost learning; and (iii) strengthen the core elements of state education 
for overall system improvements. The program also aims to mitigate the impact from the 
coronavirus disease pandemic on students’ learning and mainstream digital learning-teaching 
capabilities across schools. The RBL program is expected to directly benefit approximately 5 
million students, 500,000 teachers, and 15,800 schools across the five states. 
 
3. The Asian Development Bank (ADB)’s proposed financing is a total of $500 million 
loan from its ordinary capital resources. The proposed financing will support the program’s 
result areas at the national and state levels through the RBL modality. ADB will also mobilize 
its grants resources for a technical assistance program to assist the MOE with required 
technical expertise and other capacity building support. The technical assistance will be 
administered by ADB. 
 
4. Results-based lending. Under the RBL modality, the ADB financing is an integral part of 
government’s financing for Samagra Shiksha, which includes financing from the country’s own 
resources. As a result, the disbursement of the ADB RBL proceeds will not depend on evidence 
of expenditures or transactions. Instead, the ADB loan disbursements will be directly linked to the 
achievements of program results as measured by disbursement-linked indicators (DLIs) and is 
conditioned upon verification that the DLIs have been achieved. Each DLI will be accompanied 
by a clear verification protocol that will define how achievements will be measured and verified.  
 

 
 
1 Findings from a recent survey show that about 45%–65% of primary students lost language abilities (e.g., reading, 

writing, comprehension) and 25%–45% lost math abilities (e.g., identifying numbers, subtraction, and basic math for 
problem-solving). Azim Premji University. 2021. Loss of Learning during the Pandemic. Bengaluru, Karnataka. 

2 E. Vegas, A. Ganimian, and B. Fowler. Forthcoming. Use of Education Technology during the COVID-19 School 
Closures in India: The Case of Chennai, Tamil Nadu. Brookings Institute. Washington, DC.  
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5. Disbursement-linked indicators. The DLIs represent a subset of overall program results, 
prioritized and sequenced to contribute to the program’s progress in outcome achievement. 
Achievement of annual DLI targets will trigger loan disbursement in pre-agreed amounts. Those 
that are important for outcome achievement but difficult to link to disbursement are included in 
the program action plan (PAP).3 A summary of disbursement-linked indicators are outlined in 
Table A5.1.  
 

Table A5.1 Summary of Disbursement-Linked Indicators 

Indicators 

Disbursement 
Allocation 
($ million) 

Share of Total 
ADB 

Financing (%) 
Outcome: Education outcomes in primary and secondary schools 
improved in the five participating states   

DLI 1: Improved proficiency in language and math among primary students 
(grade 3) 

45 
 

 9.0 
 

DLI 2: Reduced dropout rate at secondary level (from grade 9 to 10) 30  6.0 
Output 1: Quality government schools increased with equitable access    
DLI 3: Exemplar schools established with improved learning environments for 
quality education 

95 
 

 19.0 
 

DLI 4: Improved provision of secondary subject teachers for quality education  42  8.4 
Output 2: Quality and relevance of learning improved   
DLI 5: Foundational learning in elementary education strengthened through 
LEPs 

        115 
 

 23.0 
 

DLI 6: Science and math learning strengthened for secondary education 
(grades 9–12) through STEAM LEPs 

54 
 

 10.8 
 

Output 3: Capacity of teachers and school leaders enhanced   
DLI 7: Statewide continuous development of teachers and school leaders 
enhanced to improve interactive teaching practices and effective school 
management with state-specific gender targets 

52 
 

 10.4 
 

Output 4: Management of school education system strengthened   
DLI 8: State capacity for outcome-based planning and monitoring mechanisms 
strengthened 

42 
 

 8.4 
 

Output 5: National guidelines on quality state education strengthened   
DLI 9: National guidelines on curriculum and assessments strengthened for 
quality state education 25  5.0 

Total 500  100.0 
ADB = Asian Development Bank; DLI = disbursement-linked indicator; LEP = learning enhancement program; STEAM 
= science, technology, engineering, arts, and mathematics. 
Source: Asian Development Bank estimates. 

 
6. Verification protocol. Disbursement will be subject to the achievement and verification 
of the agreed DLIs. The verification will be done by (an) independent verification agent(s) in 
accordance with the verification protocol agreed between the government and ADB and provided 
in the program implementation document. The DLI verification report prepared by the independent 
verification agency will be attached to the withdrawal application submitted to ADB. Any amount 
not disbursed for unmet DLIs will be disbursed once they have been achieved.  
 
7. Results-based lending program expenditure framework. The program expenditures 
are estimated to be $1,885.6 million from fiscal year (FY) 2023 to FY2027 and are summarized 
in Table A5.2. The budget estimate includes both ongoing expenditures and the incremental 
budget required for additional RBL program interventions. A significant share will come from the 
select components of Samagra Shiksha aligned with the program outputs. Most expenditures 

 
 
3 The PAP also includes actions to improve state systems in financial management, procurement, safeguards, 

monitoring and evaluation, and gender and social equity areas.  
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(70%) are recurring in nature; these include quality interventions to enhance learning outcomes, 
capacity building of teachers and professionals, strengthening of governance capacity, and hiring 
of contract teachers. Capital expenses will account for about 30% of the total for improvements 
in learning environments (e.g., labs, libraries, digital infrastructure, and information and 
communication technology-enabled classrooms), sex-segregated sanitation facilities, barrier-free 
facilities in leader and selected cluster schools, and the management information system. 
 

Table A5.2: Summary of Program Expenditure Framework, FY2023–FY2027 
(in 2020 prices)  

Item 
  Amount 

  ($ million) 
Share of Total 

(%) 
Recurrent 1,327.9 70.0 
Capital 557.7 30.0 
 Total 1,885.6 100.0 

Source: Asian Development Bank 
 
8. Financing plan. The program expenditures are estimated to be $1,885.6 million from 
FY2023 to FY2027, of which the government has requested a loan of $500 million from ADB’s 
ordinary capital resources to help finance the program. The loan terms and conditions are in the 
loan agreement. The financing plan for the program is summarized in Table A5.3.  
 

Table A5.3: Program Financing Plan, FY2023–FY2027 
(as of September 2021) 

Source 
  Amount Share of Total 

  ($ million) (%) 
Central government 844.4 44.8 
State government 541.2 28.7 
Asian Development Bank   
Ordinary capital resources (regular loan) 500.0 26.5 

Total 1,885.6 100.0 
Source: Asian Development Bank 
 
9. Financial management systems. Financial management systems used for Samagra 
Shiksha will be used for the RBL program. The program financial management assessment 
indicates a substantial pre-mitigation financial management risk.4 The areas for improvement 
include: (i) the Samagra Shiksha financial management framework is not consistently applied by 
the program states; (ii) states have varying capacity with different fund flow models, accounting 
systems and processes; and (iii) recurring control issues and audit observations are not 
addressed timely. ADB will support the states to address the issues and enhance their capacity. 
Mitigation measures include: (i) MOE will conduct gap assessments in accounting, staffing, 
reporting, flow and management of funds, and tracking of audit observations; (ii) capacity building 
in financial management, and (iii) MOE will submit 6-monthly consolidated financial management 
reports, including information on actions taken to address audit observations.  
 
10. Accounting and financial reporting. Accounting is undertaken as per the Manual of 
Financial Management and Procurement (the Manual) issued in August 2018 and developed by 
the MOE.5 The Manual includes a system to track, analyze, and summarize the financial 

 
 
4 Program Fiduciary Systems Assessment (accessible form list of linked documents in Appendix 2 of the Report and 

Recommendation of the President).  
5 Government of India, Department of School Education and Literacy. 2018. Manual of Financial Management & 

Procurement (FMP) for Scheme of Samagra Shiksha. New Delhi.  

https://dsel.education.gov.in/sites/default/files/2019-05/FMP.pdf
https://dsel.education.gov.in/sites/default/files/2019-05/FMP.pdf
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transactions. Accounting and financial reporting is required to include the maintenance of 
complete set of accounts in respect of the monetary transactions of the SIS in the headquarters, 
as well as in the subordinate offices as per “Double Entry Method Based on Mercantile System” 
of accounting. These records and receipts or invoices are available for inspection by the Auditors, 
State Implementation Society (SIS), state government, and Government of India. However, 
accounts in most of the states are prepared based on double entry cash basis of accounting and 
not on mercantile system. Accounting is undertaken in tally accounting system at the state and 
district levels. In almost all states, the tally accounting system has been customized to have a 
standardized chart of accounts aligning with the activity codes as per the approved annual 
workplan and budget. The important books of accounts maintained are cash book, ledgers, and 
various other registers. The quality of accounts and financial reporting differs across the states 
due to varied capacities of accounts and finance personnel at the state, district, and block levels.6  
 
11. Program financial statements. The templates for financial statements are provided 
in MOE’s Manual. In addition to the existing disclosure and audit requirements of Samagra 
Shiksha, ADB also requires the following: 
 

(i) a disclosure in the financial statements and/or auditor’s report of the fact that ADB 
is providing funds for implementation of Samagra Shiksha. If there is any 
noncompliance with the loan covenants, then this should be disclosed in the audit 
report; 

(ii) in cases where the Grantee has received articles, etc. without any payment, the 
same needs to be valued and disclosed in the accounts. Grants that can be valued 
or measured should be recognized and those that cannot be objectively 
recognized should be disclosed. Valuation of grants in kind needs to be valued as 
per para. 12 of the Indian Government Accounting Standard (IGAS) 2 and 
disclosed as per para. 20 of the same IGAS; 

(iii) the accounting policy would state that financial statements are prepared based on 
the Manual and IGAS. Once the financial statements are made compliant with 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards, a fact of the same may also be 
mentioned; 

(iv) the annual financial statements should have a statement for budget versus actuals 
for the entire year with percent variance;  

(v) the annual financial statements should include a note stating “These financial 
statements were approved by [insert governing body] on [insert date]”; and 

(vi) certified utilization certificate for the ADB’s RBL Program. 
 

12. The program financial statements shall be supplemented by additional notes and 
disclosures to align them with the Indian Public Sector Accounting Standards and satisfy 
ADB's requirements. In this regard, the notes of the program financial statements will include 
(i) a statement of expenditures for Samagra Shiksha per selected budget heads and program 
and project codes; (ii) the amount of expenditures incurred as part of procurement from non-
ADB member countries (if any); and (iii) the amount of expenditure incurred for new building 
construction (if any). 
 
13. Statement of intent. The MOE will agree with India’s Comptroller and Auditor General 
(C&AG) that the government’s program for Samagra Shiksha supported by the ADB loan will be 

 
 
6 Details of state-specific issues and mitigation measures are described in the state assessment reports, which are 

available upon request.  
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audited in accordance with the following terms of reference. The audit will be conducted annually 
for the duration of the RBL program. 
 
14. Audit scope. The program financial statements will be audited by the C&AG in 
accordance with India’s Auditing Standards, which are compatible with the International 
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions.  
 
15. The statutory audit of the state-level program financial statements shall be carried out by 
an independent firm of Chartered Accountants empaneled with C&AG and appointed by the SIS, 
in accordance with the Auditing Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India in general and the Manual in particular, as supplemented by the Statement of Audit Needs. 
The C&AG may undertake supplementary external audit of the implementing entities in addition 
to the audit conducted by the Chartered Accountants firm auditor, in accordance with the C&AG 
India’s Auditing Standards. The auditor will provide assurance that the funds received from all 
sources and expenditure incurred during the reporting period are as per agreed terms and 
conditions of the operational guidelines and the approved program implementation plan.  
 
16. The audit will cover schools on a sample basis as deemed necessary. The audit will 
include such test and controls as the auditor considers necessary under the circumstances.  
 
17. When conducting the audit, special attention shall be paid to the following: 
  

(i) the financial statements of the RBL Program, as prepared by the MOE and the five 
SISs, reflect the program expenditure and financing;  

(ii) program expenditure is in accordance with the ADB RBL program agreement and 
necessary supporting documentation, records, and accounts of program 
expenditure have been kept, and that there is clear linkage between the books of 
account and the program financial statements; 

(iii) program funds have been used in accordance with the program financing 
agreement and only for the purposes intended; 

(iv) the program financial statements have been prepared in accordance with India’s 
Public Sector Accounting Standards; 

(v) an adequate system of internal controls including internal audit over program 
expenditure was operational and effective over the program period; and major 
observations in internal audit reports that may affect the system were reported and 
followed up; and  

(vi) progress of implementation of the PAP in respect of the activities relating to 
strengthening program fiduciary systems.  

 
18. Audit report or opinions. The objective of the audit is to provide assurance that the 
program financial statements present a true and fair view of the operations and are free from 
misstatements. As a result, the, audit report will include the following separate audit opinions: 
 

(i) whether the program financial statements present a true and fair view or are 
presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework;  

(ii) the level of compliance for each financial covenant contained in the legal 
agreements for the program (if any); and,  

(iii) whether the aggregate amount of ADB disbursement proceeds under the RBL 
modality does not exceed the amount of the total eligible program expenditures on 
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goods, works, and services from ADB member countries, including from the 
borrowing country.  

 
19. A sample template for the audit opinion on specific donor requirements has been given in 
the Attachment.  
 
20. Management letter. The auditor will prepare and submit along with the audit report, a 
separate management letter for the program. The management letter will elaborate the findings 
of the audit and contain recommendations for improvements in internal control and other matter 
coming to the attention of the auditor during the audit examination. The management letter will 
include the matters such as the following: 
 

(i) observations on deficiencies or weakness on the accounting records, systems and 
controls that were examined during the course of the audit and management’s 
response to these together with specific recommendations for improvement; 

(ii) bring to the management’s attention any matters that might have a significant 
impact on the implementation of the program or that the auditor considers 
necessary and pertinent;  

(iii) report of the status of the progress of the PAP agreed by MOE in respect of 
procurement and financial management action points;  

(iv) adequacy of financial management staffing;  
(v) adequacy of compliance with previous audit findings and recommendations 

outlined in the Audit Report and/or the management letter and status of any issues 
which remain to be addressed and any issues which recurred;  

(vi) adequacy of compliance with Internal audit findings; and  
(vii) bring to the government and development partner attention any other matters that 

the auditor considers pertinent.  
 

21. Serious Issues, which affect the auditor’s opinion as to whether the financial statements 
give a true and fair view, should be referred to in the audit opinion. The management letter should 
include only those issues which do not affect the fairness of the financial statements. If no internal 
control issues are identified, a statement negating control issues should be prepared. From the 
second year onward, the management letter must also include a follow-up on previous years audit 
observations.  
 
22. Furthermore, it is expected that the C&AG will advise a calendar for discussion or review 
of audit observations (particularly the serious financial irregularities) through tripartite meetings 
with ADB to facilitate executive follow-up on audit observations and recommendations.  
 
23. State Implementation Society audited program financial statements. Each SIS is 
required to submit to MOE an audited program financial statement (APFS) as of 31 March of each 
financial year, within 9 months of the end of the FY in English, i.e., 31 December. A complete set 
of APFS as given in the Manual, which includes: 
 

(i) audit opinion; 
(ii) audit report;  
(iii) following completed financial statements in the latest approved format: 

(a) consolidated annual financial statement; 
(b) consolidated balance sheet;  
(c) consolidated income and expenditure; and 
(d) consolidated receipts and payment;  
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(iv) following other relevant schedules or documents in the latest approved formats: 
(a) abstract of fixed assets; 
(b) abstract of stock register; 
(c) statement of outstanding advances; 
(d) statement of position of outstanding audit objections; and 
(e) grant-wise certified utilization certificates 

(v) status of internal audit at state project office, district project office, and block resource 
clusters;  

(vi) review note on procurement procedure for goods, works and services; 
(vii) notes to accounts; 
(viii) accounting policies; 
(ix) comment on compliance with previous year’s audit observations; 
(x) management letter; and  
(xi) annual report. 

 
24. Certificate of compliance and reconciliation of Samagra Shiksha’s amounts. In 
addition to the above, the MOE shall also submit to ADB annually a certificate of compliance, 
confirming that eligible expenditure incurred during the FY, and cumulative from commencement 
of the program to date exceed total disbursements from ADB. Such certificate shall be 
accompanied by a consolidated breakdown of ineligible expenditure, if any, by cost category. 
MOE will also prepare a statement summarizing the amounts disbursed to the SIS and 
expenditures reported in the APFSs which should be reconciled with the amounts recorded in 
ADB’s loan financial information system. 
 
25. Timeline for submission of audited program financial statements and certificate of 
compliance to ADB. The audits should be carried out annually. The five states APFS together 
with the certificate of compliance and reconciliation will be submitted to ADB within 9 months of 
the end of each FY. The APFS will be disclosed on the ADB website.  
 
26. General. The auditor will be given access to all program-related books, records, reports 
and information required for the purposes of conducting the audit. The information made available 
to the auditors will include the relevant loan agreement, PAP, the program implementation 
document, program fiduciary assessment, and minutes of the loan negotiations.  
 
27. ADB reserves the right to require an addition in the auditor(s), if the audits required are 
not conducted in a manner satisfactory to ADB, or if the audits are substantially delayed. In case 
an external auditor needs to be commissioned for a supplementary audit, the auditor should be 
given access to all legal documents, correspondences, and any other information associated with 
the commission and deemed necessary by the auditor.  
 
28. Public disclosure. Public disclosure of the program financial statements, including the 
audit report on the program financial statements, will be guided by ADB’s Access to Information 
Policy 2018.7 After review, ADB will disclose the program financial statements for the program 
and the opinion of the auditors on the financial statements within 30 days upon date of their receipt 
by posting them on ADB’s website. The audit management letters contain proprietary information 
intended solely for the needs of the management and will not be disclosed.  

 
 
7 ADB. 2018. Access to Information Policy. Manila. 

https://www.adb.org/documents/access-information-policy
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Note: This is a statement of audit needs for the RBL program and does not in any way intend 
to limit the scope of the statutory audit.8 
  

 
 
8 This statement of audit needs was explained to the MOE during the fact-finding mission of the proposed program, 

and a copy shall be shared by the MOE with each state auditor through the SIS prior to commencement of the audit. 
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Attachment: Indicative Templates for Auditors’ Opinion on Program Financial Statements 
of each of the 5 States  
 
[C&AG LOGO]  
COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT  
Comptroller and Auditor General of India 
[Appropriate Addressee]  
 
Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General on the Program Financial Statements of the 
Government Program for Samagra Shiksha supported by the Asian Development Bank, 
Accelerating State Education Program to Improve Results, Results Based Lending (Loan 
No...) for the Year Ended 31 March 20XX– Five State Implementing Societies (SIS) 
 
The audit of the financial statements of the government program for Samagra Shiksha 
supported by the Asian Development Bank (ADB), Accelerating State Education Program 
to Improve Results, Results Based Lending (Loan No...) (“The RBL Program”) for the year 
ended 31 March 20XX as consolidated from the Central Appropriation Accounts of the State 
Implementing Society of ____ [GIVE THE NAMES AND NUMBERS OF THE STATE LEVEL 
APPROPRIATION ACCOUNTS] that comprise the statement of financial position, statement of 
financial performance; and statement of cash flow and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and related explanatory notes as at 31 March 20XX, was carried out under my direction 
in pursuance of provisions in Article xxx of the Constitution of India read in conjunction with 
provisions in the Loan agreement No………. dated………..entered into between the Government 
of India and ADB.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with India’s Accounting Standards and the Manual of Financial 
Management and Procurement for Scheme of Samagra Shiksha, and for internal control 
processes and procedures to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Program’s financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with India’s Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with India’s Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also: 
 

(i) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
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a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

(ii) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the program’s internal control.  

(iii) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management.  

(iv) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

(v) I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that I identify during my audit.  

 
Opinion  
 
In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements [give a true and fair view of the financial 
position OR give a true and fair view subject to my observations in listed below or do not give a 
true and fair view] of the Program as at 31 March 20XX, and of its financial performance or 
statement of expenditure (as the case may be) and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with India Accounting Standards and Manual of Financial Management and 
Procurement for Scheme of Samagra Shiksha.  
 
[Alternatively: ―Except for the matters given in paras x, in our opinion ….]  
 
Basis for Opinion 
  
I conducted my audit in accordance with India’s Auditing Standards. My responsibilities, under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of my report. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.  
 
Report on Other Requirements of the Donor Agency  
 
As required by the Asian Development Bank, I state the following:  
 

(i) The basis of opinion and scope and limitations of the audit are as stated above.  
(ii) In my opinion the following covenants have been complied with [list financial 

covenants individually here], and the following covenants have not been complied 
with [list financial covenants individually here]  

(iii) In my opinion, the total ADB disbursement of [insert the amount] to date, including 
[Insert the amount]. during this reporting period, DOES NOT/DOES exceed the 
aggregate program expenditure of [Insert the amount] to date, including [Insert the 
amount] during this reporting period, excluding procurement of goods, works, and 
services from non-member countries of ADB.  

 
 
SIGNATURE: Auditor 
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APPENDIX 6: ADB GUIDELINES TO PREVENT OR MITIGATE FRAUD, CORRUPTION, AND 
OTHER PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES IN RESULTS-BASED LENDING FOR PROGRAMS 

 
A. Purpose and General Principles 
 
1. The developing member country (DMC) is responsible for the implementation of programs 
supported by results-based lending (RBL). The Asian Development Bank (ADB) has a fiduciary 
responsibility to ensure that its loans and other forms of financing used only for the purposes for 
which they were granted, in accordance with the Agreement Establishing the Asian Development 
Bank (the Charter).1 To uphold that obligation, ADB presents these guidelines to prevent or 
mitigate fraud, corruption, and other prohibited activities (referred to as ‘integrity violations’ in 
ADB’s Integrity Principles and Guidelines, 2015 as amended from time to time, or ‘IPG’ for brevity) 
in RBL operations financed in whole or in part by ADB. These guidelines build upon the legal 
obligations presented in the loan agreement and apply to operations funded by the RBL (the 
programs).2 
 
2. These guidelines do not limit any other rights, remedies, or obligations of ADB or the DMC 
under the loan agreement or any other agreement to which the ADB and the DMC are both 
parties.  
 
3. All persons and entities participating in the programs are bound by ADB’s Anticorruption 
Policy (1998, as amended to date) and the IPG, and as such must observe the highest ethical 
standards; take all appropriate measures to prevent or mitigate fraud, corruption, and other 
integrity violations; and refrain from engaging in such actions in connection with the programs. 
 
B. Definitions 
 
4. These guidelines address the following practices as defined by ADB:  
 

(i) A “corrupt practice” is the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting, directly or 
indirectly, anything of value to influence improperly the actions of another party. 

(ii) A “fraudulent practice” is any act or omission, including a misrepresentation, that 
knowingly or recklessly misleads, or attempts to mislead, a party to obtain a 
financial or other benefit, or to avoid an obligation. 

(iii) A “collusive practice” is an arrangement between two or more parties designed to 
achieve an improper purpose, including influencing improperly the actions of 
another party. 

(iv) A “coercive practice” is impairing or harming, or threatening to impair or harm, 
directly or indirectly, any party or the property of the party to influence improperly 
the actions of a party. 

 
5. In addition, ADB may investigate conflicts of interest and abuse, as defined below, as well 
as other integrity violations enumerated and defined in the IPG: 
 

(i) A “conflict of interest” is a situation in which a party has interests that could 
improperly influence a party’s performance of official duties or responsibilities, 

 
 
1 Asian Development Bank (ADB). 1966. Agreement Establishing the Asian Development Bank. Manila. 
2 ADB may support a part (or a slice) of a government program or the entire government program through RBL. The 

program or the part that is supported by the RBL is referred to as the RBL program.  

https://www.adb.org/documents/agreement-establishing-asian-development-bank-adb-charter
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contractual obligations, or compliance with applicable laws and regulations. To the 
extent that conflicts of interest may provide an unfair competitive advantage or 
compromise the integrity of financial and governance systems, conflicted persons 
and entities must be excluded from participating in relevant program activities.  

(ii) “Abuse” is theft, waste or improper use of assets related to ADB-related activity, 
either committed intentionally or through reckless disregard. 

 
C. Developing Member Country’s Actions to Prevent Fraud, Corruption, and Other 

Integrity Violations in Results-Based Lending for Programs 
 
6. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the DMC and ADB, the DMC will take timely and 
appropriate measures to: 
 

(i) ensure that the program is carried out in accordance with these guidelines; 
(ii) avoid conflicts of interest in the program; 
(iii) prevent fraud, corruption, and other integrity violations from occurring in the 

program, including adopting, implementing, and enforcing appropriate fiduciary 
and administrative practices and institutional arrangements to ensure that the 
proceeds of the loan are used only for the purposes for which the loan was granted;  

(iv) promptly inform ADB of allegations of fraud, corruption, and other integrity 
violations found or alleged related to a program;   

(v) investigate allegations of fraud, corruption, and other integrity violations and report 
preliminary and final findings of investigations to ADB; 

(vi) respond to, mitigate, and remedy fraud, corruption, or other integrity violations that 
are found to have occurred in a program and prevent its occurrence; 

(vii) cooperate fully with ADB in any ADB investigation into allegations of fraud, 
corruption, and other integrity violations related to the program, and take all 
appropriate measures to ensure the full cooperation of relevant persons and 
entities subject to the DMC’s jurisdiction in such investigation, including, in each 
case, allowing ADB to meet with relevant persons and to inspect all of their relevant 
accounts, records and other documents and have them audited by or on behalf of 
ADB; and 

(viii) ensure that persons or entities sanctioned or temporarily suspended by ADB do 
not participate in RBL programs in violation of their sanction or temporary 
suspension. 

 
D. ADB’s Actions to Prevent Fraud, Corruption, and Other Integrity Violations in 

Results-Based Lending for Programs  
 
7.  Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the DMC and ADB, ADB will: 
 

(i) inform the DMC of credible and material allegations of fraud, corruption, and other 
integrity violations related to a program, consistent with ADB’s policies and 
procedures; 

(ii) have the right to investigate allegations, in accordance with the IPG, independently 
or in collaboration with the DMC, including, in each case, meeting with relevant 
persons, and inspecting all of their relevant accounts, records and other 
documents and having them audited by or on behalf of ADB; 

(iii) inform the DMC of the outcome of any investigation, consistent with ADB policies 
and procedures; 

(iv) have the right to impose sanction and other remedial action on any individual or 
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entity for engaging in practices defined above, or to temporarily suspend any 
individual or entity during the course of an investigation, in accordance with ADB’s 
policies and procedures; sanctions and temporary suspensions may result in that 
party’s exclusion from participating in an RBL-financed activity or any other ADB-
related activity indefinitely or for a stated period of time;3 

(v) assess ways to respond pursuant to the Anticorruption Policy and other ADB 
policies and procedures, and may refer the case to appropriate authorities of a 
concerned DMC, if investigative findings indicate that a government official has 
engaged in fraud, corruption, and other integrity violations related to a program; 
and 

(vi) recognize sanctions determined by other multilateral development banks in 
accordance with the Agreement for Mutual Enforcement of Debarment Decisions. 

 
 

 
 
3 Pursuant to ADB’s Integrity Principles and Guidelines (2015, as amended from time to time), if a sanctioned party 

has an ongoing contract financed by ADB, the debarment or temporary suspension may not affect existing 
contractual obligations. However, any contract variation must be endorsed by OAI to ensure that a contract variation 
involving a sanctioned or temporarily suspended party is not an attempt to circumvent the sanction.  



130 Appendix 7  

 
 

 

APPENDIX 7: SOCIAL SCREENING CHECKLIST 
 

Name of the exemplar school   
Location (village, district, state) of the activity or 
component 

 

Geo-coordinates of the proposed location (photographs 
of the location may be attached) 

 

Date of assessment  
 

 
Attributes 

 
Yes 

 
No 

 
Remarks, if any 

A. Involuntary Resettlement     
1. Will there be land acquisition? If yes, ownership 

and quantum of land required. 
   

2. Will the proposed activities cause temporary or 
permanent, full or partial, and/or physical or 
economic displacement of people? 

   

3. Will the program activities cause any loss of 
livelihood? 

   

4. Will the program activities cause impacts on 
people without title to land (squatters and/or 
encroachers)? 

   

5. Will people lose access to natural resources, 
community facilities, and services?  

   

6. Will access to land and resources owned 
communally or by the state be restricted? 

   

B. Indigenous Peoples     
1. Are there sociocultural groups present in project 

areas that may be considered as scheduled 
tribes?  

   

2. Will the program activity in an area (land or 
territory), occupied, owned, or used by indigenous 
peoples, and/or claimed as an ancestral domain? 

   

    
Note: The assessment team may attach additional information, as necessary. 
Source: Asian Development Bank 
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